
For the best experience, open this PDF portfolio in
Acrobat 9 or Adobe Reader 9, or later.

Get Adobe Reader Now!

http://www.adobe.com/go/reader




                                                                           AGENDA BOOK            


Albuquerque, NM


 NATIONAL FISH HABITAT PARTNERSHIP
         Board Meeting - October 19-20, 2011
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service








National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
Albuquerque, NM 


October 19-20, 2011 
Board Book Table of Contents – V.2. 


 
Draft Agenda………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 


Tab 1a 


July Board Meeting draft minutes………………………………………………………………………… 
 


Tab 1b 


New Board Member Guide…………………………………………………………………………………… 
 


Tab 1c 


New Board Member Budget Information……………………………………………………………. Tab 1c-
Supplemental 


Non-Federal Match Summary………………………………………………………………………………. Tab 1d 
 


Proposed 2012 Board Priorities …………………………………………………………………………… 
 


Tab 2 


Proposed 2012 Board Priorities Attachment 1 …………………………………………………… Tab 2-Supplemental 
 


Federal Funding Discussion Background Materials……………………………………………….. 
 


Tab 3 


Outside Funding Opportunities……………………………………………………………………………. 
 


Tab 4 


Economic Messages …………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 


Tab 5 


Western Native Trout Initiatiave Presentation……………………………………………………… 
 


Tab 6 


Communications Strategy for 2012……………………………………………………………………… 
 


Tab 7 


Funding Allocation Framework…………………………………………………………………………….. 
 


Tab 8 


FHP Performance Evaluation Process Proposal……………………………………………………. 
 


Tab 9a 


Proposal for Developing Effectiveness Measures…………………………………………………. 
 


Tab 9b 


Desert Fish Habitat Partnership Presentation………………………………………………………. 
 


Tab 10 


Field Trip Draft Itinerary……………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 


Tab 11a 


Field Trip Site Description and Background………………………………………………………….. 
 


Tab 11b 


Proposed Science and Data Committee Structure Changes………………………………….. 
 


Addendum A 


Strategy to Complete 2015 Assessment……………………………………………………………….. 
 


Addendum B 


Proposed Action Plan Objectives………………………………………………………………………….. 
 


Addendum C 


Guidance on Use of Name and Logo……………………………………………………………………. 
 


Addendum D 







Board Member Contact Information…………………………………………………………………… Appendix 1 
 


Board Members…………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 


Appendix 2 


Meeting Area Map……………………………………………………………………………………………….. Appendix 3 
 


National Fish Habitat Action Plan…………………………………………………………………………. 
 


Appendix 4 


 








National Fish Habitat Board Meeting  
October 19-20, 2011  


Addendum A 
 


DRAFT SCIENCE AND DATA COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE AND OPERATION 


 


PAGE 1 OF 2 DRAFT FOR BOARD REVIEW    OCTOBER 2011 
 


NATIONAL SCIENCE AND DATA COMMITTEE PURPOSE:  
Provide scientific and data management expertise and oversight to advance the goals and 
objectives of the National Fish Habitat Board (Board) in a scientifically sound and strategic manner. 


 
COMMITTEE MEMBER DUTIES AND ROLES 


1. Provide advice to the Board on setting future science and data priorities. 
2. Develop strategies for executing and implementing Board science and data priorities 
3. Oversee, coordinate, and review the development of the national fish habitat assessment 


including, but not limited to, assisting the assessment teams with relevant contacts, data 
acquisition, and expertise as needed. 


4. Provide expert advice and support on habitat and data issues to the Board, National 
Assessment Teams, and Fish Habitat Partnerships (FHP).  Duties may include development 
and review of: 


a. Scientific and data analysis methods 
b. Data transfer methods, standards, and policies 


5. Review FHP strategic plans along with their associated science and data work plans as 
requested by and for the Board 


a. Examine FHP science and data work for the 5 year FHP Board review 
b. Review new FHP applications (specifically the strategic plan) concerning proposed 


science and data efforts for the Board 
6. Each member will have liaison opportunities between the National Science and Data 


Committee and FHPs to facilitate information exchange and communication of science and 
data efforts between groups 


7. Chair ad hoc workgroups of committee members and non-members to address specific 
tasks as needed. 


8. Assist the Committee’s co-chairs in developing needed materials for annual updates to the 
Board on accomplishments and progress towards meeting significant science and data 
objectives. 


 
COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP 


1. Total committee size will be 20 individuals 
a. 10 members having greater science expertise 
b. 10 members having greater data management expertise 


2. Committee appointments will be for two years.  Terms of individual committee members 
will be reviewed every 2 years by the Committee co-chairs to ensure member’s expertise 
aligns with the National Science and Data Committee’s tasks assigned by the Board to 
implement the Science and Data Strategy.   Members may be reappointed if the committee 
member has the desire, expertise, and ability to continue participation in the Committee’s 
work. 







National Fish Habitat Board Meeting  
October 19-20, 2011  


Addendum A 
 


DRAFT SCIENCE AND DATA COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE AND OPERATION 


 


PAGE 2 OF 2 DRAFT FOR BOARD REVIEW    OCTOBER 2011 
 


3. The committee will have representatives with expertise in varied habitats and diverse 
science and data experience/backgrounds to ensure expert opinion is available for diverse 
areas of the United States from the mountains to the continental shelf. 


4. The committee will make every effort to have 8 representatives from the FHPs to include 
two from each Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies’ regional associations.   


 
COMMITTEE CO-CHAIRS 


1. The committee will be co-chaired by two individuals.  One chair will have more of an 
emphasis on science and the other chair will have more of an emphasis on data. At 
minimum, one of the co-chairs will be from a state fisheries agency. 


2. Committee co-chair appointments will be selected by the Board Chair.  Co-chair 
appointments will be evaluated by the Board Chair every four years.  Terms between two 
co-chairs will be staggered to ensure continuity. 


3. Co-chairs are a part of the Board staff and are expected to attend all Board and Board staff 
meetings.  


4. Both co-chairs will share in all of the tasks required to properly operate the Science and 
Data Committee including providing, at minimum, annual updates to the Board on 
accomplishments and progress towards meeting significant science and data objectives. 


 
MEETINGS AND DECISIONS 


1. The Science and Data Committee will strive to meet face-to-face at least annually as a 
group. 


2. The committee will conduct at minimum bi-monthly conference calls to conduct business. 
3. The committee will routinely hold a conference call or meeting scheduled at minimum 1 


month prior to each Board meeting.  Timing and frequency will provide the committee 
opportunity to assist with development and review of informational and decisional 
materials presented to the Board. 


4. For effective transparency and communication, items requiring Science and Data 
Committee review, comment, and decision will be documented.   


a. Documentation will include: background on the issue; decision options; decision-
making process; and final decision.   


 








National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Addendum B 
 


National Fish Habitat Assessment Strategy Development Process 
 


To more effectively develop the National Fish Habitat Assessment Strategy (Strategy), 
we propose using an open process that provides ample opportunity for Science and Data 
Committee member, Board member, Fish Habitat Partnerships, and interested public 
input.  Our expected completion date for a Final Draft of the Strategy is March 1, 2012 
using the following process and timeline: 


 
1. Complete initial working draft of the Strategy for initial Science and Data 


Committee review – Completed and attached 
2. Revise draft Strategy based on initial Science and Data Committee review and 


input by October 28, 2011 and send to Committee for review and comment by 
October 31, 2011. 


3. Complete additional round of Committee review on revised draft Strategy by 
December 1, 2011. 


4. Incorporate Science and Data Committee comments and edits into a revised draft 
Strategy by January 1, 2012 and make available for broader review on that date. 


5. Request Board member, Fish Habitat Partnership and interested public review and 
comment on revised draft Strategy on January 1, 2012. 


a. Setup public email box to receive comments. 
6. Close public comment period on revised draft Strategy on January 31, 2012. 
7. Review, reconcile and incorporate all comments, and finalize draft Strategy for 


Board approval by March 1, 2012. 







National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Addendum B 
 


Initial Working Draft of the National Fish Habitat Assessment Strategy for 
2011-2020 


 
Overall Assessment Goal: To have measureable process related data and true habitat 
condition scores for all habitats from the headwater streams and lakes to the continental 
shelf.   
 
Background: Fish habitat is controlled by six key processes (Hydrology, Connectivity, 
Water Quality, Material Recruitment, Geomorphology, and Energy Flow) that are 
defined and discussed in the Science and Data Framework Document.  Focusing the 
National Fish Habitat Assessment on measuring process condition will address the 
fundamental issues that concern the quality of aquatic habitat instead of continuing the 
practice of fixing degradation symptoms.  Thus, it is critical that the National Fish 
Habitat Assessment measure processes which are directly related to fish habitat quality, 
maintenance, and development at a scale that can be directly affected by Fish Habitat 
Partnerships’ actions. 
 
The 2010 National Fish Habitat Assessment was a successful first attempt at examining 
fish habitat quality and the level of landscape stress on aquatic habitats on a truly national 
scale.  It was successful in developing the NFH+ geospatial framework for Lower 48 
states and Hawaii along with analytical approaches for condition assessment.  The 2010 
Assessment developed initial stressor analyses for rivers and watersheds in the lower 48 
states, inland waters of Alaska and Hawaii, and for estuaries in the lower 48 states and 
southeastern Alaska.  The 2010 Assessment was limited to national landscape level 
datasets that were consistently measured across the landscape.  The analysis of these 
landscape variables reflect the effects these broad scale variables have on processes but 
do not provide a direct mechanism to affect change on them by operating at greater 
geographic and logical scale.   
 
The 2010 Assessment was the correct starting place for any national assessment as it 
gathered all of the best existing information on large scale factors that influence 
components of fish habitat.  More can and should be done to refine this initial habitat 
analysis to make it the best possible foundation analysis.  This refinement provides key 
foundation data and will help transition the Assessment to the development of a true 
habitat condition assessment.  The next generation of habitat condition assessment needs 
to measure and analyze actual process variables, some are listed in the Science and Data 
Framework Document, at a scale that can be directly affected by National Fish Habitat 
Board and Fish Habitat Partnership actions.  To achieve this, we propose the following 
steps be implemented: 
 
Strategy Summary 
 


1. By 2014, refine 2010 Assessment to include: incorporation of Fish Habitat 
Partnership and other landscape and fisheries data; update current data layers and 







National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Addendum B 
 


incorporate key new information; develop inland-coastal connection; and add 
detailed stressor assessments for missing habitat components. 


2. By 2016, incorporate initial process level variables into the Assessment to 
include:  incorporation of selected detailed Fish Habitat Partnership and other 
process level and fisheries data; identification and incorporation of initial process 
variable datasets; and development of initial predictive relationships between fish 
and habitat quality variables. 


3. By 2021, refine 2016 Assessment to include: refined systems to incorporate 
detailed process and fisheries data; incorporation of all possible process variable 
datasets; improved predictive relationships between fish and habitat quality 
variables. 


 
Additional detail on the anticipated assessment strategy steps are contained in Appendix 
1. 







National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Addendum B 
 
Appendix 1 – Initial Working Draft of the Detailed Assessment Strategy Steps 
 


1. 2010 Assessment Refinement  
a. Key Tasks 


i. Develop methodology and protocols to incorporate Fish Habitat 
Partnership, other partners, and other publically available 
landscape and fisheries data into the Assessment Data System. 


ii. Update all current data layers with new data and improve fish 
iii. Add new information on fish communities, hydrology, 


connectivity, temperature, water quality, and energy development 
for assessment components. 


iv. Add detailed stressor assessments for Great Lakes, estuaries, 
inshore coastal, lakes, reservoirs, Alaska (if improved spatial and 
fish data become available), and Hawaii. 


v. Continue to develop the inland-estuary habitat scoring connection. 
b. Timeline – Complete tasks by 2014. 


2. Initial Process Analysis 
a. Key Tasks 


i. Develop methodology and protocols to incorporate detailed Fish 
Habitat Partnership, other partners, and other publically available 
process and fisheries data into the Assessment Data System. 


ii. Identify at best variables from each process to fully develop as 
habitat quality indicators to include determining the appropriate 
scale for the selected process variables. 


iii. Develop fish community response relationships to selected fish 
habitat quality variables.  


iv. Develop fish habitat quality variable relationships to landscape 
level variables to allow for scoring transfer between 2010 and 
future assessments. 


b. Timeline – Complete tasks by 2016. 
3. 2020 Assessment 


a. Key Tasks 
i. Continue to update and refine process and fisheries data from all 


sources into the Assessment Data System to include developing 
automated mechanisms to accomplish this task. 


ii. Continue updating landscape level datasets as new data is 
available. 


iii. Refine initial and incorporate as many process level variables into 
the assessment. 


iv. Refine fish community response relationships to process level 
variables. 


v. Refine fish habitat quality variable relationships to landscape level 
variables. 


b. Timeline – Complete tasks by 2021. 
 







National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Addendum B 
 
 
   
 








National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Addendum C 
 


   


1 


 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Memo to:  National Fish Habitat Board 
From:   Action Plan Revision Workgroup 
Subject:  Approval of Objectives for Revised Action Plan 
Date:   October 12, 2011 
 
 
The attached document contains the latest work of the Action Plan Revision Workgroup.  As 
you know, we have been tasked with revising the National Fish Habitat Action Plan under 
guidelines the board approved last April and based on additional discussions at the July board 
meeting. 
 
At the board meeting on October 19th, we will seek your approval of the objectives laid out in 
the following document.  As we have shared with you in the past, we are attempting to tell a 
story with these objectives.  The storyline is essentially: 


Let’s develop consensus conservation priorities, focus our efforts on improving habitat 
in those priority areas over the next five years, and build the tools necessary to support 
those conservation activities.  The tools include a community of support for our work; 
improved science and economics to better inform our work; and more outreach to 
encourage others to pursue fisheries habitat conservation. 


 
The attached document also contains our initial thoughts on implementation strategies (the 
“actions” in the Action Plan) that will help us meet these new objectives.  We continue to work 
on the implementation strategies and hope to have these completed within the next few 
weeks.  We will be working to refine the implementation strategies further and formatting 
them consistently for each of the five objectives. 
 
We look forward to speaking with you about our work at the board meeting. 
 
 
 
  







National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Addendum C 
 


   


2 


 


 


 
 
 
 


Draft Objectives and Implementation Strategies for the 
Revised National Fish Habitat Action Plan 


October 2011 
 
 
Objective 1.    Establish a  consensus set of National Fish Habitat Priorities based on the input 
of approved Fish Habitat Partnerships and informed by the nationwide assessment of human 
effects on fish habitat.    


Objective 2.     Measurably improve ecological condition, restore natural processes or 
significantly reduce threats to all areas identified within National Fish Habitat Priorities 
within 5 years. 


Objective 3.     Broaden the community of support for fish habitat conservation by increasing 
fishing opportunities, fostering the participation of young people and local communities in 
conservation activities, and raising public awareness of the role healthy fish habitats play in 
the quality of life and economic well-being of local communities. 


Objective 4.     Strengthen the role of science and socio-economic analysis in conservation by 
filling gaps in the National Fish Habitat Assessment and its associated database and 
incorporating socio-economic data for improved understanding of the benefits of fish habitat 
conservation. 


Objective 5.     Identify and communicate to the public and conservation partners successful 
voluntary, non-regulatory approaches to fish habitat conservation.  


  







National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Addendum C 
 


   


3 


 


Implementation Strategies 
 


Objective 1.    Establish a consensus set of National Fish Habitat Priorities based on the input 
of approved Fish Habitat Partnerships and informed by the nationwide assessment of human 
effects on fish habitat.    


• By 2012, the Board will develop and approve a consensus list of 50 National Fish Habitat 
Priorities with the input of approved Fish Habitat Partnerships.  A majority of these 
priorities will address conserving intact fish habitat or improving fish habitat that is 
slightly to moderately degraded, as informed by the National Fish Habitat Assessment. 


 
Proposed tasks and timeline 
 


1. By April 2012, the Board  will develop a process for selecting 50 consensus National Fish 
Habitat Priorities with Fish Habitat Partnership input. 


2. By August 2012, each Fish Habitat Partnership will provide the Board their top ten fish 
habitat priorities along with information on why they were selected, how the National 
Fish Habitat Assessment informed their selection, associated geographic information, 
and what processes (hydrology, connectivity, material transport, water quality, 
geomorphology and living habitat or energy flow) will be conserved or improved. 


3. By October 2012, the Board will develop and approve a consensus list of National Fish 
Habitat priorities.   


 


Objective 2.     Measurably improve ecological condition, restore natural processes or reduce 
threats within all  National Fish Habitat Priorities within 5 years. 


• By 2012, the Board will develop and implement measurement metrics and data capture 
protocols for projects addressing each National Fish Habitat Priority with the input of 
approved Fish Habitat Partnerships. 


• By 2017, the Board will report on success of measurably improving the 50 consensus 
National Fish Habitat Priorities. 


 


Proposed tasks and timeline 


1. By May 2012, all 50 consensus National Fish Habitat Priorities will be spatially identified.  
For each priority, the amount of identified habitat by type and condition will be 
identified, i.e. acres for lakes and estuaries and miles for streams, and what processes 
are in need to be conserved or improved will be detailed. 







National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Addendum C 
 


   


4 


 


2. By August 2012, each Fish Habitat Partnership will develop and submit to the Board a 
set of appropriate metrics to measure success for projects conserving intact or 
improving processes on the selected National Fish Habitat Priorities.   Metrics will be 
sent to the Science and Data Committee for review for the Board. 


3. By August 2012, each Fish Habitat Partnership will coordinate with the Science and Data 
Committee to ensure that work on all projects on National Fish Habitat Priority systems 
are reported to the Board and recorded in the projects database.  


4. By October 2012, the Board will approve the measurement metrics and data capture 
strategies for each priority. 


5. By January 2013, the Board will develop a reporting format for use by the Fish Habitat 
Partnerships in showing success on achieving the objective.  


6. By the end of 2017, each Fish Habitat Partnership will determine if and report to the 
Board whether the targeted habitats in their partnership have seen measureable 
improvements in process-related variables for slightly or moderately degraded habitats, 
or if threats to intact habitats have been reduced.  Determination of success will be 
scaled appropriately to the type of habitat and the reports will be reviewed by the 
Science and Data Committee for the Board. 


 


Objective 3.     Broaden the community of support for fish habitat conservation by increasing 
fishing opportunities, fostering the participation of young people and local communities in 
conservation activities, and raising public awareness of the role healthy fish habitats play in 
the quality of life and economic well-being of local communities. 


• Increase by 50% the number of governmental agencies, municipalities, local community 
groups, youth organizations, and private sector partners engaged in National Fish Habitat 
Partnership projects.  Baseline is  the number of entities engaged between 2006 and 2010. 


• Increase news media citations about fish habitat conservation by 50% through outreach 
activities of  the Board and Fish Habitat Partnerships.  Baseline is news media citations in 
2006-2010. 


• By 2013, in all outreach materials and efforts by the Board and Fish Habitat Partnerships, 
promote the economic values associated with healthy fish habitat as a means to gain broad 
support for fish habitat conservation. 


• By 2014, publish, either in NFHP brochures/press releases or in popular media outlets, a 
minimum of 10 case studies annually highlighting increased fishing opportunities created by 
NFHP projects and/or economic and quality of life benefits of healthy aquatic habitats. 


 
 







National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Addendum C 
 


   


5 


 


Objective 4.     Strengthen the role of science and socio-economic analysis in conservation by 
filling gaps in the National Fish Habitat Assessment and its associated database and 
incorporating socio-economic data for improved understanding of the benefits of fish habitat 
conservation. 


Decision Support Tool 


1. By 2015, develop a conceptual decision support tool that incorporates both fish habitat 
condition or stress level and socio-economic data in a manner that supports the Board 
and Fish Habitat Partnership planning and outcome reporting purposes. 


Socio-economic strategies 


1. Require all proposed projects to include basic social and economic data that will 
improve the generation of economic estimates used for communication and advocacy.  
Develop the data support system to effectively store and output these data. 


2. Work with industry and appropriate government agencies to gain access to existing 
sportfishing and commercial fishing catch and effort information on the best available 
spatial scale that is linked to appropriate economic valuation data and incorporated into 
a decision support tool. 


3. Create an economic database as an add-on to existing assessment tools or through a 
parallel process, with data elements  suitable for use in a decision support tool. 


4. Integrate the economic database into a decision support tool that measures monetary 
effectiveness for each proposed fish habitat conservation project and that could be used 
for prioritizing future projects. 


 
Overall Science and Data strategies 
 


1. By 2015, complete refinement of 2010 Assessment and Data Support System in 
coordination with Fish Habitat Partnerships for incorporation into the 2015 Assessment 


a. Refine current data support system to improve the capture and integration of 
needed assessment data from all potential sources. 


b. Continue to refine the 2010 river assessment by improving connectivity, 
hydrology, land use, and water quality metrics to allow for improved fish-habitat 
response analysis.   Incorporate updated data layers, protected lands data, and 
mining/energy extraction information. 


c. Integrate fisheries, shellfish, and invertebrate (where applicable) data into 
estuarine, inland Hawaii, and inland Alaska assessments. 







National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Addendum C 
 


   


6 


 


d. Develop improved linkages between inland and estuarine-coastal assessments. 
e. Continue to refine the 2010 estuarine assessment by developing fish/shellfish-


habitat response relationships, incorporating additional process related 
variables, integrating the Southeast Alaska estuarine assessment, completing the 
spatial framework for coastal Alaska, and completing an improved condition 
analysis. 


f. Complete initial lake, reservoir, Hawaii estuarine and coastal, Alaska estuarine, 
and inshore coastal assessments. 


g. Seek the development of improved spatial frameworks, in particular NHD+, for 
inland Alaska to allow future fish habitat condition analysis. 


2. By 2015, develop initial detailed process-related fish habitat assessment for 
incorporation into the 2015 assessment in coordination with Fish Habitat Partnerships 


a. Develop data capture and support system to capture and integrate detailed 
process data from Fish Habitat Partnerships, other direct NFHP partners, and 
from existing scientific literature. 


b. Identify a minimum of two key variables for each process that are measured in a 
consistent manner to be incorporated at an appropriate scale for fish habitat 
condition analysis. 


c. Develop methodology and fish/shellfish/invertebrate-habitat response 
relationships to allow for the output of condition analyses for selected process 
variables at an appropriate scale. 


3. Continue refinement of data display and report system to support Board, Fish Habitat 
Partnership, and other external partners’ decisions. 


 


Objective 5.     Identify and communicate to the public and conservation partners successful 
voluntary, non-regulatory approaches to fish habitat conservation.  


Proposed tasks and timeline 


• Continue to highlight the annual 10 Waters to Watch to demonstrate effective 
voluntary, non-regulatory approaches to conservation. 


• By 2015, create a web-based ‘tool-kit’ of best practices to achieve fish habitat 
conservation using existing resources and organized by threat/resource need (e.g. 
sedimentation, nutrients, flow, protection, bank stabilization, etc.) to the fishhabitat.org 
website.   







National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Addendum C 
 


   


7 


 


a. This ‘tool-kit’ should easily accessible to help people find existing resources that 
already exist rather than creating a new compendium – so the tool-kit would 
provide a way to easily find the information needed. 


• By 2013, establish a learning network among Fish Habitat Partnerships through calls and 
regularly scheduled webinars to promote continuous learning and information exchange 
among NFHP partners. 


• Through news releases, outreach materials, and face-to-face venues, highlight success 
stories where conservation action led to resilient aquatic systems (e.g. floodplains, 
coastal wetlands) that provide vital ecosystem services and economic benefits along 
with healthy fish habitat. 


a. By 2012, with input from Fish Habitat Partnerships, identify 5-10 illustrative 
success stories. 


b. By 2013, with input from the Communications Committee and the Science and 
Data Committee, develop compelling, technically sound descriptions of the 
voluntary, non-regulatory approaches utilized and the benefits achieved. 


c. By 2014, strategically employ this information to enhance knowledge among 
conservation partners and the public. 


 





		Draft Objectives and Implementation Strategies for the

		Revised National Fish Habitat Action Plan

		October 2011






National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Addendum D 


National Fish Habitat Partnership Brand Enhancement and Logo Guidance 


BACKGROUND 
The National Fish Habitat Board approved a change to enhance our brand as The National Fish Habitat 
Partnership at their last Board meeting in July. 


Our brand is reflective of what we are to all audiences, so we want to present a clear picture of our 
identity to policy makers, constituents, volunteers and colleagues in the conservation community.   
 
 Enhancing our brand and raising our profile should be a top priority for the National Fish Habitat 
Partnership. This effort will enhance fundraising opportunities and promote our mission.  The image and 
influence of the National Fish Habitat Partnership brand will clearly communicate our strengths. 


We need to get into the mode of thinking, speaking and writing about “The Partnership”.  Using 
acronyms when addressing programs is second nature in our community and while addressing the 
National Fish Habitat Partnership as “The Partnership” would be preferred, it is beyond expectations to 
think the acronym, “NFHP” (pronounced NFHAP) won’t continue to be used (see Definitions and Usage 
Below).  
  
The foundation for the Partnership is already in place – you!  We are the collective you; you who are 
involved at the partnership level, you who have contributed to fish habitat conservation, and you who 
are interested in the National Fish Habitat Partnership and the future of fish habitat conservation.           


TERMINOLOGY  
The National Fish Habitat Partnership is our overarching organization (Board, Fish Habitat Partnerships 
and Committees) and should be referenced as such.  The term National Fish Habitat Partnership should 
replace the term National Fish Habitat Action Plan within discussion circles moving forward, unless you 
are referencing the physical plan (document).  The definitions and use of other common terms is found 
below.   
 
DEFINITIONS AND USAGE:    


National Fish Habitat Partnership 
The National Fish Habitat Partnership is an organization established to conserve fish habitat nationwide, 
leveraging federal, state and private funding sources to achieve the greatest impact on fish populations 
through priority conservation projects.  The National Fish Habitat Partnership is aimed at growing a 
community of support concerned about our fish populations, the conservation of the fish habitat upon 
which they depend, and the future direction of the quality of our aquatic habitats.    
 
Appropriate shortened term is “The Partnership” 
 
Appropriate acronym is NFHP (still pronounced NFHAP)  
 
(Example) Use in a sentence 
The NFHP is building a community of support for fish Habitat conservation nationwide.   







National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Addendum D 


 
 
Fish Habitat Partnership 
A National Fish Habitat Board approved group of state, federal, local, nonprofit, tribal, Alaskan Native or 
private individuals or entities that implement the National Fish Habitat Action Plan at a regional level.  
Fish habitat conservation projects proposed by these FHPs are eligible for funding as NFHAP projects. 
*The purposes of a Partnership shall be- 


• to coordinate the implementation of the National Fish Habitat Action Plan at a regional level; 
• to identify strategic priorities for fish habitat conservation; 
•  to recommend to the Board fish habitat conservation projects that address a strategic priority 


of the Board; and 
• to develop and carry out fish habitat conservation projects. 


 
*from the National Fish Habitat Conservation Act 
 
Appropriate acronyms are FHP or (plural) FHPs 
 
(Example) Use in a sentence 
The FHPs are the working units of the National Fish Habitat Partnership    
 
Candidate Fish Habitat Partnership 
A partnership that is working toward recognition by the Board to become a recognized Fish Habitat 
Partnership.  Candidate Fish Habitat Partnerships are eligible for coordination and technical assistance 
from the Board.  Fish habitat conservation projects proposed by these Partnerships are eligible for 
funding as NFHAP projects. 
 
Coalition Partner  
A group that is not working toward recognition by the Board as a Fish Habitat Partnership, but that is 
working to achieve the goals of the Action Plan through the conservation of fish habitat.  Coalition 
Partners will share in the coordination and technical assistance provided by the Board.   
 
 
Fish Habitat Conservation Project  
Fish Habitat Conservation Projects are Board approved actions taken for the conservation or 
management of aquatic habitat for fish and other aquatic organisms.  They can include: 


 
1. the conservation of intact or rehabilitation of degraded aquatic habitat; 
2. the provision of technical assistance to states and local communities to facilitate development 


of strategies and priorities for aquatic habitat conservation; 
 
National Fish Habitat Action Plan 
The National Fish Habitat Action Plan is the guiding document upon which the National Fish Habitat 
Partnership was built and through which conservation actions are driven.  The original Action Plan was 
created in 2006 and met all of its critical objectives in 2010.  The Plan is being revised for 2011 and 
beyond.    







National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Addendum D 


 
LOGO USAGE 
The National Fish Habitat Partnership will have two new logos designed for websites use and outreach 
materials.    The primary logo is the horizontal example below and will cover most uses, and is the 
primary visual stamp of the Partnership.  The vertically oriented logo below is secondary and should be 
utilized when necessary, for example when the horizontal logo may not meet your graphic needs.   


 


 


  


 


 
The logo should be used for all Fish Habitat Partnership related websites and outreach materials moving 
forward.  Although sizes of the new logo can vary for usage, the color scheme should remain the same.  
A link to the logos and usage guidance document will be provided on the fishhabitat.org website.      
 
Previously created documents that include the term “National Fish Habitat Action Plan” are not 
expected to be changed and will be viewed as historic institutional documents.  However, static display 
logos on the fishhabitat.org and FHP related websites, where the old logo is displayed should be 
changed to the new logo.  


Displays and other long term use materials with the old logo should be replaced with the new logo as 
soon as possible.    


 


 
   








National Fish Habitat Board Meeting  
October 19-20 2011 draft agenda 


Meeting location:  US Fish and Wildlife Service Southwest Regional Office  
500 Gold Avenue SW, 5th floor Conference Room # 5415 


Albuquerque, NM 87102 
  


Accommodations:  Hotel Andaluz (125 Second Street NW, Albuquerque, NM 87102  
[This meeting will be available by conference call and web-ex. See instructions below] 


 
Wednesday October 19   
8:30 – 8:45 Welcome and Introductions 


 
Kelly Hepler 


8:45- 9:15 Housekeeping 
Desired outcomes: 
• Board action to approve draft agenda and draft 


minutes. 
• Board action to approve New Board Member Guide. 
• Board review of future meeting schedules. 


 


Kelly Hepler (Board  
Chair/AK Dept. of 
Fish and Game) 


Tab 1a 
Tab 1b 
Tab 1c 


9:15-9:45 Proposed Science and Data Committee Structure Changes 
Desired outcome: 
• Informational update of proposed changes to S&D 


Committee structure, role, and membership. 
 


Andrea Ostroff 
(Board Staff -
Science and Data 
Committee Co-
Chair/ USGS) 
 


Addendum A 


9:45-10:15 Strategy to Complete 2015 Assessment 
Desired outcome: 
• Information update of plan to develop a strategy for 


completing the 2015 Assessment. 
 


Gary Whelan (Board 
Staff- Science and 
Data Committee Co-
Chair/MI DNR) 
 


Addendum B 


10:15-10:30 BREAK 
 


  


10:30-11:30 Proposed Action Plan Objectives 
Desired outcome: 
• Board action to approve draft revised Action Plan 


objectives. 
 


Mike Andrews 
(Board 
Member/TNC) 


Addendum C 


11:30-12:00 Proposed 2012 Board Priorities 
• Informational update on draft 2012 Board priorities 


and process for Board discussion. 
 


 


Karen Abrams 
(Board Staff/ NOAA 
Fisheries) 


Tab 2 


12:00-1:30 LUNCH 
 


  


1:30-2:30 Discussion of Federal Funding 
Desired outcome: 
• Informational update.  
 
 
 


Kelly Hepler (Board  
Chair/AK Dept. of 
Fish and Game) 


Tab 3 


2:30-3:00 NFHAP and the Sustainability Movement:   
Desired outcome: 


Joe Starinchak 
(FWS) 


Tab 4 







• Informational report on options and opportunities for 
connecting NFHAP to the sustainability movement. 
 


3:00-3:15 Legislation Update 
Desired outcome: 
• Informational report on the status of the National Fish 


Conservation Act legislation.  
 


Gordon Robertson 
(Board Member/ 
ASA) 


NA 


3:15-3:30 BREAK 
 


  


3:30-3:45 Secretarial Order Update 
Desired outcome: 
• Informational report. 


 


Tom Busiahn (Board 
Staff/FWS) 


NA 


3:45-4:15 Economic messages 
Desired outcome: 
• Informational report on results of enhanced economic 


analysis. 
• Board action to use results for the development of 


communication messages about the economic value of 
NFHAP projects. 
 


Brad Gentner 
(Board Member/ 
CCA) 


Tab 5 


4:15-4:30 Pacific Marine and Estuarine Partnership 
Desired outcome: 
• Informational report.  


 


Lisa DeBruyckere 
(PMEP) 


NA 


4:30-5:00 FHP presentation:  Western Native Trout Initiative and 
Western FHP coordination committee update 
Desired outcome: 


Informational report. 
 


Robin Knox  (WNTI) Tab 6 


Evening social gathering TBD. 
 


 







 
Thursday October 20   
8:30-8:45 FWS Welcome 


 
Benjamin Tuggle 
(Regional Director, 
Southwest Region, 
FWS) 
 


 


8:45-9:15 Communications Strategy for 2012 
Desired outcome: 
• Board action to approve draft 2012 strategy.  


 


Ryan Roberts (Board 
Staff-Communications 
Coordinator) 
 


Tab 7 


9:15-9:45 Guidance on use of use of name and logo 
Desired outcome: 
• Board action to approve draft guidance for Board and 


FHP use of revised name and logo.  
 


Ryan Roberts (Board 
Staff-Communications 
Coordinator) 


Addendum D 


9:45-10:15 Funding Allocation Framework 
Desired outcome: 
• Informational report on results of FHP comments  
• Board action on selecting preferred option. 


Steve Perry (Board 
Vice-Chair/ NH Fish and 
Game Dept) 


Tab 8 


10:15-10:30 BREAK 
 


  


10:30-11:00 FHP performance evaluation process and proposal for 
effectiveness measures 
Desired outcome: 
• Informational update and discussion of proposed 


process for evaluating FHPs using the performance 
measures approved in July 2011. 


• Board action on proposed request to the S&D 
committee to develop effectiveness measures. 


Steve Perry (Board 
Vice-Chair/ NH Fish and 
Game Dept) 


Tab 9a 
Tab 9b 


11:00-11:30 FHP presentation:  Desert Fish Habitat Partnership 
Desired outcome: 
• Informational report 


Kayla Barrett Tab 10 


11:30-11:45 Wrap-up and Field trip directions 
 


Kelly Hepler (Board  
Chair/AK Dept. of Fish 
and Game) 


Tab 11a 
Tab 11b 


12:00 ADJOURN MEETING   
12:15-1:30 LUNCH   
1:30-4:00 Field Trip to Rio Grande Silvery Minnow Sanctuary (depart from FWS building) 


 
     


Conference call and Web-ex instructions: 
Note:  Board members who wish to participate by conference call must get prior approval from the Chair. 


Call in:  866-707-9322 / participant passcode 3163558. 
Go join the online meeting : 
1. Go to 
https://mminsusa.webex.com/mminsusa/e.php?AT=WMI&EventID=95566837&PW=NNjgzNzViZjZl&RT=
MiM0  
2. Enter your name and email address.  
3. Enter the meeting password: habitat  
4. Click "Join Now".  
5. Follow the instructions that appear on your screen. 



https://mminsusa.webex.com/mminsusa/e.php?AT=WMI&EventID=95566837&PW=NNjgzNzViZjZl&RT=MiM0�

https://mminsusa.webex.com/mminsusa/e.php?AT=WMI&EventID=95566837&PW=NNjgzNzViZjZl&RT=MiM0�






 


 
 


National Fish Habitat Board Meeting Summary:  July 26-27, 2011  
Members Present: 


Steve Perry – Vice Chair and Chair 
John Frampton 
Scott Robinson – for John Frampton (Day2) 
Bryan Arroyo for Dan Ashe 
Chris Horton 
Fred Matt 
Thomas Bigford for Eric Schwaab 
Stan Allen for Randy Fisher 
Mike Andrews 
Mike Stone 
Joe Larscheid 
Stan Moberly 
Steve Moyer for Chris Wood 
Brad Gentner 
Gordon Robertson 
Anne Zimmerman (phone) 
Ron Regan (phone) 


 
Members Absent: 


Kelly Hepler 
Krystyna Wolniakowski 
Douglas Boyd 
Bob Mahood 


 
Key Discussion Items: 


Status of Fish Habitat Partnerships 
Driftless Area Restoration Effort Partnership presentation 
Board involvement with Multistate Conservation Grants  
Allocation of 2011 FWS funds 
Presentation on Predicting Aquatic Habitat Condition for 7 Fish Habitat Partnerships 
Science and Data Committee update 
National Fish Habitat Conservation Act legislation 
Economic benefits of NFHAP projects 
National Fish Habitat Partnerships operational costs 
Board engagement on National Ocean Policy 
Board priority setting 
Habitat protection as a component of NFHAP 
Action Plan revision 


 







 


Decisions Made: 
Voted upon 


• Approved agenda and minutes from April 2011 meeting. Motion passed unanimously. 
• Approved use of web-ex and conference call line for future meetings. Motion passed unanimously. 
• Approved change of name and logo from “National Fish Habitat Action Plan” to “National Fish 


Habitat Partnership”. Motion passed unanimously.  Board clarified the importance of messaging this 
change as an enhancement of the existing NFHAP brand rather than as a significant rebranding 
endeavor. 


• Approved proposed “Project Endorsement Template for Fish Habitat Partnerships” on endorsing 
projects that are not funded by NFHAP sources or proposed by FHPs but that address one or more 
of the strategic priorities of a Board-recognized FHP or of the Board itself. Motion passed 
unanimously. Board clarified that this template would serve as guidance and is not required for FHP 
use. 


• Approve test-driving proposed “Fish Habitat Partnership Performance Evaluation Measures” with all 
the FHPs to evaluate how the process and measures work and to have the Criteria Development 
Committee report back the outcomes to the Board. Motion passed unanimously.  Board clarified that 
these measures would be subject to change depending on how well it works and understanding that 
these would serve as a means for completing the 5-year FHP reviews called for in the FHP Policy 
and Guidance document. 


• Approved forwarding both options of the “Draft Framework for Allocating NFHAP Funds” to FHPs for 
review and feedback and final Board decision in October.  Motion passed 10 in favor, 3 opposed.     


• Endorsed draft Secretarial Order (with the inclusion of a missing sentence describing NFHAP as 
science-based, voluntary and non-regulatory) for USDA, NOAA, and FWS to begin interagency 
clearance. Motion passed unanimously.   


• Approved proposed “Context Schema and Timeline for Setting Fish Habitat Board Priorities”. Motion 
passed unanimously. 


• Approved use of revised proposed definition of habitat protection as a working definition: “Protection 
under the Action Plan is voluntary and non-regulatory actions that maintain, or prevent the decline of, 
aquatic habitat and aquatic resources that depend on that habitat.”  This working definition may get 
further refined by Board staff as revision of the Action Plan progresses and further definition of the 
Board’s concerns regarding the negative perceptions by some members of the public about a subset 
of protection approaches. Motion passed unanimously.   


•  Approved broad storyline categories and next steps for Action Plan revision. 
 
Agreed, but not voted upon 


• Board materials will be provided to Board on jump drives.  Paper board books are still available upon 
request. 


• Templates for FHPs to use in developing websites should be made available to FHPs but they 
shouldn’t be required to use them. 


• The Board should consider engaging with AFWA during the development of the MSCG National 
Conservation Needs that are released in March. 


• The Board would like to use the proposed approach used to estimate economic impact of NFHP 
projects for advocating purposes, but recognized that they were on the low side.  The Board would 
like to add variables to the analysis and review again in October. 


Action items: 
• Distribute article addressing peer reviewed support for the National Assessment funded with NFHAP 


funds (Gary Whelan/Karen Abrams) 
• Provide additional data to include in economic analysis for Brad Gentner (Tom Busiahn) 
• Use USB drives, web, and/or other appropriate technology to provide future Board Books 


electronically (Karen Abrams) 







 


Future meetings: 
2011 
October 19-20 – Albuquerque NM 


 
2012 (tentative dates) 
Jan 12 – conference call on budget 
April 17 and 18 – Washington DC to coincide with Casting Call 
Either the week of July 9 or week of July 16 – New Hampshire or Maine? 
October 17-18 – Missouri? 


 
Board approved policy and/or technical documents 


• April 2011 Board meeting summary 
• Guidelines for FHP endorsement of projects 
• FHP Performance Evaluation Measures  
• NFHAP Funding Allocation Framework options 
• NFHAP secretarial order (with missing language added) 
• Proposed Board Priority setting “Context Schema and Timeline” 
• Habitat Protection Definition 
• Action Plan broad storyline categories. 


 
Additional attendees: 


Susan-Marie Stedman, NOAA-HQ and Board staff 
Karen Abrams, NOAA-HQ and Board staff 
Tom Busiahn, FWS-HQ and Board staff 
Ryan Roberts, AFWA and Board Communications Director 
Matt Menashes, AFWA and Board staff 
Gary Whelan, MI DNR, Co-chair, Science and Data Committee 
Andrea Ostroff, USGS, Co-chair, Science and Data Committee 
 
Maureen Gallagher, FWS-Midwest 
Steve Krentz, FWS & Great Plains FHP 
Aaron Woldt, FWS 
Steve Hewitt, Wisconsin DNR 
Cecil Rich, FWS 
Scott Roth, FWS 
Louise Mauldin, FWS & Driftless Area Restoration Effort 
Rob Simmonds, FWS & Ohio River Basin FHP 
Paul Pajak, FWS (phone) 
Jeff Hastings, Trout Unlimited & Driftless Area Restoration Effort 
Don Kirby, WI Waterfowl Association 
Bob Hansis, Grant-Platte/Sugar Pecatonica Basins 
Jeff Boxrucker, Reservoir FHP 
Patrick Rivers, MN DNR & Midwest Glacial Lakes Partnership 
Duke Welter, TU 
Mike Parsley, USGS 
Emily Greene, Atlantic Coast Fish Habitat Partnership 
Amy Unthank, USFS (phone) 
Steven Krentz, FWS & Great Plains FHP (phone) 
Pam Thiel, FWS 
Heidi Keuler, FWS & Fishers and Farmers Partnership 







 


 








 
 


 
 
 


Welcome to the Board 
A Manual for Members of the 


National Fish Habitat Board 
 







P a g e  | 2 
www.fishhabitat.org 


 


Introduction 


Congratulations on your appointment to the National Fish Habitat Board.  The 22-member 


Board was established to promote, oversee and coordinate the National Fish Habitat 


Partnership and implementation of the National Fish Habitat Action Plan (Plan).   You will serve 


alongside top aquatic conservation leaders from across the United States.  The Board includes 


members from federal, state and tribal governments as well as conservation organizations and 


industry.   


 


This Board makes decisions on budgets, approves and guides Fish Habitat Partnerships, 


develops national measures of success and evaluation criteria guidelines for partnerships, and 


reports to Congress, states, and other partners on the status and accomplishments of the 


Partnership.  The Board is supported by staff and committees. 


 


Membership on the Board marks you and your organization as a leader in fish habitat 


conservation, and gives you an opportunity to contribute to the Partnership’s vision of “healthy 


habitats, healthy fish, healthy people, and healthy economies”.  Your work with the Board and 


the Partnership will have an impact on aquatic habitats in our country for generations to come. 


 


This manual provides some background for you in your role as a board member.  Some 


common definitions are included in the appendix. 


 







P a g e  | 3 
www.fishhabitat.org 


 
HISTORY OF THE NATIONAL FISH HABITAT PARTNERSHIP 
Determined to reverse the declines of America's fish habitats, fisheries professionals, state and federal 
agencies, tribes, foundations, conservation and angling groups, businesses and industries joined 
together to create the National Fish Habitat Action Plan (plan).  The idea was to create something similar 
to the effort undertaken for waterfowl and their habitat in the 1980s through the North American 
Waterfowl Management Plan.  Development of the plan began in 2001 when an ad hoc group of 
fisheries interests, led by the Sport Fishing and Boating Partnership Council, explored the concept of 
developing a partnership for fish habitat.  That ad hoc group has grown into the National Fish Habitat 
Partnership (NFHP), the term we use to describe ourselves and which includes all of the stakeholders in 
the effort (see Chart 1: National Fish Habitat Partnership Structure). 
 
The National Fish Habitat Action Plan is built on a set of principles that are integral to its mission and 
goals. The initial plan was endorsed on April 24, 2006 by the Secretaries of Interior and Commerce and 
the President of the Association of Fish & Wildlife Agencies (AFWA).   A revised plan is expected to be 
published in early 2012. 
 
The plan encompasses five important lessons that emerge from America's past efforts to protect and 
restore fish habitat: 


• be strategic rather than merely opportunistic 
• address the causes of and processes behind fish habitat decline, rather than the symptoms 
• provide increased and sustained investment to allow for long-term success 
• monitor and be accountable for scientifically sound and measurable results 
• share information and knowledge at all levels from local communities to Congress. 


The plan works at federal, state, tribal and local levels to target new and existing funding and technical 
resources for fish habitat projects.   
 
Some of the key concepts in the plan include: 


1. Science based on a landscape scale 
The plan encourages use of existing and emerging science-based tools to target priority areas 
and implement needed projects, address causative factors and use best practices. Project 
outcomes will be monitored and evaluated. 


2. Non-regulatory 
The plan funds and supports projects that are developed voluntarily by willing partners and 
stakeholders. These voluntary projects will supplement the existing foundation of regulatory 
programs that protect aquatic habitats from pollution and degradation.  


3. Sustained and accountable 
The plan recognizes the need to support regional fish habitat initiatives on a long term, 
sustained basis. It also understands the need to evaluate and report each project's performance 
and demonstrate overall results to Congress, partners and the general public. 


The plan offers an unprecedented opportunity to meet the challenges of protecting, restoring and 
enhancing aquatic habitats on a national scale. The plan's vision of healthy habitats, healthy fish, healthy 
people and healthy economies will be achieved through cooperation, investment and stewardship. This 
vision will result in local actions that yield measurable social, economic and ecological benefits — and 
more fish! 
 







P a g e  | 4 
www.fishhabitat.org 


MISSION, GOALS, AND OBJECTIVES 
Mission 
The Mission of the National Fish Habitat Partnership is to protect, restore, and enhance the nation’s fish 
and aquatic communities through partnerships that foster fish habitat conservation and improve the 
quality of life for the American people.  This mission will be achieved by: 


• Supporting existing fish habitat partnerships and fostering new efforts 
• Mobilizing and focusing national and local support for achieving fish habitat conservation goals 
• Setting national and regional fish habitat conservation goals 
• Measuring and communicating the status and needs of fish habitats 
• Providing national leadership and coordination to conserve fish habitats 


 
Goals 


• Protect and maintain intact and healthy aquatic systems 
• Prevent further degradation of fish habitats that have been adversely affected 
• Reverse declines in the quality and quantity of aquatic habitats to improve the overall health of 


fish and other aquatic organisms 
• Increase the quality and quantity of fish habitats that support a broad natural diversity of fish 


and other aquatic species 
Objectives 


• To Be determined  (end of 2011) 
 
 
THE NATIONAL FISH HABITAT BOARD 
The Board consists of up to 22 members.  
 
State Government Representatives 
The Board includes five state fish and wildlife agency representatives and the Executive Director of the 
Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies. Each of the four regional fish and wildlife agency associations 
(Northeast, Southeast, Midwest, and Western) nominates a representative to the ELT for approval. The 
fifth state representative is appointed by the ELT. These representatives are selected to create an 
appropriate balance between inland and coastal states. The Executive Director of the Association serves 
on the board by the virtue of his or her office.  
 
Federal Government Representatives 
The Board includes up to five federal agency representatives. These include the Assistant Administrator 
for Fisheries, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, and the Director of the U.S. Fish and 
Wildlife Service, Department of the Interior, who serve by virtue of their office.  
 
Indian Tribal Representation 
The Board includes at least one representative from an Indian tribal or native Alaskan government.  
 
Non-Governmental Organizations 
The National Fish and Wildlife Foundation and the American Fisheries Society each nominate a 
representative for approval by the ELT.  
 







P a g e  | 5 
www.fishhabitat.org 


 
Other Groups 
The remaining eight members are appointed to ensure the Board includes representation from a range 
of interests including: sportfishing, commercial fishing, sportfishing industry, academic, and land and 
aquatic resource conservation organizations.  In addition, these members are appointed to ensure the 
Board includes a balance of governmental and non-governmental organizations and a balance of 
freshwater and marine interests. 
 
 
APPOINMENT TO THE BOARD AND BOARD MEMBER EXPECTATIONS  
Appointment  
The Board is appointed by the Executive Leadership Team (ELT). The membership of the ELT consists of: 
the President and Executive Director of the Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies; Assistant 
Administrator for Fisheries, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration; and the Director of the 
Fish and Wildlife Service, Department of the Interior. The ELT has final responsibility for appointment 
and, if necessary, removal of all Board members, except those serving by virtue of their office.  
 
General Board Position Description 
Board members must be organized proactive and creative thinkers, and should have excellent coalition 
building skills.  Board members must be able to keep the bigger picture (what’s in it for all instead of 
what’s in it for my group) in the highest regard at all times. They must be willing to invest time and 
energy in the Board and the partnership, and participate in Board meetings to the best of their ability. 
 
Expectations  
As a member of the Board, you have assumed some responsibilities and obligations to be engaged, 
attend board meetings, and help advance the National Fish Habitat Partnership.  We encourage all of 
our board members to:   


• advocate actively for the National Fish Habitat Partnership 
• help the 17 board-approved Fish Habitat Partnerships leverage resources, and 
• work to enhance collaboration among partners. 


 
Code of Conduct 
Members appointed to the National Fish Habitat Board are expected to conduct themselves in a 
professional manner using the highest principles, values, and standards, to guide their interactions and 
decisions as a Board member.   Members should seek to guide the partnership in a way that contributes 
to the welfare of its key stakeholders and respects the rights of all constituents affected by its 
operations. 
 
Board Member Commitment 
As a member of the Board you are expected to participate in up to three Board meetings per year (two 
in person and one conference call) plus related activities.   While there are no specific time 
commitments set for Board members, you should be willing to spend whatever time is necessary to 
become informed about agenda topics and engaged during the Board meeting discussions and 
decisions.  You should carefully review your Board meeting briefing book, which is provided in advance 
of meetings. 
 







P a g e  | 6 
www.fishhabitat.org 


 
Committees and Workgroups 
Board members may be asked to serve on ad hoc committees or workgroups that are formed to 
accomplish specific tasks undertaken by the Board.  Every Board member should expect to serve on one 
or more of these committees during their tenure as Board member. 
 
Board Member Travel Expenses 
The Board has travel assistance funding built-in to its budget annually for members to utilize if 
necessary for travel to and from Board meetings.  Please contact Ryan Roberts or Matt 
Menashes to inquire about travel expenses.    
 
Federal Agency Involvement on the Board 
Federal employees serving as members of the Board may participate in discussions, offer proposed 
suggestions for Board actions, and advance the goal of further integrating agency programs with respect 
to fishery habitat conservation.  This includes engaging in discussions of agency policy, advising other 
Board members about their own agency’s goals and criteria in awarding funds, and commenting on 
proposed suggestions for program activities.  In all cases, federal employees may offer to make 
recommendations to other officials within their own agencies regarding ideas and concepts discussed 
during Board meetings and conferences. 
 
The Federal Advisory Committee Act (FACA) provides an orderly procedure for federal agencies to seek 
advice and assistance from citizens and experts.  Any time a federal agency intends to establish, control, 
or manage an advisory group that includes persons other than federal, state, tribal, or local government 
employees operating in their official capacities, the agency must comply with FACA and implementation 
guidelines.  The Board is not nominally or actually controlled by federal agencies; therefore, the Board is 
not an “advisory committee” as defined by the Federal Advisory Committee Act.  State and private 
members maintain a leading, active role in the management and direction of the Board and the Board is 
a collaborative undertaking, not predominately an advisory body to federal agencies.    
 


 


Chart 1.  National Fish Habitat Partnership Structure 
 


 







P a g e  | 7 
www.fishhabitat.org 


FISH HABITAT PARTNERSHIPS  
Seventeen Fish Habitat Partnerships are implementing aquatic habitat conservation projects across the 
nation based on their scientific assessments and strategic plans. The 17 recognized Fish Habitat 
Partnerships and four “Candidate” Fish Habitat Partnerships are shown in the map below, map can also 
be found at www.fishhabitat.org.  
 
The Board has established policies and guidance related to the FHPs that can be found at 
http://fishhabitat.org/images/FHP/approved_fhp_guidance.pdf. 
 
 
 


Chart 2.  The Fish Habitat Partnerships 
 
 


 
 



http://www.fishhabitat.org/�

http://fishhabitat.org/images/FHP/approved_fhp_guidance.pdf�





P a g e  | 8 
www.fishhabitat.org 


 
 


COMMITTEES 
Committees that operate under the Board are: 
 
Science & Data Committee 
The National Fish Habitat Partnership’s science and data strategy is built on four associated activities: 


• identify causative factors for declining fish populations in aquatic systems 
• use an integrated landscape approach that includes the upstream/downstream linkages of 


large-scale habitat condition factors 
• assess and classify the nation’s fish habitats 
• provide partners easy access to information to support their work. 


The partnership will assist all partners in understanding priorities for projects and how to prevent and 
reverse declines in both freshwater and marine systems. It will use an integrated landscape approach to 
link upland and marine systems. It will further the ongoing effort to determine the condition of the 
nation’s waters by classifying waters based on published landscape classification systems.  
 
Communications Committee 
The Communications Committee’s role is to support the partnership by sustaining critical 
communications needs and initiatives.  The Communications Committee plays an essential role in 
crafting the messages that raise awareness about the partnership and help build a community of 
support for fish habitat conservation.   
 
Partnerships Committee 
In May 2008, the National Fish Habitat Board established a standing Partnerships Committee as a forum 
for preliminary discussions, fact-finding, and formulating recommendations for Board actions that affect 
Fish Habitat Partnerships.   
 


 
NATIONAL FISH HABITAT BOARD STAFF - 2011 
Tom Busiahn, FWS, 703-358-2056, tom_busiahn@fws.gov 
Matt Menashes, AFWA, 202-624-3602, mattm@fishwildlife.org 
Karen Abrams, NOAA Fisheries, 301- 301 427-8629, Karen.abrams@noaa.gov 
Gary Whelan, Michigan DNR, 517-373-6948, whelang@michigan.gov 
Andrea Ostroff, USGS, 703-648-4070, aostroff@usgs.gov  
Ryan Roberts, AFWA, 202-624-5851, rroberts@fishwildlife.org 
 
National Fish Habitat Partnership Coordinator - Tom Busiahn, FWS 


• Serve as the Board’s liaison with Fish Habitat Partnerships and facilitate communication among 
the Partnerships 


• Maintain and compile reports on accomplishments of Fish Habitat Partnerships 
• Maintain database of contact and other information on recognized and candidate Fish Habitat 


Partnerships 
• Provide information and guidance to prospective Fish Habitat Partnerships 
• Convene regular meetings of Federal agency personnel to promote awareness, coordination, 


and Federal agency contributions to NFHAP activities 



mailto:tom_busiahn@fws.gov�

mailto:mattm@fishwildlife.org�

mailto:Karen.abrams@noaa.gov�

mailto:whelang@michigan.gov�

mailto:aostroff@usgs.gov�

mailto:rroberts@fishwildlife.org�





P a g e  | 9 
www.fishhabitat.org 


• Maintain database of Federal agency contact information and distribute information on 
activities of the Board and NFHAP partners 


• Encourage Federal agencies to provide current contact information through the online Federal 
partners map 


 
Policy Advisor and State Fish and Wildlife Agency Liaison – Matt Menashes, AFWA 


• Coordinate with state fish and wildlife agencies to represent interests of state fish and wildlife 
agencies on all NFHP matters and teams 


• Provide funding guidance options for Board approval and provide direction for expenditure of 
funding in accordance with Board direction 


• Work with National Fish and Wildlife Foundation, agencies, non-profit organizations, corporate 
sponsors, private entities, and other stakeholders/interests to secure funding resources to 
support Action Plan administration and implementation consistent with Board direction 


• Coordinate and leverage funding with NFWF and other funding resources such as the federal 
caucus, state agencies, congress, corporate, non-profit, and private sponsors 


• Supervise Communications Coordinator   
 
Board Coordination, - Karen Abrams, NOAA Fisheries 


• Coordinate communication with Board, Board staff, and among Board sub-committees. 
• Work with Board staff, Board Chair and Vice-Chair to prepare materials and assist in running 


Board meeting s three times a year.  
• Develop annual report to Board Chair each January summarizing Board activity during the past 


calendar year, highlighting any areas needing improvement 
 


Science and Data Coordination – Gary Whelan, MI DNR and Andrea Ostroff, USGS (Co-Chairs) 
• Establish measurement criteria and reporting protocols 
• Develop procedures and policies for reviewing science and data needs for NFHAP projects 
• Work with and support Fish Habitat Partnerships in following NFHAP science and data policies 


and procedures 
• Provide system classification and habitat assessment information 
• Communication with and assistance to data systems manager for data bases, or links to other 


systems needed for system classification, habitat assessment, and existing priorities databases 
• Produce and print Science and Data reports as directed by the Board 
• Assist and coordinate with Science and Data Committee on issues relating to National Fish 


Habitat Action Plan Implementation   
 
Communication Coordinator – Ryan Roberts, AFWA/NFHAP  


• Receive and disseminate information to partners and stakeholders and among teams and the 
board as directed by the Board  


• Produce information based materials  for the public, partners and stakeholders as directed by 
the Board through core staff in support of other team functions  


• Produce information for target audiences as directed by the Board  
• Assist partners to communicate within organizations and agencies 
• Coordinate communications for consistency and accuracy with Action Plan and Board directives 


with other partner and stakeholder communication leads 







P a g e  | 10 
www.fishhabitat.org 


• Oversee development and maintain content of www.fishhabitat.org website  
• Coordinate outreach materials for Action Plan Initiatives and Fish Habitat Partnerships as 


needed   
• Tailor development functions to successfully implement and support Science/Data, 


Communication, Partnership, and Partner Outreach support and other Action Plan resource 
related needs to insure successful implementation consistent with Action Plan and Board 
direction  


• Work with the legislative team on strategic planning for communications related materials to 
benefit the National Fish Habitat Conservation Act  


• Actively coordinate with State fisheries coordinators on NFHAP communications materials 
relative to the States 


 
Shared Staff Duties 


• Preparation of materials necessary for Board actions 
• Strategic Planning recommendations to Board for Action Plan implementation, including staffing 


levels, restructuring of teams, adding new teams, permanent staff support for teams, etc.  
• Support, and as appropriate, participate in Federal Caucus, Partners Coalition, and other 


stakeholder activities to insure consistency with Action Plan and implementation 
• Provide assistance to sub-committees and work groups that are formed by Board as directed by 


Board 
 
 
POLICY AND TECHNICAL DOCUMENTS APPROVED BY THE NATIONAL FISH HABITAT BOARD 
Information about the board not covered in the above summary is included in the Board Charter which 
is an appendix to this guide.  Other important documents include (all found on www.fishhabitat.org) :  


Policies and Guidance for Fish Habitat Partnerships (October 8, 2008) 
Recommended Strategic Plan Framework for Fish Habitat Partnerships (October 8, 2008) 
Process for Recognizing New Fish Habitat Partnerships (March 4, 2010) 
Guidance on the Use of the “National Fish Habitat Action Plan” Brand (October 7, 2009) 
A Framework for Assessing the Nation’s Fish Habitats (October 2008) 
Final Interim Strategies and Targets for National Fish Habitat Action Plan (November 8, 2007) 
Through a Fish’s Eye: the Status of Fish Habitats in the United States 2010 (April 2011)  
 
 
 



http://www.fishhabitat.org/�

http://www.fishhabitat.org/�

http://www.fishhabitat.org/images/FHP/approved_fhp_guidance.pdf�

http://www.fishhabitat.org/images/stories/Final_NFHAP_Strategic_Plan_Framework.pdf�

http://www.fishhabitat.org/images/Board_Mar_2010/process_new_fhps_march_2010.pdf�

http://www.fishhabitat.org/images/branding/final_nfhap_brand_guid.pdf�

http://fishhabitat.org/images/stories/NFHAP_Science_and_Data_Team_Report.pdf�

http://www.fishhabitat.org/images/documents/science/Final_Interim_Strategies_Targets.pdf�

http://fishhabitat.org/images/documents/fishhabitatreport_012611.pdf�





P a g e  | 11 
www.fishhabitat.org 


Appendix A 
 
DEFINITIONS 
National Fish Habitat Partnership 
The National Fish Habitat Partnership is an organization established to conserve fish habitat nationwide, 
leveraging federal funds with private funds to achieve the greatest impact on the landscape through 
priority conservation projects.  The National Fish Habitat Partnership is aimed at growing a community 
of support concerned about fish habitat conservation and the future of our aquatic habitats.    
 
Fish Habitat Partnership 
A National Fish Habitat Board approved group of state, federal, local, nonprofit, tribal, Alaskan Native or 
private individuals or entities that coordinate to implement the Plan at a regional level.  Fish habitat 
conservation projects proposed by these FHPs are eligible for funding as NFHAP projects.    
 
Candidate Fish Habitat Partnership 
A partnership that is working toward recognition by the Board to become a recognized Fish Habitat 
Partnership.  Candidate Fish Habitat Partnerships are eligible for coordination and technical assistance 
from the Board.  Fish habitat conservation projects proposed by these Partnerships are eligible for 
funding as NFHAP projects. 
 
Coalition Partner  
A group that is not working toward recognition by the Board as a Fish Habitat Partnership, but that is 
working to achieve the goals of the Action Plan through the conservation of fish habitat.  Coalition 
Partners will share in the coordination and technical assistance provided by the Board.   
 
Fish Habitat Conservation Project  
Fish Habitat Conservation Projects are: 


1. approved actions taken for the conservation or management of aquatic habitat for fish and 
other aquatic organisms; 


2. the provision of technical assistance to states and local communities to facilitate development 
of strategies and priorities for aquatic habitat conservation; 


3. the obtaining of a real property interest in lands or waters, including water rights, if the 
obtaining of such interest is subject to terms and conditions that will ensure that the real 
property will be administered for the long-term conservation of such lands and waters and the 
fish dependent thereon.  Real property interest means any ownership interest in lands or a 
building or an object that is permanently affixed to land.   


 





		1. Science based on a landscape scale

		3. Sustained and accountable

		The plan recognizes the need to support regional fish habitat initiatives on a long term, sustained basis. It also understands the need to evaluate and report each project's performance and demonstrate overall results to Congress, partners and the gen...

		Goals

		Objectives






National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 1c- Supplement to New Board Member Guide 
 
Budgeting 
 
Board Operations 
The National Fish Habitat Board (Board) approves an annual budget that focuses on priority 
Board activities.  Typically, the Board’s budget includes funding for staffing resources, support of 
the NFHP science and data committee, NFHP communications products and programs, 
partnership coordination, and Board travel. 
 
The Board approves its annual budget each winter based on staff recommendations.  The budget 
runs on a calendar year.  The Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies (AFWA) and the National 
Fish and Wildlife Foundation (NFWF) both serve as fiduciary agents for the Board. 
 
Revenues are received from federal souces, state agency contributions, Multistate Conservation 
Grants, and other grant sources.  Typically, the USFWS provides funds to AFWA to support the 
Board’s priorities, and also directly funds Board priorities for science and data needs and web site 
development after consultation with the Board.  The National Oceanic and Atmospheric 
Administration (NOAA) and US Geological Survey (USGS) also directly fund board priorities for 
science and data needs.  State agency funds are solicited on an ad hoc basis and are typically 
focused on key areas such as science and data support needs.  Multistate Conservation Grants 
are dependent upon proposals making their way through a joint AFWA/USFWS process.   
 
Project Funding 
The USFWS funds cost-shared projects that protect, restore, or enhance fish and aquatic habitats 
or otherwise directly support habitat-related priorities of Fish Habitat Partnerships.  Each year in 
October, the USFWS Director allocates available project funding among Fish Habitat 
Partnerships consistent with the goals, objectives and strategies of the National Fish Habitat 
Board.  Each Fish Habitat Partnership prioritizes projects consistent with its strategic plan and 
submits its project list to the designated lead USFWS Region.  The USFWS Regions rank 
projects with consideration of Fish Habitat Partnership priorities and the criteria in  USFWS policy 
(www.fws.gov/policy/717fw1.html).   USFWS Regional Directors submit ranked lists of projects to 
the Director.  A national-level project review group reviews project lists and makes 
recommendations to the USFWS Director and to the Board.  The USFWS Director selects final 
projects for funding that are consistent with the goals and strategies of the National Fish Habitat 
Board and allocates funds to the USFWS Regions to implement approved projects. 



http://www.fws.gov/policy/717fw1.html�






National Fish Habitat Board Meeting  


October 19-20, 2011   
 


At the April 2011 National Fish Habitat Board meeting a request was made to differentiate between 
federal and non-federal matching contributions to Fish Habitat Partnership projects funded by the U.S. 
Fish and Wildlife Service.  In response to this, the Fiscal Year 2011 approved NFHAP projects have been 
reviewed.  The ratio of non-federal partner match to NFHAP funds in FY 2011 is 2.32. When federal 
contributions are included the ratio of partner match to NFHAP funds in FY 2011 is 2.96.   


 


Total USFWS 
NFHAP  
Project 
Funds 


Requested in 
FY11 


Non-federal partner 
match contributions  


Federal 
partner 
match 


contributions 


Total partner match 
contributions  


Non-
Federal 
Partner 
match  


match 
ratio 


Total 
partner 
match  


match 
ratio  


$3,427,242 $7,966,238 2.32 $2,175,340 $10,141,578 2.96 
 


For more information: 


Tom Busiahn, 703-358-2056, tom_busiahn@fws.gov 


Colin Hume, 703-358-2519, colin_hume@fws.gov 


 








National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 2 
 


Proposed Draft Example 2012 Board Priorities  
 
Background:  The National Fish Habitat Board agreed at the July 2011 Board meeting to 
develop Board priorities tiered from Action Plan Objectives.  The purpose of setting Board 
priorities is to help the Board decide what to continue doing with existing resources, to drop if 
resources become scarce, and new actions to take when additional resources become available.   
 
The Board also approved in July 2011 a priority-setting schema (attachment 1) that depicts key 
characteristics of Board priorities as: 


• national in scope, 
• a hierarchy of Board actions that advance Action Plan objectives, 
• constrained by available Board budget (as informed by the funding allocation 


framework), and 
• developed and approved by the Board 


 
The schema also differentiates Board priorities from those of others contributing to the 
implementation of the Action Plan such as Fish Habitat Partnerships and individual 
agency/organization priorities.  As such, these priorities should reflect the unique responsibilities 
of the Board as described in the Board charter. 
 
Although the Action Plan objectives remain in development, they will likely focus on themes of 
setting national priorities, generating solid science to drive priorities and measure progress, 
strengthening partnerships, and communicating success. Board staff offer the following 2012 
Board Priorities based on the broad themes that will likely be the focus of revised Action Plan 
Objectives. As the 2012-2017 Action Plan is finalized, future Board Priorities should more 
directly link to the new Action Plan objectives and be updated annually. 
 
Proposal for Board Discussion: 


Draft Example 2012 Board Priorities: 
• Provide oversight and support necessary to complete and approve revisions to the Action 


Plan including publication and rollout to key national audiences. 
 


• Approve and support implementation of a strategy by the Science and Data Committee 
for the completion of the 2015 Status of Fish Habitats in the United States. 
 


• Provide oversight and support necessary to complete and approve the first review of Fish 
Habitat Partnerships’ performance (including recommendations to partnerships). 
 


• Engage with key congressional interests in support of passage of the National Fish 
Habitat Conservation Act. 
 


• Develop a strategy to attract non-governmental/outside partners to support NFHAP 
implementation. 
 


• Approve and support implementation of communications strategy and annual action plan 
developed by the Communications Committee. 
 







National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 2 
 


Proposed Next steps: 
• Board comments to Karen Abrams by November 1, 2012. 
• Board approves draft Board priorities at January 2012 Board call. 
 
Discussion question: 
• Do these priorities capture the key areas where the Board would like to make progress in 


2012? 
 


• Would the Board like to identify members to shape the final drafting of 2012 Board 
priorities for Board approval in January? 








National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
APPROVED:  July 26-27, 2011 


 
Proposed Context Schema and Timeline for Setting National Fish Habitat Board Priorities 


The National Fish Habitat Board has a unique role to play in implementing the objectives of the 
National Fish Habitat Action Plan (Action Plan or NFHAP).  The Board should establish its own 
priorities to inform the efficient use of limited Board resources.  The Board should develop those 
priorities in the context of a shared understanding of the contributions of the various entities in 
implementing NFHAP objectives and the current process for revising the Action Plan. 


Background: 
At the April 2011 Board meeting, the Board discussed setting “national priorities”. The Board 
declined to adopt the “Interim Strategies” as national priorities, after representatives from Fish 
Habitat Partnerships (FHPs) stated that they did not use the interim strategies or find them 
helpful.  Board members asked that staff address the following questions for further Board 
discussion at the July 2011 Board meeting. These questions include 1) for whom is the Board 
setting priorities and 2) what are the resources (staff, financial, etc.) for which the Board is 
setting priorities?  
 
Concurrent with the effort to clarify the scope of Board priorities, other efforts are underway that 
contribute to setting strategic direction for Action Plan activities.  These include 1) development 
of a “NFHAP Funding Allocation Framework,” to guide how funds will be allocated to the 
Board and the FHPs and 2) initiation of revisions to the objectives contained in the Action Plan.  
 
Proposal for Board Consideration and Discussion: 
The following proposal  


• Offers a context schema that depicts the relationship between the various priority-setting 
activities and participating entities involved in Action Plan revision and implementation. 


• Recommends a near-term focus for Board priority setting within this schema. 
• Suggests a timeline for setting Board priorities. 


 
Proposed schema for overall NFHAP strategic planning context: 


This proposed schema (see below) depicts a tiered approach for establishing priorities for 
the different NFHAP entities implementing the Action Plan. Objectives set the overall 
strategic direction for all NFHAP partners.  Priorities are needed to establish the relative 
importance of actions to take or action areas to focus on above any others to achieve the 
objectives.  Priorities will help the Board decide what to do with existing resources, what 
to continue doing and what to drop if resources become scarcer, and what new actions to 
take when additional resources become available.   


 
This proposed schema depicts the multiple entities involved in the strategic planning and 
implementation of the Action Plan.  Each entity plays a unique role in accomplishing the 
objectives of the Action Plan.  The primary entities include the Board, the Fish Habitat 
Partnerships, and individual organizations and agencies. The Board is positioned to 
influence strategic direction of NFHAP implementation in several ways: 1) leading and 
approving the revision of the Action Plan including its new objectives, 2) setting 
priorities for the Board’s own activities, 3) initial approval and subsequent evaluation of 
FHPs, and 4) approving a Funding Allocation Framework. 


Recommended focus and scope for near term Board priority setting 







National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
APPROVED:  July 26-27, 2011 


 
o The Board should focus on setting priorities for its own actions to achieve the 


objectives identified in the revised Action Plan.  
o The Board priorities should: 


 Be informed by the unique roles of the Board as described in the Board 
Charter and Action Plan.  (For example, establish national partnerships 
that provide funding and other resources, establish national measures of 
success and evaluation criteria) 


 Inform how the Board allocates its limited resources. 
 Consider both the resources that have been appropriated for Board use and 


resources that Board members bring to the table to execute Board 
functions. 


 
Proposed Timeline for setting Board Priorities: 


July 2011:   
o Agree to proposed schema (see below) for overall NFHAP strategic planning and 


focus of near term Board priority-setting. 
October 2011:   


o New action plan draft objectives submitted for Board approval. 
o Funding allocation framework submitted for Board approval. 
o Review and discuss draft Board priorities that respond to draft action plan 


objectives 
January 2011 (Board budget conf call): 


o Adopt Board priorities for desired time period. 
 
 
  







National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
APPROVED:  July 26-27, 2011 


 


NFHAP Board 
Priorities


• National in scope
• Establishes hierarchy of 


Board actions  to advance 
Action Plan objectives.


• Constrained by available 
Board budget (as informed 
by funding allocation 
framework).


• Developed and approved 
by Board.


FHP Priorities


• Focus on geographic range 
of FHP


• Establishes hierarchy of 
FHP actions to advance 
Action Plan objectives.


• Constrained by available 
partner and FHP budget (as 
informed by funding 
allocation framework).


• Developed by and 
approved by FHP governing 
bodies, subject to periodic 
review by the Board.


Agency/Organization 
priorities for NFHAP


• May be national or 
geographic.


• Establishes hierarchy of 
individual agency or 
organization actions to 
advance one or more of 
Action Plan objectives .


• Developed and approved 
by agency/organization in 
consultation with partners.


National Fish Habitat Action Plan


• Includes objectives that provide national direction overall for all parties 
involved in NFHAP.  
•Developed by all and approved by Board.
•May lead to development of national priorities to establish hierarchy of  Board 
and FHP actions needed to implement  national conservation objectives


 








67–352 


112TH CONGRESS REPORT " ! HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES 1st Session 112–151 


DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR, ENVIRONMENT, AND 
RELATED AGENCIES APPROPRIATION BILL, 2012 


JULY 19, 2011.—Committed to the Committee of the Whole House on the State of 
the Union and ordered to be printed 


Mr. SIMPSON, from the Committee on Appropriations, 
submitted the following 


R E P O R T 


together with 


DISSENTING VIEWS 


[To accompany H.R. 2584] 


The Committee on Appropriations submits the following report in 
explanation of the accompanying bill making appropriations for the 
Department of the Interior, the Environmental Protection Agency, 
and Related Agencies for the fiscal year ending September 30, 
2012. The bill provides regular annual appropriations for the De-
partment of the Interior (except the Bureau of Reclamation and the 
Central Utah Project), the Environmental Protection Agency, and 
for other related agencies, including the Forest Service, the Indian 
Health Service, the Smithsonian Institution, and the National 
Foundation on the Arts and the Humanities. 


CONTENTS 


Page number 
Bill Report 


Title I—Department of the Interior: 
Bureau of Land Management ............................................................ 2 17 
United States Fish and Wildlife Service ........................................... 8 23 
National Park Service ......................................................................... 13 29 
United States Geological Survey ....................................................... 16 36 
Bureau of Ocean Energy, Management, Regulation and Enforce-


ment (former Minerals Management Service) .............................. 19 38 
Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement ................. 21 40 
Bureau of Indian Affairs and Bureau of Indian Education ............. 23 41 


VerDate Mar 15 2010 07:11 Jul 20, 2011 Jkt 067352 PO 00000 Frm 00001 Fmt 6659 Sfmt 6659 E:\HR\OC\HR151.XXX HR151sm
ar


tin
ez


 o
n 


D
S


K
6T


P
T


V
N


1P
R


O
D


 w
ith


 R
E


P
O


R
T


S







25 


marinas. In keeping with Executive Order 12866, the Committee 
directs the Service to carefully consider the impact to conces-
sionaires of such operational changes. 


The Committee understands that any transfer of lands currently 
withdrawn by the Bureau of Reclamation surrounding the 
Seedskadee National Wildlife Refuge must first undergo an open 
public process; and further, the Committee believes that the high-
est priority in transferring acres should be given to the Bureau of 
Land Management in recognition of its current management re-
sponsibilities on these acres. 


Migratory Birds, Law Enforcement, and International Conserva-
tion.—The Committee recommends $122,048,000 for migratory 
birds, law enforcement, and international conservation, $6,176,000 
below the fiscal year 2011 enacted level and $8,000,000 below the 
budget request. The Committee has included language below di-
recting the Service to combine landscape conservation cooperatives, 
bird joint ventures, and national fish habitat partnerships. 


Fisheries and Aquatic Resource Conservation.—The Committee 
recommends $128,343,000 for fisheries and aquatic resource con-
servation, $10,596,000 below the fiscal year 2011 enacted level and 
$7,669,000 below the budget request. 


The Committee has restored the proposed $3,388,000 shortfall in 
the budget for mitigation hatchery operations and critical supplies, 
with the understanding that the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers will 
reimburse the Service an amount of $3,800,000 during fiscal year 
2012, subject to appropriations. The Committee directs the Service 
to continue to seek reimbursement from the remaining agencies for 
mitigation hatchery operations, and to redirect any additional re-
imbursed funding to deferred maintenance. 


The increase proposed for the fish passage program is funded at 
$500,000 instead of $1,000,000. The National Fish Habitat Action 
Plan program’s climate change initiative is funded at $2,000,000, 
which is equal to the fiscal year 2010 enacted level. The Committee 
has included language below directing the Service to combine land-
scape conservation cooperatives, bird joint ventures, and national 
fish habitat partnerships. 


The Committee is concerned about the continued rapid spread of 
invasive zebra and quagga mussels in the West. The Committee 
understands that prevention measures are lacking at many Feder-
ally-managed water bodies, despite Federal coordination and plan-
ning efforts through the aquatic nuisance species task force. The 
Committee has added to the President’s fiscal year 2012 budget 
$1,000,000 to implement the highest priority prevention measures 
called for in the February 2010 Quagga-Zebra Mussel Action Plan 
for Western U.S. Waters, specifically the implementation of manda-
tory inspection, decontamination, and law enforcement programs at 
all high-risk Federally-managed water bodies. 


Cooperative Landscape Conservation and Adaptive Science.—The 
Committee recommends $20,000,000 for the cooperative landscape 
conservation and adaptive science initiative, $10,970,000 below the 
fiscal year 2011 enacted level and $17,483,000 below the budget re-
quest. 


The Committee recognizes a limited Federal role in science- 
based, landscape-level conservation of our nation’s natural re-
sources, including fish, wildlife, plants, and their habitats. The con-


VerDate Mar 15 2010 07:11 Jul 20, 2011 Jkt 067352 PO 00000 Frm 00025 Fmt 6659 Sfmt 6602 E:\HR\OC\HR151.XXX HR151sm
ar


tin
ez


 o
n 


D
S


K
6T


P
T


V
N


1P
R


O
D


 w
ith


 R
E


P
O


R
T


S







26 


cept is not new; in fact it has been underway for some time in 
other agencies such as the Forest Service and the National Park 
Service, and in other Fish and Wildlife Service programs such as 
bird joint ventures and the National Fish Habitat Action Plan. 
How these and other efforts fit together is of grave concern to the 
Committee. 


The Fish and Wildlife Service continues to struggle in developing 
this initiative. Fundamental, unanswered questions pertaining 
mostly to roles and responsibilities of partners and existing pro-
grams have been asked by too many for too long. Furthermore, 
Service partners are overwhelmed by the increasing volume of 
Service partnership efforts at a time when State, local, tribal, and 
non-profit organization budgets are flat or decreasing. 


Despite the Committee’s concerns about how the Service has 
been implementing this initiative, the Service has made a strong 
case to this Committee as to why the initiative is necessary. The 
Service’s current business model, containing an abundance of au-
thorizations and programs, is not working as well as it could. Pro-
grams are stove piped. Habitats are being lost. The health of most 
species for which the Service has a trust responsibility is either un-
known or poor. 


In this budget climate more than ever, new initiatives such as 
this must either be achieving economies of scale, or must be offset, 
or both. By proposing to cut the budget for climate change planning 
and adaptive science capacity, this Committee is directing the Serv-
ice to: (1) more fully develop the initiative in a limited number of 
areas; and (2) combine the initiative with bird joint ventures and 
national fish habitat partnerships. The Committee urges the Serv-
ice to take into account these directives as it develops and submits 
its fiscal year 2013 budget request. 


Bill Language.—The Committee has included bill language pro-
hibiting the use of funds for certain Endangered Species Act activi-
ties. The bill also provides limited no-year funding for certain law 
enforcement and environmental contaminants activities. 


CONSTRUCTION 


Appropriation enacted, 2011 .............................................................. $20,804,000 
Budget estimate, 2012 ....................................................................... 23,088,000 
Recommended, 2012 ........................................................................... 11,804,000 
Comparison: 


Appropriation, 2011 .................................................................... ¥9,000,000 
Budget estimate, 2012 ................................................................ ¥11,284,000 


The Committee recommends $11,804,000 for construction, 
$9,000,000 below the fiscal year 2011 enacted level and 
$11,284,000 below the request. The amounts recommended by the 
Committee compared with the budget estimates by activity are 
shown in the table at the end of this report. 


The Committee expects the Service to allocate funding to projects 
in the order of priority presented in the fiscal year 2012 budget re-
quest. 


VerDate Mar 15 2010 07:11 Jul 20, 2011 Jkt 067352 PO 00000 Frm 00026 Fmt 6659 Sfmt 6602 E:\HR\OC\HR151.XXX HR151sm
ar


tin
ez


 o
n 


D
S


K
6T


P
T


V
N


1P
R


O
D


 w
ith


 R
E


P
O


R
T


S












National Fish Habitat Board 
October 19-20, 2011 


 


 


 
Bureau of Land Management investment in the National Fish Habitat Partnership 
 


The Bureau of Land Management (BLM) currently faces key challenges as it manages, restores, 
and protects fish habitat.  Key to this challenge is the development of key working agreements 
with ten National Fish Habitat Partnership (NFHP) affiliates: the Reservoir Fish Habitat 
Partnership, the California Fish Passage Forum,  the Western Native Trout Initiative, the Desert 
Fish Habitat Partnership, the Great Plains Fish Habitat Partnership, the Southwest Alaska 
Salmon Habitat Partnership, the Mat-Su Salmon Habitat Partnership, the Driftless Area 
Restoration Effort, the Great Lakes Basin Fish Habitat Partnership, and the Eastern Brook Trout 
Joint Venture.  Additional coordinated work with the NFHP Federal Caucus and the Partnership 
Committee additionally help meet those challenges.  These affiliates are integrating effective 
cost-sharing programs for implementation of fish habitat priorities and providing the latest 
science research techniques into the BLM’s aquatic program.  The BLM Fisheries Program has 
recently completed a Strategic Plan tiered from the NFHP program, an  Internal Memorandum 
detailing how the BLM field staff operates under the NFHP program, and a White Paper, or 
“Overview”, of  the BLM  Fisheries Program and the NFHP relationship. 


The BLM has provided expertise to the development of NFHP partnership Strategic Plans, has 
provided a key federal land management prospective, and working with all partners, helped in 
prioritization and selection of funded projects with all affiliated partnerships. 


The BLM WO Fisheries Program has provided budget advice to field units allocating specific 
percentages of their annual base funding for NFHP activities.  The Fisheries Program has also 
provided project codes specific for use with to various NFHP partnerships. 


The BLM Fisheries Program’s out year budget scenario is similar to other Department of Interior 
agencies with an anticipated budget shortfall.  We will however continue with a strong 
presence of the NFHP program incorporated into our BLM Fisheries Program planning and 
activity.     


Contact:  Thomas Mendenhall, National Fisheries Program Leader, Washington Office, 


tmendenh@blm.gov 








National Fish Habitat Board 
October 19-20, 2011 


 
EPA Involvement in the National Fish Habitat Partnership (NFHP) 
 
The US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has been involved in NFHP as a Board member agency, 
caucus participant, science and data participant and FHP participant since NFHP began.  The Office of 
Water has been EPA’s lead organization for NFHP participation, with assistance from the Office of 
Research and Development (ORD) and EPA Regional Offices.  EPA’s support of NFHP has generally been 
through in-kind services, although the Agency’s Clean Water Act expenditures toward restoring and 
maintaining the waters of the US represent a major contribution to the NFHP goals of fish habitat 
protection and restoration.  EPA activities specifically tied to NFHP have included: 
 


• Participation in the NFHP Federal Caucus since its formation, including: 
o Co-leading early efforts to develop NFHP performance measures; 
o Guest presentations on Healthy Watersheds, Recovery Potential Screening, Federal 


lands impaired waters assessments; 
o Regular support of April Casting Call event; 
o Regular participation in Caucus meetings; 
o Contributions to the NFHP website; 
o Hosting a Board meeting in 2008 and attendance at several Board meetings; 


• Participation in the NFHP Science Committee since its formation, including: 
o Contribution to the development of the NFHP Science Plan; 
o Attendance at science committee working meetings; 
o Participation in American Fisheries Society special session; 
o Participation in NFHP “one year out” workshop; 


• Participation in the NFHP Data Committee, including: 
o Providing guidance on using EPA datasets in the NFHP assessment; 
o Providing small funding contributions to the data system development effort; 


• Development of special projects and activities, including: 
o EPA-funded joint project with FWS and OSM in Pennsylvania to demonstrate site 


selection for restoration of minelands-impaired waters with former Brook Trout 
populations; 


o Recognition of Steve Jordan (EPA ORD) by NFHP for award-winning scientific paper;  
o Participation by EPA in some Fish Habitat Partnerships (FHPs); 
o Involvement of NFHP Science committee members in EPA Healthy Watersheds design 


workshop in 2010; 
o (ongoing) Joint project with USGS to get updated and national impaired waters 


geospatial data into continued work on NFHP national assessment; 
o  (ongoing) Development of datasets (geospatial data and spreadsheets) for each of the 


17 FHPs that contain all the impaired waters and completed TMDLs occurring within the 
partnership’s boundaries.  


Future Outlook:  Although still in negotiation as to the magnitude of cuts, there are strong signals that 
EPA water program budgets will be significantly reduced.  Large surface water quality and restoration-
related programs likely to be significantly affected include the CWA Section 319 nonpoint pollution 
control grant funds, and CWA State Revolving Funds.  In-kind activity support will likely continue. 
 
Douglas J. Norton 
USEPA Office of Water 
norton.douglas@epa.gov 








National Fish Habitat Board 
October 19-20, 2011 


 
Summary of NOAA Support of NFHAP 


Since 2006, NOAA has committed to NFHAP through its in-kind contributions of staff and technical 
assistance and by using existing funding to support national and partnership NFHAP activities that match 
NOAA’s mission. 


NOAA provides leadership to NFHAP at the national level by:  


• serving on the NFHAP Board,  


• providing management and policy support to the Board executive team,  


• providing science and technical leadership for the development and execution of the coastal 
assessment of the 2010 Status of Fish Habitats Report 


• engaging other Federal agencies through the Federal Caucus, and 


• supporting NFHAP communications initiatives.   


NOAA has also actively engaged in the development and implementation of coastally-focused 
partnerships through staff support in our regional offices and by providing funding for activities like 
strategic planning workshops and partnership coordination.  In addition, NOAA has supported on-the-
ground habitat protection and restoration projects with several coastal partnerships.  Since 2006 
NOAA’s support of projects has totaled close to $1.5 million. 


NOAA NFHAP support since 2006


Project support:  $1.5 million 


: 


Science and Data support:  $616,000 


National and Regional NFHAP coordination and staff support:  16 staff in part-time capacity 


 


Jeff Smith 
NOAA Fisheries Service 
Office of Habitat Conservation 
301.427.8648 
Jeff.P.Smith@noaa.gov 
 
 








National Fish Habitat Board 
October 19-20, 2011 


U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service budgets in support of the National Fish Habitat Action Plan 
 
FWS first received funds for the National Fish Habitat Action Plan in FY 2006, when Congress 
appropriated $1 million ($0.985 million after rescissions) to the Fisheries Program “to implement on-
the-ground, cost-shared habitat restoration projects, identified in the Fisheries Operational Needs 
System and in direct support of fish habitat partnerships … and … to support continued development 
of the National Fish Habitat Plan” (House Report 109-080).  FWS reported on how the funds were 
used at the inaugural meeting of the National Fish Habitat Board in September 2006, and has 
continued to apprise the Board on the allocation and use of NFHAP funds each year. 
 
FWS’ NFHAP funding for 2006-2012 is shown below.  The Administration first requested funds for 
NFHAP in FY 2007, and Congress has appropriated the Administration’s request each year through 
FY 2011.  Each year since 2008, $246,100 has been earmarked for the Green River Basin in 
Wyoming through the Healthy Lands Initiative.  Each year since 2010, $2 million has been 
earmarked for projects that address adaptation to climate change. 
 


Fiscal Year President’s Request Appropriated 
2006 -- 985,000 
2007 2,985,000 2,985,000 
2008 5,153,000 5,153,000 
2009 5,153,000 5,153,000 
2010 7,153,000 7,153,000 
2011 7,153,000 7,153,000 
2012 7,153,000 -- 


 
Allocation for 2006-2011 is shown below.  “Deferred allocation” funds (generally 0.05%) are 
withheld by the FWS Director for contingencies.  In 2010 and 2011, deferred allocation was 
included within each individual element, but it is shown separately here to simplify the table.   
 


 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 
NFHB priorities 172,375 125,000 156,900 156,900 380,000 300,000 
WO base 0 300,000 350,000 350,000 420,000 420,000 
FHP ops & dev 0 200,000 400,000 900,000 1,000,000 0 
Regions base 0 600,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,750,000 2,750,000* 
Projects 812,625 1,760,000 3,246,100 2,746,100 3,556,100 3,638,700 
Deferred allocation     46,900 44,300 
TOTAL 985,000 2,985,000 5,153,000 5,153,000 7,153,000 7,153,000 


  * Includes $1M for FHP operations & development 


 
Project funds from the table above are shown in more detail below.  The Healthy Lands Initiative 
funds were available for WNTI projects in 2008-09, and for WNTI or DFHP projects in 2010-11. 
 


 
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 


HLI – Green River basin, WY 
  


246,100 246,100 246,100 246,100 


Demo projects - Candidate FHPs 
  


600,000 
   


Southeast Aquatic Resources Partnership 221,625 440,000 600,000 600,000 600,000 600,000 


Eastern Brook Trout Joint Venture 197,000 440,000 600,000 600,000 600,000 600,000 


Western Native Trout Initiative 197,000 440,000 600,000 600,000 600,000 600,000 







National Fish Habitat Board 
October 19-20, 2011 


Driftless Area Restoration Effort 98,500 220,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 


Mat-Su Basin Salmon Habitat Partnership 98,500 220,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 


Southwest Alaska Salmon Habitat 
Partnership    


100,000 100,000 100,000 


Desert FHP 
    


90,000 90,000 


Midwest Glacial Lakes Partnership 
    


90,000 90,000 


Hawaii FHP 
    


90,000 90,000 


Atlantic Coastal FHP 
    


90,000 90,000 


Ohio River Basin FHP 
    


90,000 90,000 


Reservoir Fisheries Habitat Partnership 
    


90,000 90,000 


Great Lakes Basin FHP 
    


90,000 90,000 


Great Plains FHP 
    


90,000 90,000 


Kenai Peninsula FHP 
    


90,000 90,000 


California Fish Passage Forum 
     


41,300 


Fishers & Farmers Partnership 
     


41,300 


TOTAL 812,625 1,760,000 3,246,100 2,746,100 3,556,100 3,638,700 


 
With input from the Board and State partners, FWS developed policy to guide the use of FWS 
funds to implement projects and provide Federal assistance for NFHAP.  The policy (717 FW 1) 
says that each year in October, the Director “allocates the available project funding among Fish 
Habitat Partnerships consistent with the goals and strategies of the National Fish Habitat Board” 
and “issues guidance for project selection”.   
 
In February 2008, the Board approved the document “Board Involvement in USFWS Budgeting, 
Funds Allocation and Project Selection Process”.  The document was developed in collaboration 
with FWS, with a goal to “develop a process that reflected the needs of all the parties”.   
 


 
Future budget outlook 


The President’s budget request for FY 2012 includes level funding of $7.153 million for NFHAP 
in the FWS Fisheries Program.  These funds are well down in the hierarchy of the budget 
structure, so they are not visible in public documents from the Administration. 
 
The House appropriations bill for 2012 (H.R. 363) would provide level funding.  The 
accompanying House Report 112-151 states on page 25, “The National Fish Habitat Action Plan 
program's climate change initiative is funded at $2,000,000, which is equal to the fiscal year 
2010 enacted level. The Committee has included language below directing the Service to 
combine landscape conservation cooperatives, bird joint ventures, and national fish habitat 
partnerships.”  The Senate has yet to release an Interior appropriations bill, and FWS is under a 
Continuing Resolution until November 18 with a 1.503% reduction from FY 2011 levels. 
 
The President’s budget request for FY 2013 will be released in early February 2012, and is likely 
to propose significant reductions in funding for many programs to reduce deficit spending. 



http://www.fws.gov/policy/717fw1.html�

http://thomas.loc.gov/cgi-bin/cpquery/?&dbname=cp112&sid=cp112cQzYA&refer=&r_n=hr151.112&item=&&&sel=TOC_77316&�






  


Page 1 of 1  October 2011  


USGS SUPPORT FOR THE NATIONAL FISH HABITAT ACTION PLAN 


 


USGS support to implement the National Fish Habitat Action Plan spans various types of activities ranging 


from research and monitoring efforts to technical committee participation and leadership over the last five 


years. 
 


SCIENCE SUPPORT –From Ecosystems, Core Science Systems, Climate and Land Use Change Mission Areas 


� USGS provides inkind scientific and science management staff support in various capacities 


o Co-chair of National Science and Data Committee to the National Fish Habitat Board 


o Members on the National Science and Data Committee 


o Representation on the Federal Caucus 


o Fish Habitat Partnership Coordination 


o Fish Habitat Partnership Steering Committees 


o Fish Habitat Partnership Science and Data Committees 


o Fish Habitat Partnership Finance Committees 


� Aquatic Gap Analysis Program funds supplemented funding from US Fish and Wildlife Service to 


support the NFHAP national inland river assessment (FY07-$40K, FY08-$56K, FY09-$60K, FY10-$77K, 


FY11-$120K) 


� Provides support to address research and/or monitoring priorities related to fish-habitat relationships, 


including human impacts and their variation at different scales.  Recently supported research projects: 


o Development and Validation Models to Assess the Threat to Freshwater Fishes from 


Environmental Change and Invasive Species in support of Desert Fish Habitat Partnership (FY09-


$119K, FY10-$125K, FY11-$126K) 


o Habitat Applied Sampling Validation and Limiting Factors Analysis:  Using Abundance to Inform 


Monitoring of Fish Populations and Habitat (FY09-$31K, FY10-$43K, FY11-$33K) 


o Linking Great Lakes Watersheds to Coastal Habitats in Support of the National Fish Habitat Action 


Plan (FY09-$159K, FY10-$159K, FY11-$159K) 


o Application of Elemental Fingerprinting: Defining Nursery Habitats, Advanced tools in support of 


the National Fish Habitat Action Plan (FY09-$104K, FY10-$109K, FY11-$113K) 


o Spatial Models for Connecting Landscapes to Fish Diversity in Alaska in support of the Southwest 


Alaska Salmon Habitat Partnership (FY09-$55K, FY10-$67K, FY11-$37K) 


� Fisheries Program funding support for WaterSMART ecological flow work in Colorado River, Delaware 


River, and Apalachicola-Chattahoochee-Flint River basins support NFHAP objectives (FY11-$500K) 


� National Climate Change and Wildlife Science Center funds supporting projects that are working 


collaboratively with NFHAP 


o Managing the Nation’s Fish Habitat at Multiple Spatial Scales in a Rapidly Changing Climate (FY09-


$702K, FY10-$1M, FY11-$717K) 


o Potential consequences of climate change to persistence of cutthroat trout populations (FY08- 


o $273K, FY09- $339K, FY10-$319K, FY11-$372K) 
 


DATA SYNTHESIS, INTEGRATION, AND INFRASTRUCTURE  


� USGS Leads the development and providing technical expertise and infrastructure for the online 


application that supports the national assessment map products and broad dissemination of the 


national data and information to resource managers and decision-makers (FY09-$80K, FY10-$101K, 


FY11-$207K) 
 


OUTLOOK OF FUTURE FUNDING 


� For FY2012, USGS will continue to support inkind contributions of staff coordination.  Future support 


will be evaluated on a yearly basis.   








National Fish Habitat Board Meeting, October 19 – 20, 2011, Albuquerque, NM 


 


For more information, contact Joe Starinchak, U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service, email:  joe_starinchak@fws.gov, tel. 703-358-2018 


 


Connecting NFHAP with the Sustainability Movement – A Rare Opportunity  


Introduction:  Over the past forty years, the U.S. and the world have changed dramatically.  Globalization, the Internet and the 
financial crisis all define this new age.  Global impacts of human society include declining fisheries, biodiversity losses, deforestation, 
mass species extinctions, climate change, degraded habitat and decreasing water quality and quantity.  Intertwined with these 
ecological impacts are related social and economic issues that are equally as troublesome.  The bottom line is that conserving the 
living systems that support us and our institutions is becoming a necessity and requires different ways of thinking and acting. 


Problem Statement:  As the world’s most powerful, yet wasteful nation, the U.S. has contributed significantly to world’s financial 
and environmental deterioration.  We have placed our next generation, our natural systems and our ability to sustain our quality of 
life at a tipping point.   


Situational Analysis:  Averting these connected disasters requires us to work together and act innovatively.  New expectations are 
such that private sector can no longer just create financial value and the public and nonprofit sectors can’t focus solely on creating 
social and environmental value.  As part of acting differently, we need to reframe our relationship with the environment, embracing 
it as part of the fabric of how we value and invest.  This will help us to overcome our reactive, siloed approach to complexity, foster 
cross-sector collaboration and measure results as positive social, environmental and economic outcomes to achieve sustainability.     


Some Pertinent Questions:  To help resource professionals see the opportunities related to this situation, consider these questions… 


 How do citizens, businesses and communities participate in NFHAP?  As a national resource platform that elevates the aquatic 
habitat crisis, pools public sector financial resources and directs strategic investments toward aquatic habitat conservation, 
NFHAP serves as a rallying point for the conservation community, but where are the citizens, businesses and communities?  And 
what are their specific roles in conserving our country’s diminishing aquatic habitat?   
 


 How can the conservation community leverage the circumstances of great change that we are experiencing to improve our 
conservation capabilities?  Leadership, vision and cross-sector collaboration can improve the conservation community’s 
outcomes.  Leveraging our national resource platforms and collaborating with ecologically-friendly businesses, psychologists, 
social and financial entrepreneurs can build bridges between the environment and the economy, which can reposition 
conservation as a value-added for communities as they redefine themselves amidst these ecological challenges. 


 


 How can the conservation community apply and better integrate economics and the social sciences into its delivery?  Tapping 
into the social sciences and economics can open new doors – we can clearly articulate conservation’s economic value, we can 
build constituent grass roots capacity to improve fish and wildlife advocacy at the community level and we can create market 
mechanisms for conservation outcomes that would attract private investments. 


Expanding Conservation through Diversification and Integration:  To better answer these questions and address the complex 
challenges we face, the conservation community needs to alter how it does business.  We cannot continue to implement our 
resource management actions in a narrow vacuum; it is imperative to expand our conservation worldview to include social and 
financial issues.  NFHAP is a national blueprint for 21


st
 century conservation and consciously shaping our actions to produce social, 


environmental and economic outcomes at the community level is a powerful way to implement this blueprint.   


Through its public-private partnerships, the Fish and Wildlife Service has convened a group of sustainable business and thought 
leaders at the cutting edge of the conservation community’s evolution.  Known as the Sustainability + Re: Footprint Collaborative 
(SRF Collaborative), this group is a catalyst to bring broad, deep and diverse perspectives to the launching of innovative systems-
based, shared-value approaches to connect the environment with the economy at bioregional scales.   


This summary describes a unique opportunity for the National Fish Habitat Board to consider formalizing; a partnership with the SRF 
Collaborative to address the social and financial sides of aquatic habitat conservation.  This would leverage the NFHAP platform to 
develop local environmental markets, attract private investments and integrate Fish Habitat Partnership operations with innovative 
approaches to community development that focus on resource conservation.  Through this partnership, we can address the root 
causes of our environmental degradation by engaging businesses and market forces to shape human behaviors for the better. 








 


 


9 0 0 7  E t o n  R o a d  |  S i l v e r  S p r i n g ,  M D  2 0 9 0 1  
B r a d @ G e n t n e r G r o u p . c o m  |  2 0 2 . 4 5 5 . 4 4 2 4  


 


Page 1 


Economics of NFHAP Investments in Habitat: October Board Meeting 2011 


Desired Outcomes 


At the August NFHAP Board meeting, the Board asked for estimates of the economic impact and value of the direct 
habitat investments.  These are additive to the estimates provided previously. It is hoped that the Board could endorse 
the entire analytical approach as an advocacy tool and as an input into developing an advocacy statement.   
 
Background 


Economic impact models compile national business and consumer transaction data and translate changes in sector 
spending into direct, indirect, and induced effects within a user defined regional economy. Direct effects are the changes 
accruing to the industries directly impacted by the change in economic activity. Indirect effects are the effects accruing 
to industries that support the directly affected industry by supplying capital, material, and labor inputs to the directly 
affected industries production process. Finally, induced effects are those effects generated by the labor sector spending 
income they earn from the directly and indirectly affected industries in the local region.1


 
  


This analysis includes the sum of the direct, indirect, and induced effects. The sum of these effects can be expressed in 
terms of total sales, income, and employment impacts. Total sales are a measure of the total economic activity 
generated by both administration of NFHAP grants and the actual construction those grants support. Employment 
impacts detail the total number of jobs supported by economic activity in the region. Income impacts represent the 
wages, salaries, bonuses and business profits generated by the same economic activity. Often, income impacts are also 
used as a proxy for direct estimates of net value or profits.2


 
  


The estimates presented in Table 1 were generated by applying IMPLAN multipliers to the direct investments by year as 
provided by Tom Busian.  Tom suggested that 30% of these investments were for administrative purposes and 70% were 
invested in actual restoration activities. While this may not adequately reflect any particular partnership’s spending, 
without any data, it is impossible to refine this split. 
 
US level multipliers were used because we are looking at the national impact of state expenditures.  US level multipliers 
are higher than state level multipliers because multipliers are based on economic activity within a study region. At the 
state level, more materials have to be imported so the state level multipliers are naturally lower. 
 
Administrative expenditures were applied to sector 492 – “Grant making, giving and social advocacy.” Construction 
expenditures were applied to sector  41 – “Other construction.” Each sector generates expenditures on all activities that 
might be generated with conducting other construction, for example, based on national averages.  This would inlcude 
labor and materials.  It would be more satisfactory to collect data from partners regarding actual expenditures on each 
individual good, however that is unneccessary for overally accuracy.  It would increase accuracy if data on actual goods 
purchased was collected for a couple of representative projects and used to better apportion expenditures. Table 2 
contains the total estimates after combining them with the previous esitmates. 
 
The estimates in Table 2 from the first presentation are lower than the estimates presented previously. There was an 
outlier in the 2008 data and it has been dropped. There was a lake in Louisiana that received a small grant for invasive 


                                                           
1 Minnesota IMPLAN Group, Inc. 1997. IMPLAN Professional: social accounting and impact analysis software. 
Minneapolis, MN 
2 Edwards, S.F. 1990. An Economics Guide to Allocation of Fish Stocks between Commercial and Recreational Fisheries. 
NOAA Technical Report NMFS 94. November. 


 







 


 


9 0 0 7  E t o n  R o a d  |  S i l v e r  S p r i n g ,  M D  2 0 9 0 1  
B r a d @ G e n t n e r G r o u p . c o m  |  2 0 2 . 4 5 5 . 4 4 2 4  


 


Page 2 


Economics of NFHAP Investments in Habitat: October Board Meeting 2011 


aquatic vegetation control in 2008 that was driving the high estimate. In the reporting, the grantee claimed credit for 
restoration of the entire lake, which was quite large. While their efforts may have restored the lake, it was removed 
from the estimates. This had the effect of reducing benefits by over $190 million and jobs by over 4,000 in total.  Overall, 
I think the esitmates are very favorable and will prove quite useful.  These estimates would likely be much higher if we 
had better data on investements and restoration outcomes.   
 


Proposal for the NFHAP Board 


1. Approve these estimates for use in advocacy (now). 
2. Work towards developing a stronger methodology to both evaluate projects and develop advocacy values 


(long term). 
3. Work towards collecting and including economic data into the assessment database 


Estimates 


Table 1. Economic Impact of NFHAP Investments Since 2006. 


Year Output Income Jobs 


2006 $7.2 $3.3 55 
2007 $14.8 $6.7 113 
2008 $20.3 $9.2 154 
2009 $18.7 $8.5 142 
2010 $0.0 $0.0 0 
2011 $0.0 $0.0 0 


Total $61.0 $27.6 464 
In millions of 2010 dollars, except jobs. 
 
Table 2. Economic Value and Jobs Supported by NFHAP Activities by Habitat Type. 


Year 
Value 
Before  


Jobs 
Before 


Value 
Now 


Jobs 
Now 


2006 $67.1 1,517 $74.3 1,572 
2007 $90.0 2,035 $104.8 2,148 
2008 $148.1 3,349 $168.3 3,503 
2009 $105.2 2,380 $124.0 2,522 
2010 $0.0 0 $0.0 0 
2011 $0.0 0 $0.0 0 


Total $410.4 9,281 $471.4 9,745 
 
 








National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 6 
 


 1 


                  
           “A National Fish Habitat Partnership “ 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________                                                                                                                                                                               
 


PRESENTATION  
TO  


THE NATIONAL FISH HABITAT BOARD 
 


OCTOBER 19, 2011 
 


ALBUQUERQUE, NEW MEXICO 
 


    







National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 6 
 


 2 


 
 
 
 
FIGURE 1.  DISTRIBUTION OF THE NATIVE TROUT SPECIES ORIGINALLY 
ADDRESSED BY THE WESTERN NATIVE TROUT INITIATIVE 
 
 







National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 6 
 


 3 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


WNTI GOVERNANCE AND FUNDING 
 
 







National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 6 
 


 4 


 
 
 


WNTI OPERATIONAL FUNDING 
 


 
MULTI-STATE CONSERVATION GRANT # 1 -  JULY 2006 THROUGH DECEMBER 
2009  -  $450,000 
 
MULTI-STATE CONSERVATION GRANT # 2 – JANUARY 2010 THROUGH 
DECEMBER 2012  -  $360,000 
 
 
NFHAP AND WNTI CUMULATIVE PROJECT FUNDING  2006-2011: 
 


70 Projects 
$3.45 M direct funds 


$5.600 M match funds 
 
 
 


WNTI In The News and Media -2011 
WNTI IN THE MEDIA 


  







National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 6 
 


 5 


Teddy Roosevelt Conservation Partnership’s June and July Square Dealer - FEATURED 
CONSERVATION LEADER 


 
Photo courtesy of Bob Eakes. 
 


 
 
NAME: ROBIN KNOX 
Title: Coordinator, Western Native Trout Initiative 
Location: Evergreen, Colorado 
 
As coordinator of the Western Native Trout Initiative, a National Fish 
Habitat Partnership, Robin Knox gets to play with fish for a living – not bad 
for a guy who grew up 10 minutes outside of downtown Chicago! Learn more 
about Robin and the WNTI. 
 
Q: Tell us a little more about the WNTI’s work to conserve native trout 
populations. Why are these populations important to sportsmen? 
 
Native trout in the West are important for a number of reasons. To Native 
Americans they are cultural icons, and to many anglers they are a worthy 
quarry due to their limited distribution, their colorful bodies and hard-
fighting nature. To conservationists they are indicator species that 
highlight the stresses placed on coldwater habitats due to population growth, 
resource extraction impacts, de-watering and invasive species. WNTI’s mission 
is to serve as a catalyst for the implementation of management actions that 
improve the status of the species through partnerships and cooperative 
efforts that result in improved habitats, better scientific information and 
improved recreational opportunities for anglers. WNTI works hard at 
increasing public knowledge and understanding of the role native trout play 
as we consider the best ways to conserve and improve coldwater aquatic 
habitats. 
 
 
Other: 
 
 Featured in a segment of Trout Unlimited’s Rise to the Future Cable TV program 







National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 6 
 


 6 


 Op Ed on TU Climate Change and Western Trout Decline in Season’s End e-newsletter 
and other publications 


                  
           “A National Fish Habitat Partnership “ 
_______________________________________________________________________________________________                                                                                                                                                                              


PRESS RELEASE 
April 26, 2010 
 
Contact: Robin Knox , Coordinator, Western Native Trout Initiative  
wnti.rknox@wispertel.net  
Ph.303-236-4402 
 
Western Native Trout Initiative announces small project grant program to benefit 
native trout 
 
LAKEWOOD,  COLO. -- The Western Native Trout Initiative, a National Fish Habitat 
Partnership, has announced a new small project grant program that will award up to 
$3,000 for conservation projects that benefit native trout species.  
 
The “2011 Small Project Funding Program” is aimed at local trout fishing clubs, watershed 
councils and other community groups who want to conduct local conservation projects that 
will benefit western native trout.  The program is funded in 2011 through a $15,000 start-up 
grant from the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service.  
 
The small project funding program specifically supports collaborative approaches and 
partnerships involved in local efforts or community-based programs that provide for 
habitat, educational or public recreational angling programs that contribute to the 
Initiative’s efforts to conserve western native trout. 
 
For more information about the program, types of projects that will be funded and the web-
based application materials, visit the Western Native Trout Initiative website at http//: 
www.westernnativetrout.org.  
 
The deadline for submitting grant proposals in June 10, 2011. 
 
 


The mission of the Western Native Trout Initiative (WNTI) is to improve the abundance of 
western native trout across a variety of landscapes.  WNTI - a collaborative effort of 12 
western states including Alaska, the National Fish Habitat Action Plan, the U.S. Fish and 
Wildlife Service, the US Forest Service, the US Bureau of Land Management and many tribal 
and public or private conservation-minded organizations -  annually solicits native trout 
conservation projects for funding through the National Fish Habitat Action Plan.  WNTI hopes 


    



mailto:wnti.rknox@wispertel.net�

http://www.westernnativetrout.org/�





National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 6 
 


 7 


to expand the small project grant program in the near future through additional funds from a 
variety of sources. 
 


### 
 PRESS RELEASE 


 
FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 
 
July 28, 2011 


Contact: Robin Knox, Coordinator - Western Native Trout Initiative  
wnti.rknox@wispertel.net, 303-236-4402 
 
 


WESTERN NATIVE TROUT INITIATIVE ANNOUNCES SMALL PROJECT 
FUNDING RECIPIENTS AND 2012 NATIONAL FISH HABITAT ACTION PLAN 


REQUESTS FOR PROJECTS 
 
 
Small Grant Recipients 
The Western Native Trout Initiative, a venture of the Western Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies 
and a National Fish Habitat Partnership, is pleased to announce the recipients of the first round of the new 
“Small Project Funding Program.” 
 
The purpose of this program is to provide a source of funding to organizations desiring to become 
involved in the conservation – protection, restoration or enhancement – of western native trout at the local 
level. The small project funding program specifically supports collaborative approaches and partnerships 
involved in local efforts or community-based programs that provide for habitat, educational, or public 
recreational angling programs that contribute to the Initiative’s efforts to conserve western native trout. 
 
WNTI received 14 applications for small projects in 2011, and the WNTI Steering Committee determined 
the funded projects at their recent summer meeting. The following projects were funded: 
 
1. Rattlesnake Creek Community Stewardship Program:    $1485 
2. “Every Cutthroat Counts” Upper Teton River Signage:    $775  
3. Chicago Creek WCT Re-introduction Project:    $3000 
4. Partnership for the Umpqua Rivers Outreach Project:    $2,000 
5. Apache Trout in the Classroom Project:      $3000 
6. “Surviving Climate Change” RGCT Watershed Assessment:   $3000  
7. McDonald Creek Water Quality Protection (partially funded):  $1740 
 
The WNTI is seeking additional funding for projects in future years. The current round of projects was 
funded by a $15,000 grant from the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (FWS). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



mailto:wnti.rknox@wispertel.net�





National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 6 
 


 8 


                  
           “A National Fish Habitat Partnership “ 
_______________________________________________________________________________________________                                                                                                                                                                              


 


REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 
 


AUGUST 29, 2011 


Contact: Robin Knox, Coordinator - Western Native Trout Initiative  
wnti.rknox@wispertel.net, 303-236-4402 
 
THE WESTERN NATIVE TROUT INITIATIVE (WNTI) IS SEEKING CANDIDATES 
FOR THE POSITION OF DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT 
 
Deadline for submission:  October 14, 2011 
 


JOB DESCRIPTION 
 


 
JOB TITLE:     DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT 
JOB FAMILY:    Fund-raising - Marketing 
FLSA STATUS:      Exempt 
JOB STATUS: Contract: Part-time, duration to be determined 
JOB START DATE: January 2012 
JOB LOCATION: Location to be determined 
 
 
ESSENTIAL FUNCTIONS: 
 
Responsible for the oversight, planning and implementation of a comprehensive development program 
that secures the significant financial resources from foundations, corporations, or individuals within the 
state/country to support western native trout conservation goals in the western United States. Manages all 
major gifts functions, which may include planned giving, principal gifts, donor prospecting and research, 
and fundraising campaigns.  Works with WNTI Steering Committee to establish fundraising goals and is 
accountable for these goals. Develops a plan for, and implements donor cultivation and solicitation. 
Responsible for developing a select group of prospects. Focuses on long-range strategic priorities, 
advances the Initiative’s goals, and communicates a broad vision to others. Understands and complies 
with all Western Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies gift-related policies and procedures and 
ensures ethical compliance, as defined by the Association for Fundraising Professionals. 


    



mailto:wnti.rknox@wispertel.net�





National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 6 
 


 9 


                  
           “A National Fish Habitat Partnership “ 


  2010 ANNUAL REPORT 
________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________                                                                                                                                                                               
 
2010: The Year in review. 
 


Milestones Accomplished: 
 
The Western Native Trout Initiative (WNTI) 
continues to be fully involved in the efforts to 
apply additional fiscal resources to the 
improvement of the status of western native 
trout.  Particularly notable was WNTI’s 
planning and execution of an all-western 
National Fish Habitat Partnerships meeting at 
the WAFWA July 2010 Summer meeting.   
 
As the National Fish Habitat Action Plan 
(NFHAP) is implemented, communication and 
cooperation between western partnerships is 
increasingly important.  This meeting was the 
first time that most of the partnerships had the 
opportunity to meet with their neighboring 
partnerships and share their ideas and plans for 
aquatic habitats and fish species under the 
NFHAP umbrella. 
 


 
 


2010 WNTI Focus Areas 
 


Internal Operations 
 
The Initiative had several areas of focus 
during the year.  They included: 
 Implementing improvements in the 


Intermountain Cutthroat Protocol 
database 


 NFHAP Project Management and 
Development 


 WNTI Web Page Management 
 NFHAP Involvement 


 Public Outreach and communication 
 
 
 
The Western Native Trout Initiative is an 
operation of the Western Association of Fish 
and Wildlife Agencies.  The WNTI operates 
under the auspices of the Inland and Marine 
Fisheries Committee., and is headed by an 
appointed Steering Committee that oversees the 
day to day functioning of the Initiative. 
 


WNTI Steering Committee 
 
There were several changes in State Agency and 
Tribal representation on the WNTI Steering 
Committee in 2010.  WNTI lost the Tribal 
representative and is seeking a replacement at 
this time.  The role of the Steering Committee is 
to provide guidance to the Initiative and its’ 
Coordinator on the implementation of the 
Strategic Plan and advancement of the WNTI 
Vision and Mission.  The current Steering 
Committee members are: 
 
Chair – Charles Corrarino – Oregon 
Co-Chair - Julie Carter AZ – Southwest States 
Craig Burley WA – Northwest States 
Rich Haskins NV – Great Basin States 
Roger Wilson UT – Intermountain States 
Christopher Estes – Alaska 
Mike Sloane NM – At Large 
Bruce Rich MT – At Large  
Bob Clarke – US FWS 
John Moore – BLM  
Dan Duffield – US FS  
Warren Colyer - Trout Unlimited  
Travis Ripley – Canadian Provinces 
Robin Knox, Coordinator 
 
The WNTI Steering Committee meets twice a 
year – during the Summer in conjunction with 


    







National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 6 
 


 10 


the WAFWA summer meeting – and in the Fall 
for the NFHAP project selection and ranking. 
_________________________________________________________    







Western Native Trout Initiative, 134 Union Blvd., Suite 665, Lakewood, CO  80216   


 “ We cannot do great deeds unless we are willing to do the small things that make 
up the sum of greatness”  Teddy Roosevelt, May, 1899 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 


WNTI Project Implementation  


 
In WNTI’s first five years (2006 - 2010), more 
than $2.14 million of NFHAP and MSCG 
funds have been applied to western native trout 
habitat, research and population enhancement 
projects across the West.  This funding is the 
result of collaboration between the WNTI 
member states, the National Fish Habitat 
Board, the US Fish and Wildlife Service, 
Tribal interests, and other non-governmental 
partners. 
 
In 2010, WNTI received $600,000 in National 
Fish Habitat Board Funding (NFHAP), and 30 
WNTI projects are in various stages of 
planning and construction.   The following list 
provides a peek at the scope of projects for 
western native trout that were completed in 
2010, and the projects that were newly funded 
by the 2010 NFHAP allocation: 
 
WNTI – 2010 completed projects 
• Eccles Creek Fish Passage - Alaska 
• Bear Creek Habitat Protection – Colorado 
• N. Thompson Ck. Habitat - Colorado 
• Georgetown Ck stream channel - Idaho 
• McDermitt Creek barrier – Nevada 
• Wolf Creek barrier improvement – 


Colorado 
• Fish ladder at St. Charles Ck. Transtrum 


diversion – Idaho 
• Honey Creek diversion – Oregon 
• N. Fk. Ahtanum Ck. Fish passage – WA 


 
Please visit the Western Native Trout 
Initiative’s web page - 
www.westernnativetrout.org - for detailed 
project reports and photos of the many 
completed projects. 
 
WNTI and NFHAP – 2010 funded project  
• OR – Deep Ck. And Crazy Ck. habitat 
• ID – St. Charles Ck. Habitat Part II 
• WA – Lower Wenatchee R. habitat 
• AZ – West Fk. Oak Creek renovation 


• NM - Tio Grande Ck. Barrier and habitat 
• CO – Bear Creek habitat protection 
• MT – Therriault Ck. Habitat improvement 
• MT – Four Mile Ck. Barrier and habitat 
• AK – Southeast AK stream flow analyses 


and protection 
• CO – Middle Fk. Thompson Creek riparian 


zone exclusions     
   ________________________________ 
 
During 2010, the efforts of WNTI are 
strongly supported by the National Fish and 
Wildlife Foundation’s cooperative habitat 
conservation programs and partnerships with 
the Jackson Hole One Fly Foundation and  
Trout Unlimited’s “Bring back the Natives” 
project- also supported the federal Bureau of 
Land Management and US Forest Service. 
___________________________________ 
 


Completed projects from 2008, 
2009, and 2010 National Fish 
Habitat Action Plan Funding: 
 
2009 WNTI partially funded Eccles Creek 
fish passage and habitat– Alaska 
 


 
 



http://www.westernnativetrout.org/�





Western Native Trout Initiative, 134 Union Blvd., Suite 665, Lakewood, CO  80216   


“I never won anything without hard labor and the exercise of my best judgment 
and careful planning and working long in advance.” Teddy Roosevelt, 1910 
______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 


2008 NFHAP Funded North Thompson 
Creek culvert and habitat - Colorado 


 
 


2009 NFHAP Funded Georgetown Creek 
Channel renovation - Idaho 


 
 


2009 NFHAP Funded McDermitt Creek 
barrier and habitat - Nevada 


 


2009 NFHAP Funded St. Charles Ck. 
Fish ladder -Idaho 


 2008 NFHAP Funded Wolf Creek 
barrier – Colorado 
 


 
 
 2010 NFHAP Funded Bear Creek 
Habitat protection – Colorado  
 







National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 6 
 


  13 


“ Of all the questions which can come before this nation, short of the actual preservation of its 
existence in a great war, there is none which compares in importance with  the great central 
task of leaving this land an even better land for our descendants than it is for us.”  Teddy 
Roosevelt 
__________________________________________________________________ 


WNTI Data Development 
  
Over the past 10 years, western state fishery 
agencies have utilized a GIS-based data system 
to prepare status reviews for most of the inland 
cutthroat trout populations.  In 2008 WNTI 
began actively supporting the redesign of the 
Intermountain Cutthroat Protocol (ICP) so that 
most species would have similarly constructed 
databases.  As part of that effort, WNTI held a 
multi-state data team meeting in Salt Lake City 
in April 2010 to discuss priorities for WNTI 
data management.  The work on developing a 
protocol for consolidating the multiple species 
will continue into 2011. 
 
WNTI has helped to fund updates of the 
Westslope cutthroat, the Rio Grande cutthroat, 
and in 2011, the Redband trout and the 
Colorado River cutthroat. 
 
During 2010, the Western Native Trout 
Initiative reviewed and made comments on the 
National Fish Habitat Assessment, which will 
be published in early 2011. WNTI also 
sponsored a presentation on the data at the 2010 
American Fisheries Society meeting in 
Pittsburg, PA in September 2010. 
___________________________________ 
 
Be sure to visit www.westernnativetrout.org 


          
________________________________________________ 


                                                                            
National Fish Habitat Action Plan 
(NFHAP) Involvement                         
 
During 2010, as a National Fish Habitat 
Partnership, WNTI has been actively involved in 


working with other partnerships in the National 
Fish Habitat Action Plan, and  
 
helping new and candidate partnerships develop 
their operating and governance structures. 
____________________________________ 
 
 WNTI participated in the 2010 National 


Casting call in Washington, DC. 
 
 WNTI promoted both the NFHAP and WNTI 


through booths and displays at the American 
Fly Fishing Trades Association Trade Show, 
the Federation of Fly Fishers Conclave, and the 
Western Division of the American Fisheries 
Society annual meeting.  


 
 WNTI gave an update on its activities and 


projects at the Wild Trout X Symposium in 
West Yellowstone, MT in September 2010. 


 
 The Coordinator represented WNTI interests 


at NFHAP Board meetings and numerous 
other venues during the course of the year. 


 
 Beginning in November 2010, the WNTI 


Coordinator has been on a NFHAP workgroup 
that is making recommendations on future 
NFHAP funding distributions to the various 
fish habitat partnerships.         


______________________________________________________ 
 


How can you help WNTI? 
 
You can help WNTI by making a product or cash 
donation and receive a free WNTI T-shirt. Send a 
donation to: 
Foundation for Western Fish and Wildlife 
2903 Saintsbury Plz.  #106 
Fairfax, VA  22031    
 







National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 6 
 


  14 


                 







National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 6 
 


  15 


National Fish Habitat Board Update on the September 7th, 2011 Western Fish 
Habitat Partnerships Discussion Meeting Held at the American Fisheries Society 


Annual Meeting in Seattle, WA 
___________________________________________________________________ 


 
FHPs represented: Western Native Trout Initiative, Desert Fish Habitat Partnership, 
Kenai Peninsula, Hawaii, Reservoir, Southeast Aquatic Resource Partnership, Mat –
Su Alaska, and Great Plains.  Candidate partnerships Southeast Alaska and Pacific 
Marine and Estuarine were also represented. 
(A complete list of attendees is attached) 
 
 
1.  FHP updates and reports – Each of the Partnership representative s gave a brief update on their activities and their 
process for soliciting potential 2012 NFHAP-funded projects.  Most have a deadline of October 1 to make sure the 
projects get entered into the Fish and Wildlife Service FONS system. 
 
Some key comments included:  
 
a) WNTI mentioned its current search for a Development Director, with an open RFP at this time, and reported on its 
new Small Grant Program that resulted in 14 project applications 
b) Desert Fishes mentioned it needed to find a foundation for holding donated funds that have been and will be 
received. 
c) Hawaii mentioned that they have had some Steering Committee overturn, and that their project request resulted in 
some science and data project proposals, but few habitat projects 
d) Mat-Su reported that they were planning their upcoming science and data meeting and had a project RFP out. 
e) Kenai reported that they were working on getting proposals submitted from their local groups 
f) Reservoirs reported that they had an RFP out for projects, that they were planning a partnership meeting in October at 
Lake Havasu City.  All are invited to attend. 
g) Southeast Alaska gave a brief description of the path they took to become a candidate partnership and passed out a 
fact sheet describing the SEAK plans for the partnership and the next steps they are taking. 
h) Pacific Marine & Estuarine passed out a fact sheet that described the Partnership with their reduced sphere of 
influence now that SEAK FHP has been formed for recognition. They have a new Coordinator and are working on 
developing their goals, priorities, governance structure and a Strategic Plan. 
 
2.  Status of 2012 NFHAP Budget -Tom Busiahn reported on the status of the 2012 NFHAP budget and guidance for 
the 2012 NFHAP project selection.  The FWS is working on the final guidance at this time, and the budget looks like it 
will be similar to the 2011 budget.  No one knows exactly how it will work out or when the 2012 budget will be 
finalized.  There is likely to be a request to include individual project budgets in the FHP prioritized project requests 
that get submitted to Washington.  This will require some additional work on the part of the Partnerships and the FWS 
regional FHP coordinators.  Details will be available in the final guidance from the Service. 
 
Tom also discussed briefly the NFHAP Board’s review of the NFH Action Plan and the effort to revise the plan and add 
some new objectives.  Tom distributed an information sheet that has the draft new objectives on it, and asked the FHPs 
to review and comment with suggestions and ideas.  Comments can be sent to – partner@fishhabitat.org 
 
The objectives are listed here: 







National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 6 
 


  16 


 
 
Tom also reminded the FHPs that there is an upcoming all-FHP tele-conference call on Thursday, September 29. 
 
 
3.  Discussion of the Fish Habitat Partnerships Evaluation Measures and Evaluation Process- 
 
The WNTI Coordinator, because he is on the working group that is developing the FHP evaluation process, asked the 
attendees to comment on the draft FHP evaluation process, timeline, and evaluation form that is being developed.  
There was a good discussion that clearly pointed out that the partnerships that were present did not have a good 
understanding of the process, what was expected from the review and exactly what outcomes would result from the 
review.   
 
Tom Busiahn was helpful, along with the Coordinator, is explaining the intent of the “test drive” of the evaluation 
process that all the partnerships are expected to be involved in. 
 
1. Relation to the 5-year FHP review - According to NFHAP Board policy, the FHPs are subject to a 5-year review.  
The development of the new evaluation process comes from recognizing the need for such reviews.  It is recognized 
that there is a wide range of FHP ages, from 5 years to less than 1 year, and that the reviews of an annual nature will be 
different for each of the partnerships due to that fact.  It was clarified that the current thinking is that a separate 5-year 
review will not need to be completed by the older FHPs, and that the completed first annual review will suffice for that. 
 
2.  Performance Measures -  It was explained to the group that the NFHAP Board had on July 27th, at the Wisconsin 
Board meeting, approved the testing of the FHP Performance Evaluation Measures to evaluate the how the process and 
the measures worked in a “test drive” situation.  The Board indicated that the performance measures would be subject 
to change depending on how well they worked in the Test Drive.  The Performance Measures are included here as an 
Appendix. 
 
3.  Draft Initial Performance Process, Timeline and Evaluation Form Handout - Robin Knox, the WNTI 
Coordinator, distributed the draft process and timeline sheet to the FHPs present to get their reaction and comments so 
that he could report back to the Evaluation workgroup suggestions on how to improve the draft process and the 







National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 6 
 


  17 


Evaluation Form.  In addition, the draft evaluation form was also distributed to the attendees to help them understand 
the process. 
 
There was quite a bit of discussion about the evaluation process and what the outcome of the “Test Drive” would be, as 
well as lots of confusion about how well the draft evaluation form questions meshed with the Performance 
Measures, and exactly what was being evaluated.  It was also pointed out that a new partnership, with only a year or 
less of projects, would have a far different response that an established FHP with 4 or 5 years experience. 
 
The outcomes of the discussion provided Robin with ideas that will be forwarded to the Evaluation workgroup for their 
consideration and modification of documents. 
 
One idea is that there needs to be just one cover letter, explicitly explaining that this evaluation is a “test” of the 
evaluation process and the performance measures, and that the measures and process will be modified as needed based 
on feedback and results. 
 
A second idea is to clarify that the evaluation is not an evaluation of the projects that have been chosen by a given 
partnership, but an evaluation of the process by which projects are chosen, monitored for outcomes and how a 
partnership has operated in choosing projects. 
 
A third idea is to separate the timeline and steps for the partnerships completion of forms from the timeline and steps 
that the Board review team will require.  This would make the instruction sheet a little more simple and easier to 
understand. 
 
In addition, a fourth idea was in the Evaluation Form, it was suggested that the Performance measure be listed with the 
evaluation question for clarity, and eliminating a need to have separate documents on hand. 
 
The attendees expressed some concern about the timeline and amount of work that would be required to a) hold 17 
different FHP conference calls and scheduling those; and b) getting the evaluations done during the timeframe when the 
FHPs are doing their project selection and ranking activities.   
 
 
4.  Future NFHAP Partnership meetings – Most attendees felt it was worthwhile to have these face-to-face meetings 
and discuss issues like understanding candidate partnerships, getting direct information on NFHAP issues like 
evaluations, and meeting the commitment to coordinate with other FHPs. 
 
The next logical place would be the AFS 2012 meeting in Minneapolis, which will be in an region where there are 
multiple FHPs.  It was decided by those present that Maureen Gallagher would be an excellent person to arrange the 
next FHP discussion. 
 
Submitted:  Robin Knox, WNTI Coordinator 
           September 10, 2011 








National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 7 
 


National Fish Habitat Partnership 
      Communications Strategy 


2012 
 


Introduction 
 
During the July 2011 meeting of the National Fish Habitat 
Board, the Board moved to further enhance the brand of the 
National Fish Habitat Action Plan as the National Fish Habitat 
Partnership. While the National Fish Habitat Action Plan will 
always be at the foundation, collectively we are moving 
forward with the larger initiative identified as the National 
Fish Habitat Partnership.   
 
This communications strategy framework guides the mission 
of the National Fish Habitat Partnership, as it strives to build 
an engaged community concerned with the conservation of our 
nation’s aquatic habitats.  The communications strategy as 
described in this document, will be implemented and, managed 
by the communications committee, and overseen by the 
National Fish Habitat Board to help meet the objectives set 
forth by the Action Plan for 2012 and beyond.      
 
The communications strategy for the National Fish Habitat 
Partnership is critical to issuing and promoting a common 
message and synergy among the Board, state agencies, federal 
caucus, fish habitat partnerships and developing “candidate” 
fish habitat partnerships and the national fish habitat partner 
coalition.  The strategy also emphasizes the importance of 
maintaining the National Fish Habitat Partnership as a state-
led effort in cooperation with our other partners.     
 
The direction of overall communications through the 
communications committee will improve the National Fish 
Habitat Partnership and make it a vehicle to engage additional 
partners as well as fuel the further growth of the Partners 
Coalition, bringing new opportunities to expand the 
constituency base of existing Fish Habitat Partnerships.   
 
 The committee emphasizes the value of communications as a 
tool for fostering lasting, productive relationships among 
diverse partners.  These relationships are what makes all our 
efforts to revive fisheries and waterways effective and builds 
credibility with a growing audience.   
 
Priority actions that this strategy will help guide in 2012 
are; website update, logo and brand enhancement guidance to 
the Board and Partnerships and re-visioning for our legislative 
communications needs.      


National Fish Habitat Action Plan 
Communications Committee 


 
Ryan Roberts, NFHAP Communications 
Coordinator (Chair) 
 
Laura MacLean, Director of Communications and 
Marketing, Association of Fish & Wildlife Agencies 
(Vice Chair) 
 
Lindsay Gardner, Communications Coordinator, 
Southeast Aquatic Resources Partnership 
 
Kris Gamble, Public Affairs, National Oceanic and 
Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) 
 
Joe Starinchak, Outreach Coordinator, U.S. Fish 
and Wildlife Service 
 
Maureen Gallagher, Midwest Regional 
Coordinator, U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service 
 
Dianne Timmins, Cold Water Fisheries Biologist, 
EBTJV, N. Hampshire Fish & Game Department 
 
Jeanne Hanson, Field Office Supervisor, Habitat 
Conservation Division, Alaska Region, National 
Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) 
Fisheries 
 
Stephanie Carman, Bureau of Land Management 
(BLM) 
 
Thomas Litts, Georgia Department of Natural 
Resources (Science and Data Committee liaison)  
 
Valerie Fellows, Public Affairs, U.S. Fish and 
Wildlife Service (FWS) 
 
Pat Rivers, Project Manager, Midwest Glacial 
Lakes Partnership 
 
Cecilia Lewis, Reservoir Fish Habitat Partnership, 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (FWS) 
 
Kayla Barrett, Desert Fish Habitat Partnership, 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (FWS) 
 
Callie McMunigal, Eastern Brook Trout Joint 
Venture, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (FWS) 
 
Board Liaison 
 
Karen Abrams, National Oceanic and Atmospheric 
Administration (NOAA) 
 
Tom Busiahn, NFHAP Coordinator, U.S. Fish and 
Wildlife Service (FWS) 
 
Board Oversight 
 
Mike Andrews, Chief Conservation Officer, The 
Nature Conservancy 
 
Krystyna Wolniakowski, Director, National Fish and 
Wildlife Foundation-NW 
 
 
 
 







 2 


 
The primary functions of the Communications Committee are as follows:      
 
 Serving in an advisory capacity to the National Fish Habitat Board and its staff, 


particularly in identifying outreach opportunities and potential challenges related to 
policy decisions. Committee members have different levels of expertise, some in marketing, 
some in communications and others with a familiarity of working with broad partnerships to 
expand their appeal.  Working together, the committee will operate in the most succinct 
manner possible, recognizing that individual efforts may be limited to advance the 
communications effort.  Despite a short and long term focus now established, further support 
and investment will be needed to meet the goals of the committee.  


 
 Developing professional communications materials to keep partners fully informed, 


foster mutually beneficial relationships, and encourage new partners to join Fish 
Habitat Partnerships.  The committee will continue to develop communications materials 
that are cohesive and complementary in message, design, and delivery to have the greatest 
impact for advancement of the work of the National Fish Habitat Partnership.  


 
 Maintain and fulfill a list of measurable outcomes for the work of the communications 


committee and Fish Habitat Partnerships. A list of outcomes will be maintained and built 
upon to show measurable results in terms of growth in media placement for Waters to Watch 
and other Fish Habitat Partnership related products.  Growing the National Fish Habitat 
Partnership Partner Coalition will be viewed as the ultimate outcome measure.  


 
 Foster partnerships with organizations specializing in marketing and communications.  


The committee will work to build mutually beneficial relationships with other organizations 
aimed at enhancing the brand and recognition of the Partnership.    
 


 
 Advance the work of the Fish Habitat Partnerships.  The committee recognizes the most 


important factor to promote through the National Fish Habitat Partnership is the work of the 
individual Fish Habitat Partnerships   FHPs are the work units of the National Fish Habitat 
Partnership.  The work of the Fish Habitat Partnerships, are of the utmost importance to 
showcase, especially how addressing the objectives in the National Fish Habitat Action Plan 
is making a difference.  Input by the Fish Habitat Partnerships is critical to making this 
function of the committee a reality.  Project updates and reports that show the Action Plan 
making a significant impact will be essential to elevating the work of the Fish Habitat 
Partnership and gaining recognition through media outlets.   Full establishment of a “ 10 
Waters to Watch” subcommittee will help to identify stories for 10 “Waters to Watch” 
projects, as well as Fish Habitat Partnerships overall.   


 
 Work to formalize the NFHP Learning Lab education initiative.  With the current 


learning lab initiative in a pilot program state, a clearly defined plan to advance the program 
into schools and educational curriculum is needed and is a long term priority of the 
committee.  Getting into some individual classrooms will be the best way to grow the 
program initially. 


 
 Advance the passage of the National Fish Habitat Conservation Act.  Coordinate with our 


legislative team to create the best communications support materials to help advance the 
passage of the National Fish Habitat Conservation Act.  This is a primary objective for the 
committee to focus on as directed by the National Fish Habitat Board.       







 3 


 
 
 
Communication Channels 
 
National Fish Habitat Partnership communications target the following primary networks to build 
awareness, support, engagement, advocacy, and action in various forms. The committee will 
work through these networks to reach out to their constituencies and local groups.   
 
(Internal): 
   
National Fish Habitat Board  
 
Communications will promote the Board’s leadership, coordination, and facilitation role, and 
support the Board in serving as ambassadors and influential advocates for the National Fish 
Habitat Partnership in policy arenas. 
 
Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies and State Agencies 
 
Communications will support the Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies in serving as the 
main conduit for communications with state fish and wildlife agencies. Communications also will 
support the association’s role in assisting states align priorities and resources for Fish Habitat 
Partnerships.  The Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies serves as a direct connect to State 
Fish and Wildlife Agency Directors and other related staff contacts that are critical to inform and 
seek input from on the work of the Partnership.  
 
Federal Caucus 
 
Communications will also benefit the cohesiveness of the National Fish Habitat Federal Caucus, 
by informing the Caucus of communications initiatives and outreach efforts of the committee at 
scheduled meetings led by the US Fish & Wildlife Service.  Working to inform policy makers 
and political appointees within federal agencies, on the work of the National Fish Habitat 
Partnership, will be critical to advancing our efforts and helping them to recognize the work of 
the partnership as a priority within their agencies.   
  
Partner Coalition  
 
The Partner Coalition will serve as tool when applicable as an outlet for information sharing as 
well as spreading the word of NFHP in a grass roots manner.   
 
 
Fish Habitat Partnerships 
 
Developing communications that strategically illustrate what the National Fish Habitat 
Partnership is all about in compelling ways is one of the most important contributions the 
committee can make.  The fish habitat conservation projects are the marketable force for 
communications, rather than the Action Plan.  More visibility and emphasis on Fish Habitat 
Partnerships through website updates and media outreach will be a key to growing a community 
of support for future projects and assist in obtaining future sustainable funding for partnerships 
and their projects. 







 4 


 
(External): 
 
Broader visibility through the media will help grow the community of support for the National 
Fish Habitat Partnership and shine a light on the work of Fish Habitat Partnerships, as well as 
influence future policy and investments significantly.  The “10 Waters to Watch” campaign is the 
most significant element of the National Fish Habitat Action Plan to date to receive media 
attention.  Building upon this attention and coordinating future site visits when possible, with 
media outlets and policy makers, will help raise awareness of the Partnership and Action Plan, as 
well as the Fish Habitat Partnerships.  
 
Social Media 
The National Fish Habitat Partnership currently has a small social media presence on Facebook 
and LinkedIn.  Working to expand our reach in these mediums could help bring additional partner 
coalition members into the fold in support of the National Partnership and will at a minimum 
serve as a forum to relay stories about the good work of the Partnerships under the guidance of 
the Action Plan.  Staying current with these mediums will be important for us to stay on the 
cutting edge of social media fronts.    
 
Trade Shows/Meeting Exhibits 
 Maintaining a presence among our constituents, by having displays at Trade shows and meetings 
across the country will help advance the work and reach of the National Fish Habitat Partnership.  
Whenever possible we should work to get out in front of these audiences to help grow our 
community of support.   
 
 
 
Communication Vehicles  
 
WEBSITE  
 
The www.fishhabitat.org  webpage is in the process of its second revision and is the most critical 
component of National Fish Habitat Partnership communications as the main source of 
information. The website builds upon and houses all of the communications documents for the 
Partnership.  In the technologically savvy world that is a reality today our website needs to be 
direct and succinct to get our message and is our main vehicle for communication.  
 
There is a need to clarify the working parts of the National Fish Habitat Partnership in a 
understandable way.  The Partnership is built upon the National Fish Habitat Action Plan, which 
is at the core.  The National Fish Habitat Board oversees the work of the Plan and Fish Habitat 
Partnerships as well as establishing policies for the Partnership.   The National Fish Habitat 
Partnerships are the working units of the National Partnership, striving to make a significant 
difference through on-the-ground conservation actions that protect, restore and enhance fish 
habitat at a landscape scale.    
 
 
 Promote broader communications flow and interaction among partners.   
 
 Maintain the website with fresh content to reflect partner and project updates. 


 



http://www.fishhabitat.org/�





 5 


 The website will be used as a landing spot for all Board related decisions relevant to the 
Action Plan and will also house the relevant work of the three committees operating under the 
National Fish Habitat Partnership.    


 
 Through the development of its revised website The National Fish Habitat Partnerships will 


have an opportunity to have a sub-site created, which would incorporate the look and feel of 
the National Fish Habitat Partnership website, while operating independently.   Having this 
capability will help streamline our overall communications effort under the Partnership.   The 
Fish Habitat Partnerships will also have a presence on the National Partnership website, 
listing a brief description about the partnership as well as listing a link for the partnership’s 
website.  Also, candidate partnerships will all have a spot on the website for informational 
purposes.  It has also been determined that Fish Habitat partnerships, will use the moniker 
“Fish Habitat Partnership” at the end of the partnership name (example: Eastern Brook Trout 
Joint Venture: a Fish Habitat Partnership.) Partnerships should also include a link back to the 
National Fish Habitat Action Plan website. 
 


 
 The 10 Waters to Watch Initiative has been the best effort established by the committee to 


reach the public and our partners to fully explain what the Action Plan is and showcase some 
of the great work done by our partners.   This continues to be an excellent way to reach our 
audiences.  However improvements to this effort can be made by maintaining updates on 
projects and gathering socioeconomic data on how these projects are making a beneficial 
difference with minimal investment.  Working on ways to improve the numbers of 
publications we reach out to and furthering the amount of people our message reaches will be 
a critical objective to the 10 Waters to Watch list for the future.    
     


 The National Fish Habitat Awards have been the main platform to recognize the important 
work of our partners, in science and data, education and outreach as well as leadership.  
Working to increase submissions and maintain the integrity of the awards as high honor in 
fish habitat conservation remains a priority.  Establishing the announcement for submissions 
and reaching a broader audience for the awards will be essential for improving the Awards 
for the future.   


 
 
E-MAIL NEWSLETTERS  
 
E-mail newsletters are another source of communication and are the chief outreach tool for 
maintaining contact with our Partner Coalition. Newsletters are the most succinct way to reach 
out to this audience and inform them about Fish Habitat Partnership news both locally and 
nationally.   
 
Other outreach tools:  
 
Fact Sheets including: 
 
 National Fish Habitat Action Plan (“one-pager”) 
 Annual Update “Status of Fish Habitat’s Report”, including Q’s and A’s 
 State Fact sheets created for “Status Report” 
 National Fish Habitat Partnership Map  
 10 Waters to Watch fact/update sheets 


 







 6 


 
 
 
PowerPoint Presentations 
 
A compilation of National Fish Habitat PowerPoint presentations on the core elements of the 
Action Plan will be made available on the web for partner use.   
 
 
Traveling Display  
 
A traveling display describing core elements of the Action Plan has been created, and will be 
updated and refined as needed to meet the desires of the committee and Board.  This will assist 
partners in establishing a prominent presence at major conferences and other venues with 
potential to expand awareness and support for the National Fish Habitat Partnership and work of 
the Action Plan. 
 
  
Keystone Communications (Appendix A) 
Operational Standards (Appendix B) 
2012 Events (Appendix C) 
 
 
 
 







 7 


APPENDIX A) 
Keystone Communications   
 


• An enhancement of the National Fish Habitat Action Plan brand in 2011 to the National 
Fish Habitat Partnership will help us be more identifiable and marketable in the 
conservation community.      
 


• The National Fish Habitat Action Plan is modeled after the tremendously successful 
North American Waterfowl Management Plan, begun 20 years ago to recover 
plummeting waterfowl populations.  The foundation of this model is a focus on “joint 
venture” habitat centers to leverage partners’ resources and effort.  In just five years the 
Action Plan has moved the needle in aquatic habitat conservation through the proven 
habitat conservation progress that our Fish Habitat Partnerships have made on the 
ground.       
 


• The National Fish Habitat Action Plan provides a framework to foster more effective 
networking among local and regional partners so that resources can be aligned more 
strategically, progress can be evaluated, and conservation approaches can be continually 
refined. 
 


• “Fish Habitat Partnerships” are the application of the lager National Fish Habitat 
Partnership.  They are established voluntarily at the local and regional level and based on 
the consolidation of the best scientific expertise on fisheries and habitat management. 
 


• Fish Habitat Partnerships are coordinated nationally, which helps ensure efforts are 
sustainable and accountable, recognizing the need for long-term investments and 
demonstrable results.      
 


• The Action Plan’s initial Fish Habitat Partnerships, focused on fisheries considered 
especially vulnerable to further habitat degradation and population declines, have shown 
great ability to leverage the resources of diverse partners effectively. 


 
• Significant investments have been provided through federal appropriations and multi-


state grants.  These investments have proven to be a worthwhile investment, by proof that 
on the ground conservation activities under NFHAP are making a difference and have led 
to positive results in conservation.    


 
 
 
 







 8 


(APPENDIX B) 
Operational standards  
 
 Stay Connected:  Ensure partners are fully informed on a timely basis on current Partnership 


activities and significant developments.  Provide multiple means of sharing among partners to 
facilitate more effective collaboration.  Strive for a two-way communication path between 
staff and Fish Habitat Partnerships.   


 
 Keep the Message Universal:  Equip partners with versatile communications tools to serve as 


ambassadors in helping to advance partner recruitment and advocacy for the National Fish 
Habitat Partnership.  Working with the states and purveying the Partnership, as a state-led 
effort, will help ensure all our efforts will resonate more clearly across the country.  
Maintaining the Partnership as a state-led effort is supported by the make-up of the National 
Fish Habitat Board (four regional AFWA representatives) and the Executive Leadership 
team.  The Board Chairman, through the Board charter, is a state representative and by 
practice the Board vice-chair is a state representative.  Western Partnerships who state their 
intent to apply for recognition by the Board are vetted through the Western Association of 
Fish and Wildlife Agencies.  Over half of the 17 established Fish Habitat Partnerships, fall 
within the Western Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies regional boundaries.  Federal 
seed monies through the Fish Habitat Partnerships are often leveraged with state funding and 
overall project support and coordination.  The committees under the National Fish Habitat 
Partnership are made up of state, federal and non-governmental members and regularly 
coordinate with state fisheries administrators on issues that affect the National Partnership 
and States.     


 
 Spread the Word:   Look for and take advantage of opportunities of event venues that involve 


or reach large numbers of partners and potential partners to promote awareness and support 
for the National Fish Habitat Partnership and help to build our Partner Coalition for the 
future.  


 
 Focus on Fish:  A number of programs exist today at a broad national scope that center 


around bird conservation and wildlife conservation.  However there are few national 
programs out there like this for fish conservation.  Many specialized programs exist like fish 
passage however these are narrow in their charge.  The National Fish Habitat Partnership 
offers a national program that meets a great void.  Our communications efforts can help to 
guide a grassroots effort to further the work of the Fish Habitat Partnerships under the 
guidance of the Board. An additional focus on how the National Fish Habitat Partnership 
makes a positive impact to quality of life, healthy economies, healthy fish, healthy people and 
water quality is a focus of the communications strategy.  


 
 Tribal Ties:  Tying our work to the tribes nationally through the Native American Fish and 


Wildlife Society at the Board leadership level is an important step to enhance the status of the 
National Partnership with tribal agencies.  Establishing better connections with tribes at the 
individual fish habitat partnership level will help to strengthen our overall relationship with 
tribal agencies.   


 
 







 9 


(APPENDIX C) 
2012 Events 
 
Below is a listing of events that would be a good fit for the National Fish Habitat Partnership to 
have a display table at in 2012.  A priority order for these events will be discussed internally, 
dependent on resources and timing to attend these events.  These events will help grow the 
Partner Coalition and help get the word out about the Partnership.   
 
The Fly Fishing show 2012 (January/February) - http://www.flyfishingshow.com/   
Eastern Sports and Outdoors show (February) 2012 - http://www.easternsportshow.com/ 
2012 Casting Call Events (April) 2012 – http://www.nationalcastingcall.com/     
River Rally 2012 (May) - http://www.rivernetwork.org/  
ICast 2012 (July) - http://www.icastfishing.org/orlando.html 
IFTD (August) 2012- http://www.theflyfishingexpo.com/       
AFS Annual Meeting (September) 2012 - http://www.fisheries.org/afs/  
 



http://www.flyfishingshow.com/�

http://www.easternsportshow.com/�

http://www.nationalcastingcall.com/�

http://www.rivernetwork.org/�

http://www.icastfishing.org/orlando.html�

http://www.theflyfishingexpo.com/�

http://www.fisheries.org/afs/�






National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 8 
 


National Fish Habitat Action Plan Funding Allocation Framework 
 
Background 
 
In response to the National Fish Habitat Board’s (Board) guidance that National Fish Habitat 
Action Plan (NFHAP) funds should be allocated through a competitive block grant type process, 
the Criteria Development Committee (Committee) developed two funding allocation options, 
which were presented to the Board during its July 2011 meeting.  At the completion of the 
Board’s discussion on these funding allocation options, the Committee was asked to obtain Fish 
Habitat Partnership (FHP) input on their preference for either option 1 or option 2 and present 
the preferred funding option to the Board for possible approval at its October 2011 meeting. 
 
An email was sent to all seventeen FHPs on August 11, 2011, which contained an attachment 
that highlights what the two options have in common as well as their principal differences (see 
below).  A link to the full description of both options was also included.  FHPs were asked to 
review the two NFHAP funding allocation options and to respond with the partnership’s 
preference. 
 
Nine of the seventeen FHPs provided input on the funding allocation option they preferred, with 
eight of the nine selecting option 2.  The other responding FHP indicated the partnership did not 
favor either option (see letter from SARP for further details). 
 
Commonalities between NFHAP Funding Allocation Option 1 and Option 2 
 
Both options: 
 Require the submission of multi-year funding requests. 
 Provide FHPs with funding that can be used to support their operations. 
 Call for a Board appointed panel to review the funding requests and rate each submission 


against a standard set of criteria.  
 
Principal Differences between NFHAP Funding Allocation Option 1 and Option 2 
 
Option 1: 
 Contains separate frameworks for allocating funds supporting FHP operations and 


priority habitat conservations projects. 
 Uses a process for allocating funds in support of priority habitat conservation projects 


that may result in some FHPs being unsuccessful in obtaining any of the available 
funding. 


 
Option 2: 
 Allocates lump sum funding that FHPs can use for both operations and priority habitat 


conservation projects. 
 Includes a mechanism that ensures each FHP will receive funding that can be directed 


towards priority habitat conservation projects. 
 Incorporates FHP performance as a funding allocation criterion.  







National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 8 
 
NFHAP Funding Allocation Option 2 
 
1. During each fiscal year, up to $400,000 in NFHAP funds will be allocated to the Board in 


support of the national fish habitat assessment, a data delivery system, communications, 
outreach, and other efforts essential to NFHAP and FHPs.  To minimize its use of NFHAP 
funds the Board will focus on meeting as many needs as possible through other funding and 
in-kind sources.  However, if an essential NFHAP need cannot be funded or addressed by 
any other means, the amount of NFHAP funding allocated to the Board’s annual budget may 
exceed the $400,000 cap. 


 
2. NFHAP funds that are available to support the operations and projects of the FHPs will be 


allocated through 3-tier framework.  FHPs are authorized to use the allocated funds for 
operations (coordination, outreach, travel, etc.) and for priority fish habitat conservation 
projects (habitat restoration, assessment, planning, etc.) to maximize results, with no 
restrictions on how the funds are split between operations and projects. 


 
a. Tier 1 consists of funds that will be allocated to each FHP at a level of $75,000/year as 


stable base funding. 
 


b. Tier 2 consists of funds that will be allocated annually to support 3-year strategic 
implementation plans submitted by each FHP.  These plans will contain the following 
information: 


 
i. The NFHAP and/or FHP priorities, goals, and objectives that plan addresses. 


 
ii. The approach that will be used to accomplish the identified NFHAP and/or FHP 


priorities, goals, and objectives. 
 


iii. The geographic area(s) covered by the plan. 
 
iv. The types of operational functions and/or projects to be funded under the plan and 


how each identified item relates to implementing the plan. 
 


v. The process that will be used to identify high quality projects, including a 
proposed timeline for solicitation, project sub-award, and initiation of on-the-
ground implementation. 


 
vi. The anticipated outputs and outcomes the plan is expected to produce (acres 


restored or stream miles to be made accessible to diadromous fish, ecological and 
socioeconomic outcomes, or other measures). 


 
vii. The education and/or outreach method(s) that will be used to disseminate 


information on the plan’s outputs and outcomes. 
 
viii. The FHP’s resources and capabilities to administer the NFHAP funds allocated to 


the plan. 







National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 8 
 


 
ix. The amount of NFHAP funds requested in support of the plan and the anticipated 


amount of matching funds. 
 


The minimum amount of Tier 2 funding an FHP would receive is 1% of the available 
funding and the maximum is 20% of the available funding.  The  level of NFHAP 
funding an FHP receives in support of its 3-year strategic implementation plan will be 
based on a quantitative scoring process conducted by a Board appointed panel that will 
evaluate the following factors on a scale of 1 [lowest] to 10 [highest]: 


 
i. The potential of the plan to implement priority conservation actions that would 


result in long-term improvements in ecologically and regionally significant 
aquatic systems. 


 
ii. The potential of the plan to provide sustainable, long-lasting benefits including 


realistic goals for monitoring and maintenance to ensure longevity of conservation 
actions. 


 
iii. The extent to which the plan involves multiple partner groups and operates across 


jurisdictional boundaries. 
 


iv. The degree to which the individual project selection process used by the FHP is 
competitive. 


 
v. The capabilities of the measures being used to demonstrate the effectiveness of 


conservation actions implemented under the plan. 
 


vi. The level of administrative resources and capabilities available to the FHP to 
support and successfully manage grant-type funding, and the FHP’s track record 
on project accountability and tracking. 


 
vii. The capacity of the plan’s education and outreach methods to advance public 


awareness of the FHP and NFHAP and transfer knowledge on lessons learned. 
 


viii. The extent the plan leverages the investment of NFHAP funds through matching 
contributions and/or use of partnerships, including the amount of cash or in-kind 
match available to support implementation of conservation actions.  


 
c. Tier 3 consists of funds that will be allocated to FHPs for a 3-year period based on past 


performance, as evaluated by application of the Fish Habitat Partnership Performance 
Evaluation Measures approved by the Board.  FHPs that receive less than 50% of the 
performance evaluation measure points will be eligible for 1% of the available funds; 
FHPs that receive between 50% to 75% of the available performance evaluation measure 
points will be eligible for up to 10% of the available funds; and, FHPs that receive more 
than 75% of the performance evaluation measure points will be eligible for up to 20% of 
the available funds. 







National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 8 
 


 
For the initial round of allocation, 90% of the available funds will be apportioned to Tier 2 
funding and 10% to Tier 3 funding.  As FHPs performance records mature, this funding 
allocation will shift to apportioning 75% of the available funds to Tier 2 funding and 25% to 
Tier 3 funding in the second round, and then to a 50/50 split between Tier 2 and Tier 3 
funding in the third and subsequent rounds. 


 








Coordinator: Scott Robinson 


2123 Hwy 278 SE 


Social Circle GA 30025 


scottr@southeastaquatics.net 


phone: 770-361-5639 


fax: 706-557-3040 


www.southeastaquatics.net 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


With Partners, Protect, Conserve, and Restore Aquatic Resources Including Habitats Throughout The Southeast, For The 
Continuing Benefit, Use And Enjoyment Of The American People 


  


 


Mr. Steve Perry        September 5, 2011 


National Fish Habitat Board 


11 Hazen Drive 


Concord, NH 03301 


      


RE:  SARP Comments on Proposed Funding Allocations 


 


 


Dear Steve: 


 


Thank you for the time and effort that you and the other committee members put in to 


development of these proposed funding allocations.  .  We all recognize that available funding is 


not sufficient to fully address the challenge of conserving aquatic habitats across the county, and 


that we will achieve the greatest conservation benefits by allocating limited resources to the 


greatest needs.  We appreciate the difficulty of identifying the greatest needs in a rational and 


equitable manner. 


SARP is concerned that the “block grant” approach the committee was directed to take will 


disproportionately favor regions of the country that chose to form multiple, smaller, and in many 


cases overlapping FHPs.  We are also concerned that both of the proposed options  will be 


burdensome to the FHPs, will add to the uncertainty associated with a lack of long-term funding, 


will be too subjective, and do not adequately consider the resources and resource challenges 


being addressed by the FHPs.  For these reasons and more we think that neither option is 


desirable for funding allocations to FHPs. 


We suggest that any funding allocation methodology should take into account the vast 


differences in the size and scope of the FHPs and the issues that each FHP addresses.  We 


believe the following items should be considered when allocating funds:Number of active 


partners:  The coordination and management of a multi-State partnership is much more 


complex and labor intensive than managing a one or two state partnership.  The workload is 


much greater in gathering comments, sharing information, and incorporating input from multiple 


State and Federal partners than working with partners from a single State. 


Area and Types of Aquatic Habitat:  The amount of available aquatic habitat in an FHP 


influences the complexity of coordinating and managing a partnership.  The habitat types – 


riverine, coastal, reservoir, lakes, estuarine, etc. – all affect the number of partners and 


constituents involved in managing the partnership. 


Aquatic Species:  The logistics of dealing with a single fish or mussel species or a family of 


species is much different than addressing the needs of multiple species in a given landscape.   


 


 


 


 


 







Page 2 of 2: SARP Comments on Funding Allocations 
 


 


With Partners, Protect, Conserve, and Restore Aquatic Resources Including Habitats Throughout The Southeast, For The 
Continuing Benefit, Use And Enjoyment Of The American People 


 


2 


Human Population Impacts within the FHP:  The State Wildlife Grants Program, Endangered 


Species Program, the Sport Fish Restoration Program, and the Wildlife Restoration Program (DJ 


and PR) use the size of the State and human populations in a formula to allocate funds.  States 


with a large population base will see growth and development encroaching on farmland, forests, 


and aquatic resources like rivers, reservoirs, and coastal estuaries reducing areas of prime habitat 


for fish and other aquatic species.  FHPs in high population density areas will see greater impacts 


to the aquatic resource than those FHPs of vast undeveloped land and protected lands.  Data has 


demonstrated the correlation between the number of at risk fish species in the eastern and 


southeastern United States and increased population levels (NatureServe Central Databases, 


2007).  We suggest the Board also consider the number or percentage of stream miles, coastal 


acres, and miles of shoreline listed as impaired or polluted in a FHPs coverage area when 


developing funding allocations.  


 


There are several methods already being used within the federal system for allocating funding to 


states for wildlife and fisheries conservation programs, such as those mentioned in the previous 


paragraph.  We suggest the committee and the Board consider those methodologies, both of 


which take important factors other than geographic area into consideration.    


We also suggest that some consideration of FHPs record of success with NFHAP funds, existing 


framework, infrastructure, ability to leverage funds and partners, and level of participation in 


NFHAP by the partnerships be taken into consideration.  SARP has actively participated in all 


aspects of NFHAP for the past five years and more.  We have participated in numerous NFHAP 


committees and workgroups, and expended partnership funds on habitat assessment, travel, 


education about NFHAP, recruitment of partners, and promotion of NFHAP.  Significant cuts in 


NFHAP funding could jeopardize much of the progress made by SARP on behalf of NFHAP.  


Again, we thank you and the committee for your service, and we hope this process leads to a 


satisfactory solution that ultimately improves fish habitat conservation. 


 


 


   Sincerely, 


 


   Scott Robinson (signed) 


 


 


 








FHP Performance Evaluation Packet                                       National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 9a 
  


 1 


Fish Habitat Partnership Performance Evaluation 
 


Process, Timeline, and Evaluation Form 
September 14, 2011 


 
Background 
 
The National Fish Habitat Action Plan (NFHAP) is an unprecedented national effort to 
build and support strategic partnerships for fish habitat conservation. The Action Plan 
establishes principles that challenge Fish Habitat Partnerships (FHP) to address 
conservation priorities, as well as measure and report on their progress. A high level of 
commitment to these principles distinguishes the Action Plan and its Partnerships from 
other fish habitat conservation efforts. 
 
To uphold the high standards set by NFHAP, the National Fish Habitat Board (Board) is 
requesting that each recognized FHP demonstrate its level of performance in support of 
priority fish habitat conservation projects and accomplishing core operational functions 
(i.e. coordination, scientific assessment, strategic planning, data management, project 
administration, communications, and outreach).  
 
At its July 2011 meeting, the Board conditionally approved a set of FHP performance 
measures, and initiated a “test drive” of the evaluation process.  It’s important to note 
this test drive is not focused on generating an overall rating or comparison of FHP 
performance levels but rather it’s intended to provide:  
 
a) An assessment of the overall FHP performance evaluation process; 
 
b) An evaluation of the relevance of the FHP performance measures and the 


scoring system; and, 
 
c) Input from FHPs that will help the Board finalize the performance measures 


and process used to complete the evaluations. 
 
Included in this packet is an overview of the performance evaluation process and its 
timeline (Part I) and an evaluation form that includes the individual performance 
measures and the criteria that will be used to guide the assessment of an FHP’s level of 
performance for each measure (Part II). 







FHP Performance Evaluation Packet                                       National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 9a 
  


 2 


Part I.  Fish Habitat Partnership Performance Evaluation Process and 
Timeline 
 
Step 1:  A performance evaluation packet will be sent to the coordinator or Steering 
Committee Chair of each Fish Habitat Partnership by September 30, 2011.   
 
Step 2:  Between October and mid-November, 2011, the Chair of the Criteria 
Development Committee will hold regional conference calls with representatives from 
each of the associated FHPs to discuss any questions they may have regarding 
completing the performance evaluation form.   
 
New Step 3: FHPs will complete the performance evaluation forms and email them to the 
Criteria Development Committee’s Chair Stephen Perry (stephen.perry@wildlife.nh.gov) 
by December 31, 2011. 
 
Step 4:  The Board will establish a 5-person review team, who will independently review 
the completed evaluation forms and determine the FHP’s level of performance for each 
measure using a scale of 1 to 4 (low to high).  Once the review team completes the 
independent scoring task, the scores will be averaged for each of the measures.  The 
review team will collectively discuss each FHP’s performance evaluation outcome and 
where warranted, make recommendations on how an FHP might improve their level of 
performance for specific measures.  All components of this step will be completed by 
early-February, 2012. 
 
Step 5:  The performance evaluation outcomes and any associated recommendations for 
improvement will be sent to each FHP for their review and considerations by late-
February, 2012. 
 
Step 6:  The review team will schedule conference calls with representatives of each FHP 
to discuss the performance evaluation outcomes and to solicit FHP feedback on all facets 
of the evaluation process during March and early-April, 2012. 
 
Step 7:  The review team will brief the Criteria Development Committee on the lessons 
learned from test driving the evaluation of FHP performance and make recommendations 
on how the measures and the process can be improved by late-April, 2012. 
 
Step 8:  The Criteria Development Committee will present a report on the outcomes from 
the FHP performance evaluation test drive to the Board for their considerations and 
actions during their summer 2012 meeting. 
 



mailto:stephen.perry@wildlife.nh.gov�





FHP Performance Evaluation Packet                                       National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 9a 
  


 3 


Part II.  Fish Habitat Partnership Performance Evaluation Form 
 
Instructions:  The ten performance measures listed on the following pages are being 
“test driven” at the request of the Board.  Please be aware that these measures are not 
aimed at evaluating the fish habitat conservation projects themselves, but rather the 
processes by which your FHP selects the projects it supports in conjunction with how 
your partnership executes its core operational functions (i.e. coordination, scientific 
assessment, strategic planning, data management, project administration, 
communications, and outreach).  Please provide a complete description of the 
information requested for each performance measures as the review team will rely on 
your responses when assessing your FHP’s level of performance, using a scale of 1 to 4 
(low to high).  The time period that is being covered by this performance evaluation test 
drive is the 2011 calendar year (Jan 1 – Dec 31). 







FHP Performance Evaluation Packet                                       National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 9a 
  


 4 


Performance Measures 
 
1. List the title of each of your FHP’s fish habitat conservation projects approved for 


funding during calendar year 2011 and identify the specific strategic priority (i.e. 
geographic focus areas, habitat types, key stressors or impairments) and/or the 
NFHAP Final Interim Strategies & Targets each project addresses. 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________________________________________________ 
Note:  The intent of this measure #1 is to evaluate the level to which an FHP is addressing its strategic 
priorities and/or NFHAP Final Interim Strategies & Targets with fish habitat conservation projects. The 
Performance Review Team will use the criteria listed below to guide its assessment of performance for this 
measure. 


 
a. Less than 70% of the FHP’s fish habitat conservation projects during the 2011 calendar year clearly 


focused on addressing FHP strategic priorities and/or NFHAP Final Interim Strategies & Targets (1 
point). 


b. 70% to 79% of the FHP’s fish habitat conservation projects during the 2011 calendar year clearly 
focused on addressing FHP strategic priorities and/or NFHAP Final Interim Strategies & Targets (2 
points). 


c. 80% to 89% of the FHP’s fish habitat conservation projects during the 2011 calendar year clearly 
focused on addressing FHP strategic priorities and/or NFHAP Final Interim Strategies & Targets (3 
points). 


d. 90% or more of the FHP’s fish habitat conservation projects during the 2011 calendar year clearly 
focused on addressing FHP strategic priorities and/or NFHAP Final Interim Strategies & Targets (4 
points).  


________________________________________________________________________ 







FHP Performance Evaluation Packet                                       National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 9a 
  


 5 


2. Describe the indicators that are being used to measure short and long term progress 
toward achieving desired conservation outcomes (effectiveness measures) for each of 
fish habitat conservation projects identified under #1. 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________________________________________________ 
Note:  The intent of measure #2 is to evaluate the level to which an FHP is using indicators that measure 
short and long term progress toward achieving desired conservation outcomes for its fish habitat 
conservation projects.  The Performance Review Team will use the criteria listed below to guide its 
assessment of performance for this measure. 


 
a. Less than 50% of the FHP’s fish habitat conservation projects during the 2011 calendar year clearly 


identified and employed effectiveness measures (1 point).  
b. 50% to 69% of the FHP’s fish habitat conservation projects during the 2011 calendar year clearly 


identified and employed effectiveness measures (2 points).  
c. 70% to 89% of the FHP’s fish habitat conservation projects during the 2011 calendar year clearly 


identified and employed effectiveness measures (3 points).  
d. 90% or more of the FHP’s fish habitat conservation projects during the 2011 calendar year clearly 


identified and employed effectiveness measures (4 points).  
________________________________________________________________________ 







FHP Performance Evaluation Packet                                       National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 9a 
  


 6 


3. Describe the vulnerable fish habitat that is protected or the causes and processes 
behind fish habitat decline that are being addressed by each of each of fish habitat 
conservation projects identified under #1. 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________________________________________________ 
Note:  The intent of measure #3 is to evaluate the level to which an FHP focuses on conservation projects 
that protect vulnerable fish habitats or address causes and processes behind fish habitat decline.  The 
Performance Review Team will use the criteria listed below to guide its assessment of performance for this 
measure. 


 
a. Less than 50% of the FHP’s fish habitat conservation projects during the 2011 calendar year clearly 


focus on protecting vulnerable fish habitats or addressing the causes and processes behind fish habitat 
decline (1 point).  


b. 50% to 69% of the FHP’s fish habitat conservation projects during the 2011 calendar year clearly focus 
on protecting vulnerable fish habitats or addressing the causes and processes behind fish habitat 
decline (2 points).  


c. 70% to 89% of the FHP’s fish habitat conservation projects during the 2011 calendar year clearly focus 
on protecting vulnerable fish habitats or addressing the causes and processes behind fish habitat 
decline (3 points).  


d. 90% or more of the FHP’s fish habitat conservation projects during the 2011 calendar year clearly 
focus on protecting vulnerable fish habitats or addressing the causes and processes behind fish habitat 
decline (4 points).  


________________________________________________________________________ 







FHP Performance Evaluation Packet                                       National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 9a 
  


 7 


 
4. In aggregate for all the projects listed under #1, what is the total amount of NFHAP 


funds (i.e. US Fish and Wildlife Service NFHAP funds) allocated in support of these 
projects and what is the total amount of funding from all other sources? 


 
 
 


NFHAP Funds = 
 
 
 


All Other Funds = 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________________________________________________ 
Note:  The intent of measure #4 is to evaluate the level to which an FHP is leveraging NFHAP funds in the 
fish habitat conservation projects it supports.  The Performance Review Team will use the criteria listed 
below to guide its assessment of performance for this measure. 
 


a. In aggregate, the FHP’s fish habitat conservation projects during the 2011 calendar year were 
supported by less than a 1:1 match for the NFHAP funds (1 point).  


b. In aggregate, the FHP’s fish habitat conservation projects during the 2011 calendar year were 
supported by a 1:1 to 1.5:1 match for the NFHAP funds (2 points).  


c. In aggregate, the FHP’s fish habitat conservation projects during the 2011 calendar year were 
supported by a 1.6:1 to 2:1 match for the NFHAP funds (3 points).  


d. In aggregate, the FHP’s fish habitat conservation projects during the 2011 calendar year were 
supported by more than a 2:1 match for the NFHAP funds (4 points).  


________________________________________________________________________ 







FHP Performance Evaluation Packet                                       National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 9a 
  


 8 


5.  Describe the process and the criteria your FHP used to prioritize the fish habitat 
conservation projects listed under #1. 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________________________________________________ 
Note:  The intent of measure #5 is to evaluate the process an FHP is using to prioritize fish habitat 
conservation projects for NFHAP funding.  The Performance Review Team will use the criteria listed 
below to guide its assessment of performance for this measure. 
 
a. The FHP’s process for prioritizing fish habitat conservation projects for NFHAP funding during the 


2011 calendar year had no clear rating standards in place (1 point).  
b. The FHP’s process for prioritizing fish habitat conservation projects for NFHAP funding during the 


2011 calendar year had clear rating standards in place but they only partially meet the criteria listed 
under 1.10 in FWS Manual 717 FW1 (2 points).  


c. The FHP’s process for prioritizing fish habitat conservation projects during the 2011 calendar year had 
clear rating standards in place that meet all the criteria listed under 1.10 in FWS Manual 717 FW1 (3 
points).  


d. The FHP’s process for prioritizing fish habitat conservation projects for NFHAP funding during the 
2011 calendar year has clear rating standards in place that are more comprehensive than the criteria 
listed under 1.10 in FWS Manual 717 FW1 (4 points).  


________________________________________________________________________ 







FHP Performance Evaluation Packet                                       National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 9a 
  


 9 


6. Describe the ways your FHP engaged (i.e. coordinated, collaborated, cooperated, 
consulted) with neighboring or overlapping FHPs and other regional habitat 
conservation entities during the 2011 calendar year. 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________________________________________________ 
Note:  The intent of measure #6 is to evaluate the level to which an FHP is engaging (i.e. consultation, 
coordination, collaboration) neighboring or overlapping FHPs and other regional habitat conservation 
entities.  The Performance Review Team will use the criteria listed below to guide its assessment of 
performance for this measure. 
 
a. The level of engagement with neighboring or overlapping FHPs and other regional habitat 


conservation entities during the 2011 calendar year only included consultations (1 point).  
b. The level of engagement with neighboring or overlapping FHPs and other regional habitat 


conservation entities during the 2011 calendar year included consultation and coordination (2 points).  
c. The level of engagement with neighboring or overlapping FHPs and other regional habitat 


conservation entities during the 2011 calendar year included collaboration on a joint project (3 points). 
d. The level of engagement with neighboring or overlapping FHPs and other regional habitat 


conservation entities during the 2011 calendar year included collaboration on multiple joint projects (4 
points). 


________________________________________________________________________ 







FHP Performance Evaluation Packet                                       National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 9a 
  


 10 


7. Describe your FHP’s use of science-based resource condition assessments and/or 
analysis to identify the priority conservation actions undertaken during the 2011 
calendar year. 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________________________________________________ 
Note:  The intent of measure #7 is to evaluate the level to which an FHP is using science-based resource 
condition assessments and/or analysis to identify its priority conservation actions.  The Performance 
Review Team will use the criteria listed below to guide its assessment of performance for this measure. 
 
a. The FHP’s use of science-based resource condition assessments and/or analysis assisted with 


identifying no more than one priority conservation action during the 2011 calendar year (1 point). 
b. The FHP’s use of science-based resource condition assessments and/or analysis assisted with 


identifying two to three priority conservation actions during the 2011 calendar year (2 points). 
c. The FHP’s use of science-based resource condition assessments and/or analysis assisted with 


identifying four to five priority conservation actions during the 2011 calendar year (3 points). 
d. The FHP’s use of science-based resource condition assessments and/or analysis assisted with 


identifying more than five priority conservation actions during the 2011 calendar year (4 points). 
________________________________________________________________________ 







FHP Performance Evaluation Packet                                       National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 9a 
  


 11 


8. Describe the outreach aimed at raising awareness and understanding of your FHP’s 
strategic priorities (i.e. geographic focus areas, habitat types, key stressors or 
impairments), its conservation activities, and changes in habitat conditions that 
occurred during the 2011 calendar year. 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________________________________________________ 
Note:  The intent of measure #8 is to evaluate the quality and quantity of outreach an FHP aims towards 
raising awareness and understanding of the FHP’s strategic priorities, its conservation activities, and 
changes in habitat conditions.  The Performance Review Team will use the criteria listed below to guide its 
assessment of performance for this measure. 
 
a. The FHP’s outreach effort during the 2011 calendar year was limited to information sharing (1 point). 
b. The FHP’s outreach effort during the 2011 calendar year included information sharing and building 


broader visibility among local and regional partners (2 points). 
c. The FHP’s outreach effort during the 2011 calendar year included information sharing, building 


broader visibility among local and regional partners, and tailoring activities and events to garner media 
coverage (3 points). 


d. The FHP’s outreach effort during the 2011 calendar year included information sharing, building 
broader visibility among local and regional partners, tailoring activities and events to garner media 
coverage and developing strategic communications aimed at strengthening relationships among policy-
makers (4 points). 


________________________________________________________________________ 







FHP Performance Evaluation Packet                                       National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 9a 
  


 12 


9. Describe the ways that your FHP coordinated its aquatic resource data and regional 
assessment information with the NFHAP Science and Data Committee during the 
2011 calendar year. 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________________________________________________ 
Note:  The intent of measure #9 is to evaluate the level to which an FHP is coordinating its aquatic 
resources data and/or regional assessment information with the NFHAP Science and Data Committee for 
use with the national information system: 
 
a. The FHP’s efforts to facilitate information exchange with the NFHAP Science and Data Committee 


during the 2011 calendar year were minimal (1 point). 
b. The FHP facilitated information exchange with the NFHAP Science and Data Committee during the 


2011 calendar year by providing regional data sets or project outcomes for integration into the NFHAP 
National Assessment (2 points). 


c. The FHP facilitated information exchange with the NFHAP Science and Data Committee during the 
2011 calendar year by providing regional data sets and project outcomes for integration into the 
NFHAP National Assessment (3 points). 


d. The FHP facilitated information exchange with the NFHAP Science and Data Committee during the 
2011 calendar by providing regional data sets and project outcomes for integration into the NFHAP 
National Assessment; and, the information and data related to project evaluations were described in an 
annual report (4 points). 


________________________________________________________________________ 







FHP Performance Evaluation Packet                                       National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 9a 
  


 13 


10. List your FHP’s strategic priorities (i.e. geographic focus areas, habitat types, key 
stressors or impairments) and describe the progress that has been made toward 
achieving these priorities during the 2011 calendar year.  Also include an assessment 
on whether your FHP feels it’s on track with the anticipated schedule for 
accomplishing each of these priorities. 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________________________________________________ 
Note:  The intent of measure #10 is to evaluate the level to which an FHP is measuring progress towards 
achieving its strategic priorities. 
 
a. The FHP made limited progress toward achieving its strategic priorities during the 2011 calendar year 


(1 point). 
b. The FHP made progress toward achieving its strategic priorities during the 2011 calendar year, but is 


behind its anticipated schedule for completion (2 points). 
c. The FHP made progress towards achieving its strategic priorities during the 2011 calendar year and is 


on track or ahead of its anticipated schedule for completion (3 points). 
d. The FHP has achieved one ore more of its strategic priorities during the 2011 calendar year (4 points). 
________________________________________________________________________ 








National Fish Habitat Board meeting 
October 19-20, 2011 


Tab 9b 
 
 


 1 


Effectiveness Measures for NFHAP Conservation Actions 
 
Proposal: 


 
To have the National Fish Habitat Board (Board) formally request that the Science and Data 
Committee facilitate the development of a framework for evaluating the effectiveness of 
conservation actions implemented under the National Fish Habitat Action Plan. In conjunction 
with this request, the Board would like to see the following outputs: 


 
 Pilot-test examples of how the effectiveness measures framework can be applied to different 


types of NFHAP conservation actions as well as recommend a process for extending this 
framework to cover other relevant conservation actions; 


 
 A determination of the information technology systems required to implement the 


framework; and, 
 
 Recommendations as to how this framework is best implemented by Fish Habitat 


Partnerships. 
 
 
Background: 
 
The Board charged the Criteria Development Committee with developing effectiveness measures 
for NFHAP conservation measures; however, specialized expertise is needed to accomplish this 
task. 








 
Desert Fish Habitat Partnership 


2007-2010 Report 
  


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 


Bringing together people and organizations with a common interest in voluntary 
conservation of desert fishes and their habitats. 


 
The Desert Fish Habitat Partnership (DFHP) was initiated in 2005 to conserve native 
desert fish by protecting, restoring, and enhancing their habitats in cooperation with 
state and tribal fish and wildlife agencies, federal resource agencies, research and 
private organizations, and engaged individuals.  The DFHP seeks to address critical fish 
and aquatic habitat conservation needs in the Great Basin and Mohave, Sonoran, and 
Chihuahuan deserts in southwestern United States.  These lands support 179 non-
salmonid native fish taxa prioritized for conservation by the DFHP under the guidance of 
the western states’ State Wildlife Action Plans and the National Fish Habitat Action Plan 
(NFHAP).  
 


• November 2005: Initial discussions concerning a desert fish habitat partnership 
at the Desert Fishes Council Meeting, Cuatro Cíenegas, Coahuila, MX.   


Milestones 


• November 2006: Partnership development meeting, Death Valley, CA 
• January 2007: First DFHP teleconference 
• February 2007: DFHP presentation to NFHAP Board 
• March-May 2007: DFHP teleconferences to shape the partnership 
• June 2007: DFHP begins applying for funding 
• November 2007: Steering Committee Meeting, Ventura, CA 
• February – December 2008: Strategic Plan development 
• April 2008: Candidate Fish Habitat Partnership Project Funded: Red Rocks        


Cíenega, NM 
• June 2008:  Strategic Planning Workshop, Salt Lake City, UT 
• March 2009: formal Partnership recognition by NFHAP Board 
• May 2009: Steering Committee Meeting, Albuquerque, NM 
• October 2009: NFHAP Project funded: Myton Diversion Fish Passage, UT 
• April 2010: “Waters to Watch”—Fairbanks and Soda Springs, NV; Green River 


Basin, CO, UT, WY 







• October 2010: DOI Partners in Conservation Award—recognition of partners for 
work in southern Arizona on native desert fishes 


• November 2010: Steering Committee Meeting, Moab, UT 
• December 2010: NFHAP Projects Proposed for Funding: Phantom Lake Spring 


Restoration, TX; Mud Springs Habitat Protection, AZ; Mountain View Creek 
Nonnative Species Barrier, NV; Apcar Spring Connectivity Restoration, NV. 


 


In 2007, the DFHP developed a Framework for Strategic Conservation of Desert Fish 
and has used this document to guide daily and long-term activities.  From the 
Framework, the principal goals of the DFHP are: 


Framework for Strategic Conservation of Desert Fish: Achievements and Goals 


• Protect and maintain intact healthy aquatic ecosystems supporting desert fish 
habitats 


• Prevent further degradation of desert fish habitats that have been impaired 
• Reverse declines in the quality and quantity of desert fish habitats to improve the 


overall population status of desert fishes and other aquatic organisms 
• Increase the quality and quantity of fish habitats that support a broad natural 


diversity of desert fishes and other native aquatic species 
 


To accomplish this, the DFHP established the following priorities: 
 
1. Integrate State Wildlife Action Plan priorities with the National Fish Habitat Action 


Plan (NFHAP) strategies to include the following:  
• Protect intact and healthy habitats. 
• Restore and maintain flow and water levels. 
• Restore connectivity, while protecting native populations at-risk from nonnative 


encroachment. 
• Remediate and minimize sediments and excessive input of nutrients to habitats 


supporting species at-risk. 
 


In 2008, each DFHP partner state reviewed their State Wildlife Action Plan (SWAP) 
priority species and habitats to determine the focus of the DFHP.  A review of these 
plans identified 179 native fish species occurring within the geographic scope of the 
DFHP, excluding salmonids, occurring in four priority habitats in the desert: rivers, 
streams, springs, and cíenegas.  The DFHP then further prioritized species and 
habitats to focus on the species which are unique to the deserts of North America, 
highly imperiled, and underserved by lacking adequate management and resources 
to ensure effective conservation.  The outcome of this effort produced a numerical 
ranking system from 0.9 to 2.8, with the highest priority desert fish species receiving 
scores greater than 2. 


Accomplishments to Date 


 
2. Implement on-the-ground projects that focus actions to protect the most under-


served, imperiled desert fish species identified in SWAPs to enhance their 
conservation status and prevent their extirpation and extinction. 


 







Beginning in 2008, with Candidate Partnership funding from the NFHAP and 
USFWS, the DFHP began implementing on-the-ground projects for the conservation 
of desert fish. 


Accomplishments to Date 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Restoration of Red Rock Cíenega, NM.  Fish Species Addressed (Rank): Gila 
chub (2.11) and Gila topminnow (2.00). Total Project Cost: $100,000.  Beginning 
in 2008, New Mexico Department of Game and Fish partnered with Arizona Game 
and Fish Department and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service to restore cíenega habitat at 
Red Rock State Wildlife Area in southeastern New Mexico.  Direct funding was 
provided by USFWS National Fish Habitat Partnership Demonstration Project funds 
($60,000) and the Central Arizona Project Native Fishes Restoration funds 
($20,000), with in-kind resources provided by the partners.  The historical cíenega 
was manually deepened, nonnative vegetation removed, and a pump installed to 
secure perennial water in times of drought.  Following completion of the construction 
and establishment of native vegetation and invertebrates, the agencies stocked Gila 
topminnow and Gila chub.  These populations double the numbers of each species 
in New Mexico, significantly impacting recovery efforts.  The cíenega will provide 
habitat for native waterfowl, neotropical birds, and amphibians, as well as the 


Map of Desert Fish Habitat Partnership projects, 2008-
2010. 







endemic fish.  A boardwalk and signage will increase the recreational and education 
value of the wildlife area. 
 


 
 


Myton Diversion, UT. Fish Species Addressed (Rank): flannelmouth sucker 
(2.00), bluehead sucker (1.89), roundtail chub (2.00), and Colorado pikeminnow 
(1.67). Total Project Cost: $320,000.  Myton Diversion, located on the Duchesne 
River, approximately 43 river miles above the confluence of the Green River, does 
not currently allow fish to move from the lower reaches of the Duchesne River into 
the upper reaches of the Duchesne River.  A fish passage structure will restore 
connectivity between fish populations of flannelmouth sucker, bluehead sucker, and 
roundtail chub above and below the diversion, which will restore gene flow and 
migratory capabilities of the species and increase the amount of habitat and the 
ability to select better habitat of each individual.  The structure will also allow 
upstream movement of Colorado pikeminnow.  The implementing agency is the Ute 
Indian Tribe and partnering agencies/organizations are U.S. Fish and Wildlife 
Service and Utah Division of Wildlife Resources. 


 


 


 


 


 
 
 
 


Red Rock Cíenega after restoration. Red Rock Cíenega area prior to restoration. 


Myton Diversion on Duchesne River, UT. 







Fairbanks and Soda springs, NV. Fish Species Addressed (Rank): Ash 
Meadows Armagosa pupfish (1.67) and Ash Meadows speckled dace (2.00). 
Total Project Cost: $100,000.  This project on Ash Meadows National Wildlife 
Refuge restored two miles of spring outflow following historic flow patterns, which 
allowed the discharge from Fairbanks Spring to be returned from old agricultural 
ditches to sinuous natural channel.  Additionally, open box culverts were installed in 
the spring outflow stream to restore fish passage.  These structures are designed 
with replaceable baffles that allow the emergency placement of drop barriers to 
protect restored habitats if nonnative fishes are found in the lower spring outflow in 
the future.  Although native riparian vegetation restoration and removal of nonnative 
fish remain, Ash Meadows speckled dace were released into the restored upper 
Fairbanks Spring outflow in spring 2010.  The fish appear to be successfully re-
establishing in the system for the first time in 50 years with evidence of recruitment 
observed this summer.  The implementing agency is U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 
and partnering agencies/organizations are the National Fish Passage Program and 
Nevada Department of Wildlife.  Funding for project implementation was provided by 
the National Fish Passage Program. 
 


 
 


 
 
3. Prioritize projects to conserve and restore habitat for the most under-served, 


imperiled desert fish species. 


 
In 2009, the Desert Fish Habitat Partnership began soliciting for projects under 
the NFHAP.  The DFHP received seven project proposals in 2009, ten project 
proposals in 2010, and eleven project proposals in 2011.  The Request for 
Proposals (RFP), the guidance provided to potential responding entities, and the 
evaluation criteria used in ranking the submissions are based upon the priorities 
set forth in the Framework and are available on DFHP’s website.  In each year, 
projects were first reviewed and ranked within each DFHP geographic subregion, 
then prioritized across the partnership.  The four projects listed here are identified 
for US Fish and Wildlife Service-National Fish Habitat Action Plan FY2010 
funding within the $90,000 identified for the DFHP. 


Accomplishments 


Fairbanks Spring new outflow channel prior 
to re-vegetation with native plant species.  


Photo Credit Harry Konwin 
 


Ash Meadows Amargosa pupfish 







Phantom Lake Springs Cíenega Habitat Restoration, TX.  Fish Species 
Addressed (Rank): Comanche Springs pupfish (1.89) and Pecos gambusia 
(1.89). Total Project Cost: $108,000.  Flow from Phantom Lake Spring has 
been continually declining since measurements began in the 1940s. 
Corresponding aquifer levels in Phantom Cave have dropped 2.5 feet in the last 
10 years.  Five endemic and highly imperiled species of fish and invertebrates 
occupy the cíenega maintained by the spring flow and their populations are 
threatened by the declining water and unreliable pumping system now in place. 
This project will modify the existing altered cíenega to make it larger, more 
natural, and more reliable.  The implementing agency is U.S. Fish and Wildlife 
Service and partnering agencies are U.S. Bureau of Reclamation and Texas 
Parks and Wildlife Department.  
 
Mud Springs Fish Introduction and Habitat Protection, AZ. Fish Species 
Addressed (Rank): desert pupfish (2.11) and Gila topminnow (2.00). Total 
Project Cost: $31,280.  This project entails the installation of a fence around 
Mud Springs near Tonto Basin to protect it from cattle and unauthorized cross-
country vehicular travel.  This spring complex has several artificially constructed 
ponds surrounded by submergent and emergent vegetation.  Water seeps into a 
wetland dominated by clover and spikerush.  A pipe and trough will be installed 
to provide water to cattle outside the fence.  Two endangered fish species, desert 
pupfish and Gila topminnow, will be stocked into the pond and an information 
kiosk provided nearby to educate the public.  The implementing agency is U.S. 
Forest Service (Tonto National Forest) and partnering agencies are Arizona 
Game and Fish Department and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 
 
Mountain View Creek – Nonnative Species Barrier, NV. Fish Species 
Addressed (Rank): Wall Canyon sucker (2.67) and speckled dace (1.00). 
Total Project Cost: $11,500.  A population of Wall Canyon sucker persists in 
Mountain View Creek, a tributary to Wall Canyon Creek downstream of Wall 
Canyon Reservoir.  This section of Wall Canyon Creek supports limited 
populations of nonnative brown trout and crayfish, both of which have had severe 
implications for the Wall Canyon sucker population in Wall Canyon Creek.  This 
project will assist in completing design and construction of a barrier that prevents 
or slows the invasion of the nonnatives.  After barrier construction, intensive 
crayfish trapping will be used to eliminate or drastically reduce the population that 
exists upstream of the proposed barrier locations.  The implementing agency is 
Nevada Department of Wildlife and partnering agency is U.S. Fish and Wildlife 
Service. 


 
Moapa Dace-Apcar Box Culvert, NV. Fish Species Addressed (Rank): 
Moapa dace (1.89), Moapa White River springfish (1.89), Virgin River chub 
(2.11), and Moapa speckled dace (1.56). Total Project Cost: $250,304.  Apcar 
Spring is one of 25 thermal springs that help create the Muddy River in Clark 
County, Nevada, and historically supported Moapa dace, an endangered minnow 
endemic to the Warm Springs area.  The upper Apcar system was recently 







rehabilitated and now supports a breeding population of Moapa dace, but is 
effectively cut off from adult and juvenile habitat downstream by an undersized, 
perched culvert.  This project would replace the existing culvert with a box 
culvert, thus removing a velocity barrier and restoring connectivity for this 
important portion of the Moapa dace’s habitat.  The implementing agency is U.S. 
Fish and Wildlife Service and partnering agencies are Nevada Department of 
Wildlife, U.S. Geological Survey, Bureau of Land Management, and Southern 
Nevada Water Authority.  The majority of implementation funding will be provided 
by the National Fish Passage Program.  


 
Additionally, the DFHP has been working with a variety of groups to develop 
assessment and prioritization tools for use throughout the desert west.  These 
include:  
 
Lower Colorado River Basin Threat Assessment.  Conservation of the unique 
fish fauna of the Lower Colorado River Basin is imperative; however, the optimal 
allocation of resources for conservation is challenged by incomplete information.  
To this end, conservation priorities for individual stream segments were 
developed based on diversity scenarios of taxonomy, species traits representing 
functional roles (e.g., life history), and phylogeny using multiple parameters 
including: 1) a threat index developed from anthropogenic stressors, 2) models of 
species distributions, 3) point locations for species with few collection records, 4) 
stream connectivity (based on location of major dams), and 5) nonnative species 
richness.  Major watersheds containing areas of high conservation value include 
the Virgin River, lower reaches of the Little Colorado River, upper reaches of the 
Gila River, Verde River, upper reaches of the Salt River, Santa Cruz River, and 
the San Pedro River.  The agreement between diversity scenarios for the highest 
ranking 10% of stream segments was 75%.  Taxonomic diversity was generally 
better represented in protected lands compared to functional and phylogenetic 
diversity.  These analyses are preliminary and will be refined using projected 
climate change and human influences on impervious surface cover.  The project 
is on schedule to be completed by September 2011. 
 
Trout Unlimited’s Conservation Success Index Assessment for Green River 
Basin.  Trout Unlimited developed the Conservation Success Index (CSI) in 
order to become more strategic and effective in conservation efforts.  Using the 
CSI, the conservation status of all native coldwater fishes is quantified and 
mapped such that comparisons of existing condition, threats, future security, and 
management opportunities can be made across watersheds, river basins, and 
entire species.  The CSI has now been expanded to include warmwater fish as 
well.  Trout Unlimited is currently working on the final report for extending the CSI 
to the entire Upper Colorado River Basin, focusing on Colorado River cutthroat 
trout, roundtail chub, bluehead sucker, and flannelmouth sucker. 


 
 







The DFHP has been actively involved in the development and implementation of 
NFHAP related efforts.  Some highlights include: 


National Fish Habitat Action Plan Involvement 


• Science and Data Committee Team Meeting, March 2008 
• Informational booth at AFS Meeting, February 2008 
• Presentations at Board Meetings attended: February 2007 and March 2009 
• NFHAP One-Year-Out Workshop, Leesburg, VA, June 2009 
• Comments on the Status of Fish Habitats Assessment Report, 2010 
• Presentation at the NFHAP Symposium, 2010  
• Presentation for the Federal Caucus Meeting, August 2010 


 


One of the primary goals of the DFHP is to increase awareness, not only of the DFHP 
and NFHAP, but to educate professionals and private citizens about the importance and 
conservation of desert fish.  Efforts on behalf of the DFHP include: 


Outreach and Communications 


1. Presentations at meetings: 
• Desert Fishes Council 39th Annual Meeting, November 2007 
• AZ/NM American Fisheries Society-The Wildlife Society Joint Annual 


Meeting, February 2008 
• Arizona Native Fish Conservation Team meetings, February and March 2008 
• BLM Fisheries State Biologist meeting, March 2008 
• Western Division of American Fisheries Society, May 2008 
• Native American Fish and Wildlife Society, Southwest Regional Meeting, 


June 2008 
• International Congress for Conservation Biology (Society for Conservation 


Biology), July 2008  
• AZ/NM American Fisheries Society-The Wildlife Society Joint Annual 


Meeting, February 2009 
• Arizona Native Fish Conservation Team Meeting, February 2009 
• National Conference on Ecosystem Restoration, July 2009 
• Southwestern Climate Change Workshop, April 2010 
• Webinar on Conservation of Endangered Fish Species, December 2009 
• Fish Passage Workshop, July 2010 
• International Congress for Conservation Biology (Society for Conservation 


Biology), July 2010 
• Western Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies, Western Fish Habitat 


Partnerships Meeting, July 2010 
• American Fisheries Society, NFHAP Symposium, September 2010 


 
2. Informational booths at: 


• AZ/NM American Fisheries Society-The Wildlife Society Joint Annual 
Meeting, February 2008 


• Native American Fish and Wildlife Society, Southwest Regional Meeting, 
August 2010 


• Desert Fishes Council Meeting, November 2010 
• World Wildlife Fund, River Restoration Meeting, December 2010 







 
3. A website providing information about the DFHP including the Framework, RFPs, 


updates, and contact information is hosted by the National Park Service. 


 
www.nature.nps.gov/water/DFH_partnership.cfm 


4. A quarterly newsletter beginning in summer 2010. 
 


5. A Facebook page including RFPs, newsletters, updates, partners, and pictures 
was launched to reach out to the public.  


 
www.facebook.com/pages/Desert-Fish-Habitat-Partnership/193053497376208  


The Operating Structure, formally presented in the Framework in 2008, defines the roles 
and responsibilities of the DFHP partners.  The Operating Structure was updated in late 
2010 to better reflect the organization and administration of the Partnership. 


Coordination and Administration 


 
Steering Committee is a self-directed group of partner representatives, the decision-
making body of the DFHP and has oversight responsibility for all DFHP activities 
composed of one individual from each of the following:  


Arizona Game and Fish Department Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife 
U.S. Bureau of Land Management Southwest Tribal Fisheries Commission 
U.S. Bureau of Reclamation Texas Parks and Wildlife Department 
California Department of Fish and Game The Nature Conservancy 
Colorado Division of Wildlife Trout Unlimited 
Desert Fishes Council U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 
Idaho Department of Fish and Game U.S. Geological Survey 
National Park Service U.S. Forest Service 
Native American Fish and Wildlife Society Utah Division of Wildlife Resources 
Natural Resources Conservation Service Washington Game and Fish Department 
Nevada Department of Wildlife Wyoming Game and Fish Department 
New Mexico Department of Game and Fish  
 
Executive Committee serves as the daily governing arm of the DFHP; it oversees the 
responsibilities of the coordinator, interacts with the National Fish Habitat Action Plan 
Board and the Western Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies, and responds to 
issues that require immediate response.  Membership, drawn from the Steering 
Committee and At-Large Council, is made up as follows: 
 
Federal Agency Representative (Co-chair) Rio Grande Representative 
State Agency Representative (Co-chair) U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Liaison (R2) 
Basin and Range Representative Non-Governmental Representative 
Upper Colorado River Representative Tribal Organization Representative 
Lower Colorado River Representative  
 



http://www.nature.nps.gov/water/DFH_partnership.cfm�





At-Large Council, formally called the Partnership-At-Large-Council, includes all 
individuals, groups, and agencies beyond the voting members of the Steering 
Committee who would like to participate in the DFHP.  Although the At-Large Council 
cannot vote, they can attend meetings, participate on the Executive, Science and Data, 
and ad hoc committees, and provide or receive technical and financial assistance.  
Currently, there are 32 members on the At-Large Council. 


 
Science and Data Committees, Regional Workgroups, and ad hoc Committees are 
utilized by the DFHP to address long- and short-term goals. 
 
Coordinator provides primary staff support to the DFHP Steering and Executive 
committees and is responsible for record keeping, disseminating information, and 
coordinating and facilitating overall implementation of actions and projects.  The 
Coordinator position was staffed by the Bureau of Land Management from 2008-2009 
(Heidi Blasius) and is currently provided by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (Kayla 
Barrett).   


 
The DFHP holds a teleconference every two months to discuss issues, set priorities, 
and make decisions.  Meetings are held annually, often in conjunction with the Desert 
Fishes Council meeting in November. 
 


The following people have served on the Desert Fish Habitat Partnership between 2007 
and 2010: 


Acknowledgements 


 
Chris Cantrell (AGFD)** Mike Montoya (SWTFC) 
Jeff Sorensen (AGFD)* Tom Collazo (TNC) 
Tyler Abbott (BLM) Megan Bean (TPWD)* 
Jarrod Kosa (BLM) Gary Garrett (TPWD)** 
Tom Mendenhall (BLM) Daniel Dauwalter (TU) 
John Moore (BLM) Krissy Wilson (UDWR)* 
Karl Stein (BLM) Cynthia Tait (USFS) 
Robert Clarkson (BOR) Amy Unthank (USFS) 
Henry Messing (BOR) Nathan Allan (USFWS) 
Glenn Yoshioka (CDFG) Kayla Barrett (USFWS) 
Harry Crockett (CDOW) Jody Brostrom (USFWS) 
Greg Gerlich (CDOW) Morgan Elmer (USFWS) 
Heidi Blasius (DFC)* Stewart Jacks (USFWS)* 
Scott Grunder (IDFG)  Jennifer Fowler-Propst (USFWS) 
Daniel Fairbanks (NAFWS) Scott Roth (USFWS) 
Jon Sjöberg (NDOW)* Dan Shively (USFWS) 
Stephanie Carman (NMDGF/BLM)* Jeremy Voeltz (USFWS)* 
David Propst (NMDGF) Matthew Andersen (USGS) 
Melissa Trammell (NPS) Jeanette Haegele (USGS) 
John Wullschleger (NPS) Mike Saiki (USGS) 







Kathryn Boyer (NRCS)** Robin Schrock (USGS) 
Paul Scheerer (ODFW) David Zafft (WGFD) 
  


 


 
Italics indicates current Steering Committee member 
* Indicates current Executive Committee member 
** Indicates previous Executive Committee member 
 
 
 
 
 


DFHP Members at the DFHP Annual Meeting in Moab, UT, November 
2010. 








Rio Grande Silvery Minnow Sanctuary  
National Fish Habitat Board Field Trip 


Draft Itinerary 
Thursday October 20 


 
 
 
1:30 pm:  Leave FWS 
 
1:30 -1:50 pm:  Arrive at site 
 
1:50-2:30 pm: Overview of facility, history, purpose and operation (Jason Remschardt, New 


Mexico Fish and Wildlife Conservation Office) 
 


2:30-3:30 pm: Discussion, questions, walk around site. 
 


3:30pm: Leave Sanctuary 
 
4:00pm: Return to FWS  
 


 
 


 
 








 
 
 


Rio Grande Silvery Minnow Sanctuary 
Middle Grande Project – Collaborative Program 
May 2009 
 
 
The Rio Grande Silvery Minnow Sanctuary (RGSMS) 
was conceived by former Senator Pete Domenici. 
Mr. Domenici proposed this idea to Reclamation and 
cooperating agencies about the possibility of creating a 
habitat for the Rio Grande silvery minnow 
“Hybognathus amarus” (RGSM) along the Rio 
Grande bosque near Albuquerque, New Mexico. 
 
After investigating potential locations along the Rio 
Grande, the final location was selected in southwest 
Albuquerque approximately 2 miles south of Bridge 
Street, just off 2nd Street SW.  See “General Location 
Map” for additional details. 
 
The Middle Rio Grande Conservancy District 
(MRGCD) acquired water from the Albuquerque 
Riverside Drain through the State Engineer’s Office 
for the project.  The U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service 
(USFWS) will be operating and managing the facility.  
During construction Reclamation will provide 
technical guidance and oversight for the project.  
Albuquerque Open Space will provide guidance in 
how the RGSM naturalized channel will integrate into 
the Rio Grande Valley State Park. 
 
The Rio Grande Silvery Minnow Sanctuary consists of 
the following four major features: 
 
• Intake Pump Building. 
• Filter Building. 
• 1,400 linear feet of naturalized channel. 
• Outlet Building. 
 
 


General Location Map 
 


 
 
 







 


 2


 Intake Pump Building foundation and weir. 
 


 Start of layout for the naturalized channel prior to 
 construction activities. 


Intake Pump Building.–  This facility is located along 
side the Albuquerque Riverside Drain and houses two 
40 HP vertical axial pumps which lift the water out of 
the Riverside Drain and push it through the levee in a 
PVC pipe to the Filter Building. 
 
Filter Building.–  This facility is located approximately 
250 feet west of the Intake Pump Building and houses 
the large rotating drum filter.  This bio-filter is 
optimized to meet the environment requirements for the 
RGSM.   
 
Naturalized Channel.–  The 1,400 linear feet of channel 
consists of sand bottom and cobble side slopes and will 
have boulders and tree trunks placed through the 
channel, creating habitat for the RGSM.  USFWS will 
use this facility for investigating naturalized rearing 
strategies, life history aspects, and community 
education, etc. to assist in RGSM recovery. 
  
Outlet Building.–  This facility is located south of the 
Filter Building and houses the controls for circulating 
water and sediment back to the filter building.  Also, 
housed in this building are the rotating drum screens 
that keep the RGSM confined within the naturalized 
channel and provide water discharge methods to the Rio 
Grande and Albuquerque Riverside Drain. 
 
The RGSMS was constructed in the following phases: 
 
Phase I.–  This work consists of constructing the Intake 
Pump Building foundation and weir at the Albuquerque 
Riverside Drain.  Phase I was constructed by contract 
with AJAC, Inc. 
 
Phase II.–  Construction of the Naturalized Channel was 
performed by the Reclamation’s Socorro Field Division 
while working directly with local USFWS personnel. 
 
Phase III.–  This work consists of constructing the 
Intake Building structure, Filter Building foundation 
and structure, Outlet Building foundation and structure, 
pipelines and various other mechanical features.  The 
work was performed under a construction contract with 
Smithco Construction, Inc. 
 
It is anticipated that USFWS will begin operation of the 
facility summer of 2009.  It is anticipated that USFWS 
will introduce RGSM into the naturalized channel after 
the facility systems are tested and operation parameters 
have been established. 


 Outlet Building approximately 90% complete 
 looking upstream on the outlet channel to the 
 Rio Grande. 


 








 


Board Member Contact Information 


Kelly Hepler - Chair   
Alaska Department of Fish and Game 
333 Raspberry Rd.  
Anchorage, AK 99518-1599 
Ph:  907-465-6184 
Kelly.Hepler@alaska.gov  
 
 
Stephen G. Perry – Vice Chair 
Chief, Inland Fisheries Division  
NH Fish and Game Department  
11 Hazen Drive  
Concord, NH 03301  
603-271-1745  
603-271-1438 (fax)  
stephen.perry@wildlife.nh.gov    
 


John E. Frampton 
Director  
South Carolina Department of Natural 
Resources   
PO Box 167  
Columbia, SC  29202 
framptonj@dnr.sc.gov 


Joe Larscheid 
Iowa Department of Natural Resources 
502 East 9th St. 
Wallace Building   
Des Moines, IA 50319 
Ph:  515-281-5208 
joe.larscheid@dnr.iowa.gov   


Mike Stone   
Chief of Fisheries 
Wyoming Game and Fish Department 
5400 Bishop Blvd. 
Cheyenne, WY 82006 
Ph:  307-777-4559 
Mike.Stone@wgf.state.wy.us  
 


 


 


Ron Regan 
Executive Director 
Association of Fish and Wildlife 
Agencies 
444 North Capitol Street, NW 
Washington D.C.  20001 
Ph:  202-624-7890 
rregan@fishwildlife.org  
 


Dan Ashe  
Director  
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 
1849 C Street, N.W. 
Washington, DC 20240 
rowan_gould@fws.gov  


Eric Schwaab 
Assistant Administrator for Fisheries  
NOAA Fisheries Service 
1315 East West Highway  
Silver Spring, MD 20910 
eric.schwaab@noaa.gov 


D. Fred Matt 
Executive Director 
Native American Fish & Wildlife Society 
8333 Greenwood Blvd., Suite 260 
Denver, CO 80221 
Ph: 866-890-7258 
fmatt@nawfs.org  


Stan Moberly 
American Fisheries Society 
Northwest Marine Technology, Inc. 
955 Malin Lane, SW 
Olympia, WA 98501  
Ph:  907-736-2251 
stan.moberly@nmt.us,  


 
 



mailto:Kelly.Hepler@alaska.gov�

mailto:stephen.perry@wildlife.nh.gov�

mailto:joe.larscheid@dnr.iowa.gov�

mailto:Mike.Stone@wgf.state.wy.us�

mailto:rregan@fishwildlife.org�

mailto:rowan_gould@fws.gov�

mailto:eric.schwaab@noaa.gov�

mailto:fmatt@nawfs.org�

mailto:stan.moberly@nmt.us�





 
 
Mike Andrews  
Vice President for Ecosystem Services  
The Nature Conservancy  
6114 Fayetteville Road, Suite 109  
Durham, NC 27713 
Ph:  919-484-7857 ext 117 
mandrews@tnc.org  


Chris Wood 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
Trout Unlimited 
1300 N. 17th St., Suite 500 
Arlington, VA 22209-2404 
Ph:  703-284-9405 


Krystyna Wolniakowski 
Director, Western Partnership Office 
National Fish and Wildlife Foundation 
806 SW Broadway, Suite 750 
Portland, OR 97205  
Ph: 503-702-0245 
Wolniakowski@NFWF.ORG 
 
Gordon Robertson 
Vice President 
American Sportfishing Association 
225 Reinekers Lane, Suite 420  
Alexandria VA 22314 
Ph: 703-519-9691 
grobertson@asafishing.org  


Douglass Boyd 
Sportfishing & Boating Partnership Council  
1945 Lockhill Selma #101 
San Antonio, TX 78213 
douglassboyd@yahoo.com  


Brad Gentner 
Coastal Conservation Association 
9007 Eton Road 
Silver Spring, MD 20901 
Ph: 202-455-4424 
brad@gentnergroup.com  


              
                
Randy Fisher 
Executive Director 
Pacific States Marine Fisheries 
Commission 
205 SE Spokane Street, Suite 100 
Portland, Oregon 97202 
Ph:  503-595-3100  
Randy_Fisher@psmfc.org 


Bob Mahood 
Executive Director 
South Atlantic Fishery Management 
Council 
4055 Faber Place Drive, Suite 201  
North Charleston, SC 29405  
Ph:  843-571-4366 
robert.mahood@safmc.net 


Chris Horton 
National Assembly of Sportsmen’s 
Caucuses  
Regional Director 
249 Fletcher Lane 
Bismarck, AR 71929 
Ph: (501) 865-1475 
chris@sportsmenslink.org  
 
Anne Zimmermann 
USDA, Forest Service  
Director, Watershed, Fish, Wildlife, Air 
and Rare plants  
Syndey R. Yates Building  
201 14th Street, SW  Room 3SE  
Washington, DC  20250-1121 
azimmermann@fs.fed.us  
 
 


 



mailto:mandrews@tnc.org�

mailto:grobertson@asafishing.org�

mailto:douglassboyd@yahoo.com�

mailto:brad@gentnergroup.com�

mailto:Randy_Fisher@psmfc.org�

mailto:robert.mahood@safmc.net�

mailto:azimmermann@fs.fed.us�






National Fish Habitat Board meeting October 19-20, 2011 
 
National Fish Habitat Board Members 
 
Kelly Hepler, Chair    Alaska 
 
Steve Perry, Vice Chair  Northeast AFWA 
 
John Frampton    Southeast AFWA 
 
Joe Larscheid    Midwest AFWA 
 
Mike Stone     Western AFWA 
 
Ron Regan     AFWA 
 
Eric Schwaab     NOAA/NMFS 
 
Dan Ashe      DOI/FWS 
 
D. Fred Matt    Native American Fish and Wildlife Society 
 
Krystyna Wolniakowski   NFWF 
 
Chris Wood     Conservation/Academic, TU 
 
Michael Andrews    Conservation/Academic, TNC 
 
Doug Boyd    Conservation/Academic, SFBPC 
 
Stan Moberly     AFS 
 
Randy Fisher  At large/Interstate Fishery Commission, PSMFC 
 
Bob Mahood     At large/Fishery Management Council, SAFMC 
 
Gordon Robertson    At large, ASA 
 
Chris Horton    At large, CSF 
 
Brad Gentner   At large, CCA 
 
Anne Zimmermann    USDA FS 
 
 








 
 
 


National Fish Habitat Board Meeting – Area Map 
Albuquerque New Mexico October 19-20, 2011 


 
Hotel (A) 
Hotel Andaluz  
125 Second Street NW, Albuquerque, NM 87102 
 
Meeting Location (Blue Marker): 
US Fish and Wildlife Service Southwest Regional Office  
500 Gold Avenue SW, 5th floor Conference Room # 5415 
Albuquerque, NM 87102 
 


 


 
 


 








National Fish Habitat 
Action Plan


Cooperation
■


Investment
■


Stewardship


Cooperation
■


Investment
■


Stewardship







Cover photo: Mountain Visions. 







A Case for Action


Healthy waterways and robust fish populations are vital to the well-being of our 


society. They provide clean water and sustainable fisheries. They also are vital for 


less tangible reasons, as anyone who has fished wild waters or canoed a tranquil 


stream can attest. Unfortunately, in many waters around the country, fish and 


the habitats on which they depend are in decline. This is of huge concern  


to the 44 million anglers who pursue fish recreationally and countless others  


who depend on them for subsistence and commerce. The contribution of   


recreational and commercial fisheries alone surpassed $116 billion in 2003.1 


The value of fish habitat—freshwater and marine—goes well beyond angling 


for and harvesting of fish. The biological diversity of America’s aquatic habitats  


is astonishing, while the ecological importance of water supply and flood  


control are incalculable in value—a fact brought into sharp relief by storm  


and hurricane devastation to the Gulf Coast in 2005. 2 


A tremendous amount of work has been undertaken to protect, restore  


and enhance these aquatic habitats. Since 1970, regulatory programs have 


reduced pollution and slowed the physical degradation of aquatic habitats.


Thousands of river rehabilitations, reservoir enhancements, salt-marsh  


protection efforts and other conservation projects have been conducted  


from the Great Lakes to the Laguna Madre, from the Everglades to  


Alaska’s Bristol Bay. Although significant gains have been made, they have  


not kept pace with impacts resulting from population growth and land-use 


changes. Finally, given the diverse array of federal, state, tribal, local and  


private jurisdictions, the need never has been greater for increased action  


and improved coordination of fisheries conservation actions across  


boundaries and jurisdictions. 


N AT I O N A L  F I S H  H A B I TAT  
AC T I O N  P L A N  AT T R I B U T E S


3 Action oriented.


3 Science based.


3 Identify priority needs  


and acknowledge gaps.


3 Identify and achieve  


measurable outcomes.


3 Build on existing  


collaborative efforts.


3 Focus resources and funding 


where they will make a  


measurable difference.


3 Encourage public-private  


partnerships.


3 Monitor and  


disseminate results.


3 Don't stop until  


the job is done.


N AT I O N A L  F I S H  H A B I TAT  A C T I O N  P L A N     [ 3 ]


1 Sportfishing in America, American Sportfishing Association (2002). Commercial landings represent dockside  


values from Fisheries of the United States 2004, National Marine Fisheries Service, (Current Fisheries Statistics, #2004, 


November 2005).


2 For example, it is estimated that every radial mile of intact coastal wetlands reduces potential storm surge heights by 


1 vertical foot (Source: GAO Report GAO-06-244T, Army Corps of Engineers: History of the Lake Pontchartrain and 


Vicinity Hurricane Projection Project).


JA
M


IE
 W


IL
K


IN
S


O
N


/B
.A


.S
.S


.


www.fishhabitat.org







[ 4 ]    N AT I O N A L  F I S H  H A B I TAT  A C T I O N  P L A N


www.fishhabitat.org


A Strong Partnership  
Based on Experience
Determined to reverse the declines of 


America’s fish habitats, a growing number 


of fisheries professionals, state and federal 


agencies, tribes, foundations, conservation 


and angling groups, businesses and  


industries have joined together in support 


of the National Fish Habitat Action  


Plan (See Exhibit 1 for list of partners.). 


3 Monitor and be accountable for scientifi-


cally sound and measurable results.


3 Share information and knowledge  


at all levels from local communities  


to Congress. 


Development of the plan began in 2001 


when an ad hoc group of fisheries inter-


ests, led by the Sport Fishing and Boating 


Partnership Council, explored the concept 


of developing a partnership for fish habitat 


similar to that undertaken for waterfowl 


and their habitat in the 1980s through the 


North American Waterfowl Management 


Plan. (See Exhibit 2 for a history of the 


initiative). Forged from past conservation 


successes and failures, the National Fish 


Habitat Action Plan is built on a set of  


principles that are integral to its mission 


and goals. The plan is:


PARTNERSHIP-DRIVEN


The plan works at federal, state, tribal  


and local levels to target new and existing  


funding and technical resources for  


fish habitat projects.


SCIENCE-BASED ON A  
LANDSCAPE SCALE


The plan uses existing and emerging  


science-based tools to target priority  


areas and implement needed projects, 


address causative factors and use best  


practices. Project outcomes will be  


monitored and evaluated.


NON-REGULATORY


The plan funds and supports projects that 


are developed voluntarily by willing part-


ners and stakeholders. These voluntary 


projects will supplement the existing  


foundation of regulatory programs that 


protect aquatic habitats from pollution  


and degradation.


B L AC K F O OT  R I V E R  R E CO V E RY


In 1992, Robert Redford put Norman Maclean’s classic “A River Runs  


Through It” on film. Maclean centered his novel on the Blackfoot River of his 


youth in western Montana. But Redford was forced to shoot many fishing 


sequences on the Gallatin, Boulder and Yellowstone rivers due to the poor 


condition of the Blackfoot. Years of mining, grazing, timber harvest and water 


withdrawals had taken their toll on the river and its fish. Individually, none of 


these actions were fatal to the river’s health, and none had been undertaken 


expressly to harm fisheries, but collectively they degraded the Blackfoot River. 


National attention from the film spurred local interest in restoring the  


Blackfoot. With help from a wide variety of donors, a coalition of landowners 


and communities formed the Blackfoot Challenge. Twelve years later, barriers  


have been removed, providing fish access to 300 miles of habitat, 51 miles  


of riparian habitat restored, and 54,500 acres of perpetual conservation 


easements secured. Pride in the river has been restored, as have the fish, 


including cutthroat and bull trout.


In its design, the plan encompasses five 


important lessons that emerge from 


America’s past efforts to protect and  


restore fish habitat:


3 Be strategic rather than merely  


opportunistic.


3 Address the causes of and processes 


behind fish habitat decline, rather  


than the symptoms.


3 Provide increased and sustained invest-


ment to allow for long-term success. 


C A S E  S T U D Y







www.fishhabitat.org


SUSTAINED & ACCOUNTABLE


The plan recognizes the need to support 


regional fish habitat initiatives on a long-


term, sustained basis. It also understands 


the need to evaluate and report each  


project’s performance and demonstrate 


overall results to Congress, partners and  


the general public.


The plan offers an unprecedented oppor-


tunity to meet the challenges of protecting, 


restoring and enhancing aquatic habitats on 


a national scale. The plan’s vision of healthy 


habitats, healthy fish, healthy people and 


healthy economies will be achieved through  


cooperation, investment and stewardship. 


This vision will result in local actions  


that yield measurable social, economic  


and ecological benefits—and more fish!


Mission, Goals & Objectives


MISSION


The mission of the National Fish Habitat 


Action Plan is to protect, restore and 


enhance the nation’s fish and aquatic com-


munities through partnerships that foster 


fish habitat conservation and improve the 


quality of life for the American people.  


This mission will be achieved by:


3 Supporting existing fish habitat  


partnerships and fostering new efforts. 


3 Mobilizing and focusing national and 


local support for achieving fish habitat 


conservation goals. 


3 Setting national and regional fish habitat 


conservation goals.


3 Measuring and communicating the status 


and needs of fish habitats. 


3 Providing national leadership and  


coordination to conserve fish habitats. 


GOALS


3 Protect and 


maintain intact 


and healthy 


aquatic systems.


3 Prevent further 


degradation 


of fish habi-


tats that have 


been adversely 


affected.


3 Reverse declines 


in the quality 


and quantity of 


aquatic habitats 


to improve the 


overall health  


of fish and  


other aquatic 


organisms. 


3 Increase the quality and quantity of  


fish habitats that support a broad  


natural diversity of fish and other  


aquatic species.


OBJECTIVES


3 Conduct a condition analysis of all fish 


habitats within the United States by 2010.


3 Identify priority fish habitats and estab-


lish Fish Habitat Partnerships targeting 


these habitats by 2010.


3 Establish 12 or more Fish Habitat 


Partnerships throughout United States  


by 2010.


3 Prepare a “Status of Fish Habitats in the 


United States” report in 2010 and every 


five years thereafter.


3 Protect all healthy and intact fish  


habitats by 2015.


3 Improve the condition of 90 percent  


of priority habitats and species targeted 


by Fish Habitat Partnerships by 2020.


N AT I O N A L  F I S H  H A B I TAT  A C T I O N  P L A N     [ 5 ]


Coordination 
& Support


Tribes


Academia


Federal Agencies State F & W


Conservation Groups


Ecological
Benefits


Social
Benefits


Landowners


Funding Progress
Measurement


Help Establish
New FHPs


[  A C T I V I T I E S  ]


National Fish Habitat Board


Habitat Projects & Partners


 


National
Fish


Habitat
Partnerships


(FHPs)


C


e


Ac


ncie tat


onne


Industry


D E F I N I T I O N S


The National Fish Habitat Action  


Plan focuses on fish and their  


habitats as keystones for the  


full range of aquatic biodiversity 


and aquatic habitats in  


the United States. 


A focus on fish includes the pro-


tection, restoration and enhance-


ment of freshwater and marine 


species, including shellfish and 


crustaceans. 


A focus on habitat encompasses  


the protection, restoration and 


enhancement of freshwater,  


estuarine and marine habitats.







[ 6 ]    N AT I O N A L  F I S H  H A B I TAT  A C T I O N  P L A N


www.fishhabitat.org


Science & Data Strategy
The National Fish Habitat Action Plan’s  


science and data strategy is built on  


four associated activities conducted  


cooperatively with plan partners:


3  Identify causative factors for declining 


fish populations in aquatic systems.


3 Use an integrated landscape approach 


that includes the upstream/downstream 


linkages of large-scale habitat  


condition factors.


3 Assess and classify the nation’s  


fish habitats.


3 Provide partners easy access to  


information to support their work. 


The plan will assist all partners in under-


standing priorities for projects and how 


to prevent and reverse declines in both 


freshwater and marine systems. It will use 


an integrated landscape approach to link 


upland and marine systems. It will further 


the ongoing effort to determine the  


condition of the nation’s waters by classify-


ing waters based on published landscape 


classification systems. Please see Exhibit 3 


for more information.


Implementation Strategy
The plan will be implemented through four 


key activities. Together, these approaches 


will lead to actions that are strategically 


employed and results that can be mea-


sured against protection, restoration and 


enhancement goals. The National Fish 


Habitat Action Plan will:


Support existing Fish Habitat 
Partnerships and foster new efforts. 


3 Organize a system of regional Fish 


Habitat Partnerships around important 


aquatic habitats and species. Partnerships 


will be focused on efforts that engage  


a wide range of partners to protect, 


restore and enhance fish habitats. 


3 Support Fish Habitat Partnerships in 


identifying priority habitat areas within 


focus areas, developing action plans and 


conservation strategies, and implement-


ing projects. The plan will help local 


and regional efforts garner the necessary 


resources and provide decision analysis 


and other evaluation tools necessary  


to succeed. Working with partnerships  


to demonstrate successful on-the-ground 


habitat improvement projects is  


recognized as critical to the success  


of the national effort. 


3 Provide science-based methods and  


tools to help partnerships measure  


and demonstrate progress. Existing and  


established state, federal, tribal and local 


agency monitoring programs will be  


used to the greatest extent possible.


Mobilize and focus national and  
local support for achieving fish habitat 
conservation goals. 


3 Build strong grassroots support that 


places fish habitat conservation high  


on the public agenda. Partners at all  


levels—federal, tribal, state and  


local—will help bring new and sustained 


C
H


R
IS


 K
E


N
N


E
D


Y
/U


S
F


W
S







N AT I O N A L  F I S H  H A B I TAT  A C T I O N  P L A N     [ 7 ]


www.fishhabitat.org


attention to the need for action and will 


mobilize diverse stakeholder groups to 


advocate for fish habitat protection,  


restoration and enhancement.


3 Increase funding for fish habitat conser-


vation efforts at the national, regional 


and local levels by cultivating sufficient 


public and private fund sources to 


achieve necessary action. National and 


regional fundraising campaigns, corpo-


rate sponsorships, restitution and settle-


ment funding, and other approaches  


will be used to increase the amount  


of funding available for cost-effective  


fish habitat conservation.


3 Focus existing resources to increase  


effectiveness in achieving results. Act as  


a catalyst for increased cooperation 


among federal, state, tribal and local 


agencies and increased collaboration  


with conservation organizations,  


landowners and other stakeholders. 


Measure and communicate the status 
and needs of aquatic habitats. 


3 Continue to refine quantitative metrics 


to track the progress toward improving 


the nation’s fish habitats with a national 


“Status of Fish Habitats” report issued 


every five years.


3 Encourage and promote regional habitat 


planning guided by the best available 


information and science.


3 Enhance existing data networks for use 


by habitat conservation partners. Create 


linkages to share data, conservation 


approaches and other habitat informa-


tion among partners. 


3 Assist partnerships in developing base-


lines, indicators and measures of success. 


Promote objective and consistent assess-


ment of projects allowing successful and 


cost-effective strategies to be repeated 


C A S E  S T U D Y


R E S TO R I N G  B A H I A  G R A N D E


Bahia Grande is an 11,000-acre complex of three estuarine basins on the Texas 


coast that were once a highly productive shallow water system. In the 1930s, the 


Port of Brownsville dredged the Brownsville ship channel, and the resulting spoil 


banks cut off the water supply for this tidal system. Bahia Grande changed into 


an arid ecosystem that no longer provides extensive aquatic nursery areas for 


diverse aquatic organisms and valuable fisheries. Instead, its drifting sands are 


the source of numerous health and industrial problems in the Brownsville area.


The Bahia Grande Estuary Restoration project is bringing together a significant 


public-private coalition to support one of the largest restoration projects in the 


United States. The wide array of partners and the various restoration techniques 


used to implement this project have made it noteworthy in the eyes of the 


local community and the conservation community. Everyone is working toward 


the common goal of restoring a productive nursery for recreationally and 


commercially important fish and shellfish species, birds and wildlife. 


As early as 2000, Ocean Trust began 


working with federal partners 


to cut a system of channels and 


re-flood this estuary, returning it 


to its natural state and relieving 


Brownsville of its blowing dust. The 


first of several planned channels 


was opened in July 2005. In 


addition, a plant nursery has been 


constructed to provide native 


vegetation, such as mangroves and 


marsh grasses, for the restoration 


effort. To date, 100 local community 


members and students have 


volunteered more than 400 hours 


to plant mangroves. The planting events will be an ongoing effort once the 


channels are reopened and the location begins to return to an estuarine area 


abundant with fish and wildlife.


and replicated and less successful strate-


gies to be improved upon or abandoned.


3 Communicate project results and lessons 


learned. Enable and facilitate learning 


among all partners about aquatic  


ecosystems and how to be good stewards 


of aquatic resources.


N
O


A
A







[ 8 ]    N AT I O N A L  F I S H  H A B I TAT  A C T I O N  P L A N


www.fishhabitat.org


Provide national leadership and  
coordination to conserve fish habitats. 


3 Work with states and the Association of 


Fish and Wildlife Agencies to identify, 


coordinate and focus incentives at the 


state level to protect, restore and enhance 


aquatic habitat. 


3 Work with states and the Association of 


Fish and Wildlife Agencies to identify 


and ensure linkages, consistency between 


plan-supported fish habitat efforts and 


linkages with State Wildlife Action Plans 


and other similar programs. Specifically 


use the National Fish Habitat Action Plan 


to leverage and implement appropriate 


fish habitat conservation programs out-


lined in the State Wildlife Action Plans 


and other relevant programs. 


3 Work with other habitat conservation 


programs, such as North American 


Wetlands Conservation Act Joint 


Ventures, to promote cooperation and 


coordination leading to enhanced  


protection of fish habitats. 


3 Through a Federal Caucus, coordinate 


existing federal program efforts to ben-


efit fish habitat. Federal agencies have an 


important role as land, water and wildlife 


managers through a wide array of federal 


actions and responsibilities. Awareness of 


fish habitat opportunities, coordination 


of agency actions and follow-through on 


successful strategies will enable federal 


agencies to maximize program benefits 


for fish habitat. 


3 Establish a National Fish Habitat Board 


to promote, support and coordinate 


implementation of the plan. This board 


will oversee action and follow through 


on all strategies of the plan.


Fish Habitat Partnerships
Fish Habitat Partnerships are the primary 


work units of the National Fish Habitat 


Action Plan. These partnerships are formed 


around important aquatic habitats and 


distinct geographic areas (e.g., Southeast 


Aquatic Resources Partnership,) “keystone” 


fish species (e.g., eastern brook trout and 


western native trout) or system types  


(e.g., large lakes, impoundments, estuaries.) 


Fish Habitat Partnerships:


3 Provide leadership and help to develop 


fish habitat projects at regional and  


local levels. 


3 Work with other regional habitat conser-


vation programs to promote cooperation 


and coordination leading to the enhanced 


protection of fish habitats.


3 Engage the grassroots to build support 


for fish habitat conservation.


3 Involve diverse groups of public and  


private partners and focus them on  


conservation of fish habitat. 


3 Collaboratively develop a compelling 


strategic vision and implementation plan 


that is scientifically sound and achievable.


3 Leverage National Fish Habitat Action 


Plan and other sources of funding by 


building local and regional partnerships.


3 Use adaptive management principles.


3 Have the ability to develop appropriate 


regional habitat evaluation measures  


and criteria that are compatible with 


national measures. 


3 Address fish habitat conservation at a 


scale necessary to make a difference.


AC T I O N  P L A N  B E N E F I T S


3 Clean and sufficient amounts  


of water, a critical measure  


of landscape health and the  


well-being of people.


3 Healthy, resilient habitats that  


are critical to fish and wildlife, 


water conservation, flood  


control and people.


3 Improved recreational,  


commercial and subsistence  


fishing, boating and other  


uses of aquatic resources.


3 Targeting of limited funding to  


produce measurable benefits  


to fish and people.


3 Improved understanding  


of habitat connectivity and  


how aquatic systems function  


and are maintained.


C
R


A
IG


 S
P


R
IN


G
E


R
/U


S
F


W
S







N AT I O N A L  F I S H  H A B I TAT  A C T I O N  P L A N     [ 9 ]


www.fishhabitat.org


Governance 
Through the Association of Fish and 


Wildlife Agencies, the states led develop-


ment of the National Fish Habitat Action 


Plan in cooperation with the U.S. Fish and 


Wildlife Service (FWS), NOAA Fisheries 


Service and other key partners. The two 


federal agencies with lead fishery man-


agement responsibility, FWS and NOAA 


Fisheries Service, served as the primary 


liaisons with other federal agencies and the 


Federal Caucus. Federal, state and private 


organizations provided personnel to assist 


in the development and implementation 


of the plan. Tribal governments also were 


invited to participate. 


The adopted plan will serve as the basis for 


implementation. A governing board and 


small staff will be established to provide  


the support structure necessary for  


effective implementation of the plan at  


the national level. 


GOVERNING BOARD


A National Fish Habitat Board (Board)  


will be established with responsibility to 


promote, oversee and coordinate imple-


mentation of the plan. The Board will 


consist of up to 20 members drawn equally 


from the following stakeholder groups: 


3 State/Association of Fish and  


Wildlife Agencies representatives 


(regional and at-large). 


3 Federal agency representatives. 


(Department of Agriculture, Department 


of Commerce, Department of Defense, 


Environmental Protection Agency, 


Department of the Interior)


3 Conservation/science/academic members, 


including one representative from the 


National Fish and Wildlife Foundation. 


3 At-large members representing tribal  


governments, interstate management 


agency representatives, industry (fishing, 


boating, ecotourism, etc.), elected officials 


and other interests. 


The initial Board will be appointed jointly 


by the leadership of Association of Fish 


and Wildlife Agencies in consultation with 


FWS and NOAA Fisheries Service. A state 


representative will serve as the chairper-


son. Terms, processes, succession and other 


details will be laid out in bylaws developed 


by the Board and action plan partners.  


Roles of the Board include:


3 Coordinate agency and stakeholder 


involvement at the national level. 


3 Develop appropriate policies and  


guidance for recognizing partnerships  


and criteria for allocating national  


funding and related resources.


3 Work to establish national partnerships 


that provide funding and other resources 


to the Fish Habitat Partnerships and other 


efforts of the plan.


3 Develop processes to prioritize and 


deliver National Fish Habitat Action Plan 


funds to the partnerships.


3 Establish national measures of success 


and evaluation criteria guidelines for 


partnerships.


3 Report to Congress, states and other part-


ners on the status and accomplishments 


of the National Fish Habitat Action Plan.


T
IM


 W
A


T
T


S







[ 10 ]    N AT I O N A L  F I S H  H A B I TAT  A C T I O N  P L A N


www.fishhabitat.org


STAFF


Core administrative staff from states  


(through the Association of Fish and  


Wildlife Agencies), FWS and NOAA 


Fisheries Service will be co-located and ini-


tially assist the Board in administering all 


federal and related funds and implement-


ing programs designed by the Fish Habitat 


Partnerships. Additional federal agency staff 


will be provided to operate and maintain 


the Geographic Information System (GIS) 


and other data systems required to ensure 


proper plan implementation, the produc-


tion of “Status of Fish Habitat” reports 


(every five years,) the Conservation and 


Habitat Priorities Data Base, and to report 


on the success of the plan’s efforts. Staff 


will be supplemented by additional agency 


and stakeholder representatives working 


through interagency personnel agreements. 


Funding for these staff positions will be 


provided by federal appropriations and 


partner contributions.


FEDERAL CAUCUS


The FWS chairs the Federal Caucus,  


consisting of federal agencies with an  


interest in contributing to development  


and implementation of the plan. The  


caucus provides a mechanism through 


which federal partners can: 


3 Jointly identify strategies and resources  


to support actions under the plan.


3 Ensure that the plan is responsive to 


resource priorities of the participating 


agencies.


S O U T H E A S T  AQ UAT I C  R E S O U R C E S  PA R T N E R S H I P


The Southeast Aquatic Resources Partnership (SARP) was initiated in 2001 


to address issues related to the management of aquatic resources in the 


southeastern United States. These issues include significant threats to the 


aquatic resources and habitats of the Southeast, as illustrated by the fact that  


34 percent of North American fish species and 90 percent of the native  


mussel species designated as endangered, threatened or of special concern 


are found in the Southeast. Given these realities, and the predicted increased 


pressure on southeast aquatic resources in the future, SARP was established 


with the following mission:


With partners, protect, conserve and restore aquatic resources including  


habitats throughout the Southeast, for the continuing benefit, use and  


enjoyment of the American people.


This partnership 


builds on relationships 


developed between 


state and federal 


agencies, private 


organizations, 


conservation 


groups and other 


stakeholders that 


extend beyond the 


traditional boundaries of aquatic resource management agencies and establish 


a commitment to truly work together for the benefit of the resource. SARP is 


currently developing a regional aquatic habitat plan for the Southeast that will 


help guide the implementation of the National Fish Habitat Action Plan efforts 


on a regional scale. Pilot watershed conservation action plans already have 


been developed for four major southeast river systems (Duck River, TN; Roanoke 


River, NC; Altamaha River, GA; and Pascagoula River, MS) that detail specific 


actions to improve and protect aquatic habitats and biological integrity in these 


systems. SARP actively seeks funding and local partners to implement specific 


local actions that are prioritized on a regional and national scale.


C A S E  S T U D Y







N AT I O N A L  F I S H  H A B I TAT  A C T I O N  P L A N     [ 11 ]


www.fishhabitat.org


3 Provide communication links among  


federal agencies cooperating under  


the plan. 


The caucus also serves as a conduit for 


information flow between federal partners 


and the National Fish Habitat Board.  


(See Exhibit 4.)


SCIENCE & DATA COMMITTEE


The role of the Science and Data 


Committee is to provide timely recom-


mendations to the Board and partnerships 


on technical or science policies, processes, 


methodology or issues as requested by the 


Board related to the plan. Chaired by a state 


representative, membership will consist of 


two state agency representatives, two federal 


agency representatives, two non-govern-


mental agency representatives, and two 


academic representatives. All committee 


members will have demonstrated knowl-


edge of plan’s science foundation. Terms, 


processes, succession and other details will 


be laid out in the committee’s Terms of 


Reference to be developed by the Board and 


the Science and Data Committee within the 


first year of establishment. 


E A S T E R N  B R O O K  T R O U T  J O I N T  V E N T U R E


The Eastern 


Brook Trout 


Joint Venture 


is another 


example of 


partnerships 


associated with 


the National 


Fish Habitat 


Action Plan. The 


joint venture 


was born out 


of a common 


concern, 


from Georgia 


to Maine, for the health of numerous populations of the only native trout of 


the eastern United States. Recognizing that many common threats existed 


across the range, state fishery managers joined together with federal agency 


representatives, private conservation groups and scientists to assess the 


problem and plan action.


Strong voluntary participation has been driven by the recognition of an 


excellent opportunity to share scientific resources, collaborate on corrective 


strategies and work together to raise the public profile of this popular species, 


which is an excellent indicator of healthy stream habitats. To date, the joint 


venture has developed the first ever range-wide assessment of eastern brook 


trout, initiated development of strategic action plans, and communicated its 


efforts to other partners.


The Eastern Brook Trout Joint Venture is a great example of the power of 


collaborative Fish Habitat Partnerships. It brings together the collective 


scientific, management and communication resources of diverse agencies and 


organizations. Based on a careful scientific assessment of priority problems, 


partners are joining to develop strategic action plans that will be implemented 


at the local level and through regional work. Ultimately, by bringing together 


interested partners working on commonly agreed upon priorities, resources are 


leveraged and focused to maximize benefits on the ground for fish and people. 


The difference will be measurable. 


C A S E  S T U D Y







[ 12 ]    N AT I O N A L  F I S H  H A B I TAT  A C T I O N  P L A N


www.fishhabitat.org


JO
H


N
 N


A
U


G
H


T
O


N
/N


O
A


A


Exhibits


1: Sample of Partners Coalition Members


2: National Fish Habitat Action Plan Milestones


3: Science and Data Strategy


4: Strategies and Resources of Federal Agencies


5: National Fish Habitat Action Plan Leadership,  
 Support and Report Authorship


JO
H


N
 A


N
D


 K
A


R
E


N
 H


O
L


L
IN


G
S


W
O


R
T


H
/U


S
F


W
S







N AT I O N A L  F I S H  H A B I TAT  A C T I O N  P L A N     [ 13 ]


www.fishhabitat.org


Exhibit 1: Sample of Partners Coalition Members
as of April 2006**


Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies 


Atlantic States Marine Fisheries Commission


California Resources Agency


California State University


Central Valley Project 


Chelan County Public Utility District (WA)


Chickaloon Village, Alaska


Colorado Division of Wildlife


Colorado River Fish and Wildlife Council


Commonwealth of Massachusetts


Connecticut Department of  
Environmental Protection


Connecticut River Joint Commissions


Cornell University


Delaware Department of Natural Resources


District of Columbia Environmental Health 
Administration


Elkhart, Indiana, City of


Florida Fish & Wildlife  
Conservation Commission


Georgia Department of Natural Resources


Governor’s Advisory Council for Hunting,  
Fishing and Conservation (PA)


Grant County Public Utilities District (WA)


Great Lakes Fishery Commission


Gulf of Mexico Fishery Management Council


Gulf States Marine Fisheries Commission


Hawaii Department of Land and  
Natural Resources


Holyoke Gas & Electric Department (MA)


Idaho Department of Fish and Game


Illinois Department of Natural Resources


Illinois Natural History Survey


Indiana Department of Natural Resources


Indiana University-Purdue University  
Fort Wayne


International Boundary &  
Water Commission, US Section


Interstate Commission on the  
Potomac River Basin


Iowa Department of Natural Resources


Kansas Department of Wildlife and Parks


Kentucky Department of Fish and  
Wildlife Resources


Lake Champlain Basin Program


FEDERAL/TRIBAL


American Heritage Rivers Initiative*


Coastal America*


Confederated Tribes of the  
Umatilla Indian Reservation 


Confederated Tribes of Warm Springs


Council on Environmental Quality


Department of Agriculture
Farm Service Agency*
Natural Resources Conservation Service*
U.S. Forest Service*


Department of Defense*


Department of Housing and  
Urban Development*


Department of the Interior
Bureau of Land Management*
Bureau of Reclamation* 
National Park Service* 
Office of Surface Mining*
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service*
U.S. Geological Survey* 


Department of State


Department of Transportation
Federal Highway Administration*


Environmental Protection Agency*


Federal Emergency Management Agency*


Federal Energy Regulatory Commission              


Klamath River Inter-Tribal Fish & Water Comm.


Lac Courte Oreilles Fisheries


National Oceanic and Atmospheric 
Administration*


National Marine Fisheries Service


National Science Foundation*


Nisqually Tribe


Northwest Indian Fisheries Commission


Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe Fisheries


U.S Army Corps of Engineers*


INTERSTATE/STATE/CITY/UNIVERSITY


Alabama Department of Conservation  
and Natural Resources


Alaska Department of Fish and Game


Alaska Resources Library & Information Services


Allegany Soil Conservation District


Arizona Cooperative Fish & Wildlife Research Unit


Arizona Game and Fish Department


Arkansas Game and Fish Commission


N
O


A
A







[ 14 ]    N AT I O N A L  F I S H  H A B I TAT  A C T I O N  P L A N


www.fishhabitat.org


Louisiana Department of Wildlife and Fisheries


Louisiana Sea Grant College Program


Maine Department of Inland  
Fisheries and Wildlife


Maryland Deptartment of Natural Resources


Massachusetts Division of Fisheries and Wildlife


Metro Wastewater Reclamation District (CO)


Michigan Deptartment of Environmental Quality


Michigan State University


Mid-Atlantic Fishery Management Council


Michigan Department of Natural Resources


Minnesota Department of Natural Resources


New York State Department of Environmental 
Conservation


North Carolina Wildlife Resources Commission


North Central Educational Service District (WA)


North Dakota Game and Fish Department


Northeast Association of Fish and  
Wildlife Agencies


Northwest Indian College


Ohio Department of Natural Resources


Oklahoma Department of Wildlife Conservation


Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife


Oregon State University


Oregon Watershed Enhancement Board


Pacific States Marine Fisheries Commission


Penn State University


Pennsylvania Department of  
Environmental Protection


Pennsylvania Fish and Boat Commission


Pennsylvania Game Commission


Plattsburgh State University


Potomac River Fisheries Commission 


Rhode Island Department of  
Environmental Management


South Atlantic Fishery Management Council


South Burlington High School, VT


South Carolina Department of  
Natural Resources


South Dakota Deptartment of Game,  
Fish and Parks


St. Croix International Waterway Commission


State University of New York


Susquehanna River Basin Commission


Tehama County Resource  
Conservation District (WA)


Tennessee Cooperative Fishery Research Unit


Tennessee Wildlife Resources Agency


Texas Wildlife Deptartment


Trinity Management Council (CA)


University of Georgia


University of Houston Clear Lake


University of Kentucky


University of Maine


University of Maryland Eastern Shore


University of Massachusetts


University of Minnesota


University of Rhode Island


University of Southern Mississippi


Utah Division of Wildlife Resources


Mississippi Department of Marine Resources


Mississippi Department of Wildlife,  
Fisheries and Parks


Mississippi Interstate Resource Association


Missouri Cooperative Wildlife Research Unit


Missouri Department of Conservation


Mono County (CA)


Montana Department of Fish,  
Wildlife and Parks


Montgomery County, Maryland


Nebraska Game & Parks Commission


Nevada Department of Wildlife


New England Fishery Management Council


New England Interstate Pollution  
Control Commission


New Hampshire Fish and Game Department


New Jersey Department of  
Environmental Protection


New Mexico Department of Game and Fish


N
O


A
A







N AT I O N A L  F I S H  H A B I TAT  A C T I O N  P L A N     [ 15 ]


www.fishhabitat.org


Vermont Department of Fish & Wildlife


Virginia Department of Game & Inland Fisheries


Virginia Marine Resources Commission


Virginia Institute of Marine Science


Virginia Tech


Washington Association of  
Conservation Districts


Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife


Washington Governor’s Salmon Recovery Office


West Virginia Division of Natural Resources


Western Shasta Resource Conservation District


Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources


Wyoming Game & Fish Department


PRIVATE


Adams County Trout Unlimited


Alabama B.A.S.S. Federation


Allegany Soil Conservation District


Alliance for the Chesapeake Bay


American Fisheries Society


American Fly Fishing Trade Association


American Land Conservancy


American Rivers


American Sportfishing Association


Anglers Unlimited


Ann Lake Sportsman’s Club


Arizona Council of Trout Unlimited


Association of Northwest Steelheaders


Atlantic Salmon Federation


Bass Anglers Sportsman Society


B.A.S.S. Federation Nation of Virginia Inc.


B.A.S.S. Federation Nation of Washington


Bass Pro Shops


Bass Federation Nation of Washington


The Bay Institute


Beaver Creek Watershed Association (MD)


Blackhawk Bassmasters


Blue Hill Hydraulics Incorporated


BOAT/U.S.


Botanical Developments


Brightwood Improvement Group


Buckeye Angler Multimedia


Bucks County Chapter of Trout Unlimited


California BASS Federation


California Trout


Canaan Valley Institute


Catoctin Land Trust


CH2M HILL Inc.


Chesapeake Bay Foundation


Clark-Skamania Flyfishers


Coastal Conservation Association


Coldwater Heritage Partnership Program


Collegiate Bass Anglers Association


Colorado Bass Federation Nation


Colorado Rio Grande Restoration Foundation


Common Ground for Conservation Inc.


Connecticut River Watershed Council


Conservation Fisheries Inc.


The Conservation Fund


Cook Inlet Aquaculture Association


Crappie Unlimited


Dauphin Wildlife Rescue


Denver Trout Unlimited


Desert Fishes Council


Ducks Unlimited Inc.


Eastern Buckeye Crappie Club


Ecosystem Solutions Inc.


ENSR


Federation of Fly Fishers


Federation of Fly Fishers, Mid-Atlantic Council


Fish America Foundation 


Fisheries Forever


FoodSource Lure Corporation


Friends of Big Hunting Creek


Friends of the Rappahannock


Friends of the River


Friends of the Upper Mississippi  
Fishery Services


Front Range Anglers


G.Loomis Inc.


Garcia and Associates


Georgia Power Company


God’s Green Earth


Gomez and Sullivan


Granite Ecological Services


Great Lakes Sport Fishing Council


HandMade in America


Hatchmatcher Guide Service


HDR/LMS Engineering


Hoh River Trust


Hood Canal Salmon Enhancement Group


Horizons Engineering







[ 16 ]    N AT I O N A L  F I S H  H A B I TAT  A C T I O N  P L A N


www.fishhabitat.org


M
O


U
N


TA
IN


 V
IS


IO
N


S


Hudson River Foundation


Icicle Creek Watershed Council


Idaho BASS Federation


Idaho Conservation League


Idaho Outfitters and Guides Association


Idaho Power Company


Idaho Rivers United


Idaho Salmon and Steelhead United


Illinois Smallmouth Alliance


Indianapolis Flycasters


Inland Aquaculture Group LLC 


International Paper


Land Trust Alliance


Loftus Associates


Luhr Jensen


Little Juniata River Association


Long Live The Kings


Louisiana B.A.S.S. Federation Nation


Maine Aquaculture Innovation Center


Maine B.A.S.S. Federation Nation


Maine Pulp & Paper Association


Maine Wood Products Association


Management Systems International


Marine Fish Conservation Network


Maryland Saltwater Sportfisherman’s Association


Maryland Waterman’s Association


Michigan Natural Features Inventory


Mid-Atlantic Council-Federation of Fly Fishers


Minnesota B.A.S.S. Chapter Federation


Mississippi B.A.S.S. Federation Nation


Missouri Smallmouth Alliance


Moldy Chum


Monocacy & Catoctin Watershed Alliance


Montana B.A.S.S. Federation Nation


Montana Council of Trout Unlimited


Montana Watershed Coordination Council


Muskies Inc.


National Aquarium in Baltimore


National Association of Conservation Districts


National Audubon Society


National Energy & Gas Transmission Inc.


National Fish and Wildlife Foundation


National Marine Manufacturers Association 


National Wildlife Federation


National Wild Turkey Federation


Native American Fish & Wildlife Society


Native Fish Conservancy


Native Fish Society


The Nature Conservancy


The Nature Conservancy- 
Eastern U.S. Freshwater Program


The Nature Conservancy in Alaska


The Nature Conservancy of Montana


NatureServe


NEIWPCC


New Hampshire Bass Federation


Nooksak Salmon Enhancement Association


Normandeau Associates Inc.


Iowa BASS Federation


Iowa Conservation Alliance


Izaak Walton League of America


James River Association


Jersey Shore Trout Unlimited


Kansas Bass Chapter Federation


Kaplan Associates


Katmai Fishing Adventures LLC


Kenai River Sportfishing


Kimley-Horn


Kinzua Fish & Wildlife Association


Knik River Watershed Group


Kooskooskie Commons (WA)


Lake Champlain Walleye Association


Lake Gaston Striper Club 


Lake Havasu Fisheries Improvement Partnership







N AT I O N A L  F I S H  H A B I TAT  A C T I O N  P L A N     [ 17 ]


www.fishhabitat.org


M
. 


W
E


IM
E


R
/U


S
F


W
S


Northeast Generation Services


Northeast Utilities


Northeast-Midwest Institute


Northwest Power and Conservation Council


North American Lake Management Society


Northwest Marine Technology Inc.


Northwest Sportfishing Industry Association


Oklahoma B.A.S.S. Federation Nation


Old Pueblo Trout Unlimited


The O’Neal School


O.N.E.W.I.L.D.W.O.R.L.D.


The Orvis Company


Outdoor Heritage Education Center


Outdoor Specialty Products


Pacific Coast Federation of Fishermen’s 
Associations


Pacific Coast Joint Venture


Pacific Rivers Council


The Pantagraph


Patagonia


Pennsylvania Bass Federation


Pennsylvania Biodiversity Partnership


Pennsylvania Federation of Sportsmen’s Clubs


Pennsylvania Institute for Conservation 
Education


Pennsylvania League of Conservation Voters


Pennsylvania Trout Unlimited


Pheasants Forever Inc.


Pizzo & Associates Ltd.


Potomac Fly Fishers


PPL Corporation


Professional Anglers Association


Pure Fishing


Pyramid Lake Fisheries (NV)


QEA LLC


Quail Unlimited


REC Components


Recreational Boating and Fishing Foundation


Restore America’s Estuaries


Richmond Times-Dispatch


Sacramento River Discovery Center


Samuel Tisdale Society


Shenandoah Valley Pure Water Forum


Sierra Club


Silver Steep Partners


Simms Fishing Products


Smith River Advisory Council


South Burlington High School, Vermont


South Dakota Bass Federation


Southeast Aquatic Resources Partnership


Southeast Watershed Forum


Southern Company


Southwest Alaska Conservation Coalition


Southwest Walleye Anglers of Arizona


Sport Fishing and Boating Partnership Council


Spring Creek Chapter of Trout Unlimited


Steward and Associates


Streamside Systems Inc.


St. Croix Rods


Texas B.A.S.S. Federation


Texas Black Bass Unlimited


Theodore Roosevelt Conservation Partnership


ThorpeWood


Trout Unlimited


Trout Unlimited, Arizona Chapter


Trout Unlimited-Forks of the  
Delaware Chapter 482


Trout Unlimited-Long Island  
Chapter 069


Truckee Tahoe Trout Fund


Trust for Public Land


Upper Nolichucky Watershed Alliance


Utah BASS Federation


Utah Council of Trout Unlimited


Washington Trout


Waterbody Builders


WDawsons Inc.


West Virginia B.A.S.S. Federation Nation


Western Maryland RC&D


Western Pennsylvania Conservancy


Wild Fish Habitat Initiative


Wildlife Forever 


Wildlife Management Institute


Wolftree Inc.


World Wildlife Fund


*Member agencies of the  


Federal Caucus


**Partners list as of April 4, 2006. 


This list provides an illustration of 


the variety of partners who pledge 


their interest and energy to the 


National Fish Habitat Action Plan. 


This list is anticipated to grow 


into a large and diverse conserva-


tion coalition. 







[ 18 ]    N AT I O N A L  F I S H  H A B I TAT  A C T I O N  P L A N


www.fishhabitat.org


Exhibit 2: National Fish Habitat Action Plan Milestones


The National Fish Habitat Initiative, 


which preceded the National Fish Habitat 


Action Plan, began in 2001 when an ad hoc 


group, initially led by the Sport Fishing 


and Boating Partnership Council, explored 


the concept of developing a partner-


ship effort for fish habitat on the scale of 


what was done for waterfowl in the 1980s 


through the North American Waterfowl 


attended regional meetings and unani-


mously supported action. Subsequently, 


momentum for developing a National Fish 


Habitat Action Plan surged. Milestones 


include:


3 The Southeastern Aquatic Resources 


Partnership begins work on developing 


comprehensive habitat plans in 2001. 


Regional fish partnerships such as the 


White River Fisheries Partnership and 


Eastern Brook Trout Joint Venture also 


begin to emerge at this time. 


3 In 2004, Association of Fish and Wildlife 


Agencies (then the International 


Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies) 


votes to take the lead role in the initiative 


and applies for a multistate conservation 


grant to develop and begin implementa-


tion of the plan. 


3 The National Fish and Wildlife 


Foundation and private partners, such as 


Bass Pro Shops, pledge funds and  


align grant-making in support of the  


National Fish Habitat Action Plan to 


ensure that the plan’s conservation  


priorities and innovative approaches 


result in on-the-ground actions.


3 The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service con-


venes a Federal Caucus comprised of 


major federal agencies to coordinate  


federal efforts to develop and implement 


the plan.


3 Beginning in 2004, the Sport Fishing  


and Boating Partnership Council works 


with a variety of industry, conservation 


and agricultural groups to expand a  


partnership coalition dedicated to  


helping develop and ensure the success  


of the plan.


Management Plan. Since its creation in 


1986, the waterfowl plan successfully has 


forged partnerships and invested more 


than $3.2 billion to protect, restore and 


enhance more than 13.1 million acres of 


waterfowl habitat.


By 2004, after a series of meetings around 


the country, fisheries professionals and 


stakeholders were discussing a partner-


ship-driven, non-regulatory, science-based, 


landscape-scale fish habitat conservation 


effort. Hundreds of individuals from the 


fisheries management community, conser-


vation organizations and angling groups 


M
A


R
K


 L
IS


A
C


/U
S


F
W


S







N AT I O N A L  F I S H  H A B I TAT  A C T I O N  P L A N     [ 19 ]


www.fishhabitat.org


3 A website, www.fishhabitat.org ,  


provides a communication link between 


plan working groups and a growing  


list of partners and stakeholders,  


which currently numbers more than  


250 organizations.


3 In 2005, the United States Geological 


Survey provides $100,000 to fund fish 


habitat data collection efforts at the 


IAFWA.


3 In 2005, five Multistate Conservation 


Grants are awarded to fund about  


$1.8 million for on-the-ground projects 


and continue development of the plan. 


3 In 2005, IAFWA initiates the National 


Fish Habitat Initiative Project with  


multistate grant funds. The National 


Fish Habitat Initiative Core Work Group 


and supporting teams are created and 


charged with leading development of  


an action plan by March 2006. 


3  Congress appropriates $1 million in FY 


2006 to the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 


for five recognized pilot partnerships to 


implement fish habitat initiative projects 


and to further develop the plan. The five  


recognized pilot fish habitat partner-


ships are: Southeast Aquatic Resources 


Plan, Eastern Brook Trout Joint Venture, 


Western Native Trout Initiative, Midwest 


Driftless Area Restoration Effort, and 


Matanuska Susitna Basin Salmon 


Conservation Partnership.


3 The Bush Administration requests  


$3 million for the National Fish Habitat 


Action Plan in the President’s formal 


budget proposal to Congress for Fiscal 


Year 2007 to support fish habitat  


partnerships envisioned under the plan.


D
A


V
E


 W
IT


T
IN


G


3 Plan approved for implementation by the 


Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies 


on March 24, 2006.


3 Plan endorsed by the secretaries of 


Commerce and Interior along with 


Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies 


leadership on April 24, 2006.







[ 20 ]    N AT I O N A L  F I S H  H A B I TAT  A C T I O N  P L A N


www.fishhabitat.org


3 The riparian zone protects aquatic systems from many impairments and when altered often result in lower fish  


and aquatic production.


Exhibit 3: Science & Data Strategy


3 Riparian zone alteration that is the 


amount of land adjacent to our waters no 


longer intact or in a natural state 3. 


3 Water quality alteration that is the change 


in key water quality parameters from  


system norms that result in reduced 


aquatic productivity. These are all  


process-level factors that are the  


underpinning of most of the fisheries and 


habitat problems we see today but are and 


have been unable to address by just treat-


ing local habitat conditions.


The plan will use an integrated landscape 


approach that will allow appropriate link-


ages to occur between upland and marine 


systems. Thus, what happens upstream 


in connected systems will affect down-


stream systems to the sea. To facilitate 


this approach, a map-based interactive 


data system will be built using web-based 


Geographic Information System (GIS)  


technology so any partner can see what the 


current status of their local waters is, what 


is impairing their local waters, possible 


approaches to improve their waters, who 


has similar restoration approaches so they 


can learn from them, and to learn how their 


waters are changing in response to activities 


of the plan.


To properly determine the condition of the 


nation’s waters, all waters will be classified 


into similar groups based on published 


landscape classification systems from The 


Nature Conservancy (TNC) and the Aquatic 


GAP Programs for upland systems and from 


the National Oceanic and Atmospheric 


Administration, TNC and NatureServe for 


The science and data strategy is built on 


four associated activities conducted  


cooperatively with partners: 


1.  Identify causative factors for declining 


fish populations in aquatic systems. 


2. Utilize an integrated landscape approach 


that includes the upstream/downstream 


linkages of large-scale habitat condition 


factors. 


3. Assess and classify the nation’s  


fish habitats. 


4. Provide partners easy access to  


science and data information. 


The plan will assist all partners in under-


standing the causative factors behind the 


decline in fish and aquatic resources  


in both freshwater and marine systems.  


It will work with partners to focus on  


process-level issues and work to reverse the 


decline in fisheries and aquatic resources  


by directly addressing controlling factors. 


The key larger-scale causative agents that 


will be included are: 


3 Connectivity of habitats that can be 


thought of as whether fish can reach all 


of the habitats they need to complete 


their life cycle and maximize their  


production. 


3 Hydrologic alteration that refers to how 


the annual and daily flow cycles that 


many aquatic organisms key in on and 


need to maximize production have been 


changed by our actions. 


3 Direct habitat alteration that examines 


the amount of aquatic habitat that has 


been physically changed on a large scale 


by our actions. 







N AT I O N A L  F I S H  H A B I TAT  A C T I O N  P L A N     [ 21 ]


www.fishhabitat.org


marine systems. All waters will be assessed 


with respect to their habitat condition 


using a suite of factors that address the 


process-level factors described above along 


with some of the biotic indicators of eco-


system stress. Waters within a particular 


group will be compared on a  


100-point scale with the best possible score 


in their classified group and to the best  


current waters in their group so all waters 


have a target for our partners to achieve. 


All of the factors will have direct linkages to 


rehabilitation measures so improvements 


from plan project activities should change 


the score of the system.  


This method will allow for: 


3 The direct and rapid assessment of the 


condition of the nation’s waters. 


3 The evaluation of plan project success 


using a standardized approach. 


3 The ability to compare and learn from 


activities of others on similar systems 


within their classified group. 


3 The ability to integrate data from all 


levels into one information system. The 


plan will provide a mechanism to clas-


sify all waters and grade all waters with 


respect to their condition, insights into 


how to change the trajectory of their 


scores, provide options to address key 


factors, and provide methods and mecha-


nisms to properly evaluate their projects 


along with summing these evaluations 


nationally as a scoring of the effectiveness 


of the plan as a whole. 


One key component of the plan’s data 


system will be to provide our partners 


ready access to existing conservation and 


habitat priorities. Information on exist-


ing priorities can help guide partners in 


designing projects. Examples are found in 


the State Comprehensive Wildlife Action 


Plans, State Fisheries Management Plans, 


Marine Fisheries Council Plans, Watershed 


Assessments and TNC Conservation Plans, 


to name a few. Much of this information  


is currently unavailable to our partners, 


thus integrating these priorities into a  


GIS system will allow partners access to  


this information along with their source  


materials. Plan partners can then  


consider existing priorities as they design 


their partnership action plans and associ-


ated projects, which will increase the  


timeliness and effectiveness of their efforts. 


Ensuring successful implementation of the 


plan’s science and data system will require  


a detailed structural system design and 


computer system requirements. The data 


system is currently being designed to  


integrate distributed information and data 


systems into a single accessible gateway of 


National Fish Habitat Action Plan informa-


tion, such as the state of fish habitat report, 


tracking of individual plan projects, access 


to conservation priorities and information 


about current habitat restoration projects.  
U


S
F


W
S


D
A


V
E


 C
R


O
S


S







[ 22 ]    N AT I O N A L  F I S H  H A B I TAT  A C T I O N  P L A N


www.fishhabitat.org


Exhibit 4: Strategies & Resources of Federal Agencies


BACKGROUND


The National Fish Habitat Action Plan 


addresses cooperative conservation of the 


nation’s fish and aquatic communities and 


the habitat that supports them. Many fed-


eral agencies have direct or indirect respon-


sibilities for aquatic habitat conservation. 


These agencies have diverse missions and 


stakeholders. Conservation is not a primary 


goal of all agencies with a role in the plan; 


however, the benefits of effective conserva-


tion contribute to the needs of each agency 


and the American public they serve. 


3 Provide communication links among  


federal agencies cooperating under  


the plan.


3 Serve as a conduit for information flow 


between federal partners, the National 


Fish Habitat Board, and other partners 


implementing the plan.


The Federal Caucus also provided a  


means for federal partners to offer input  


to the Core Work Group as the plan  


was drafted.


FEDERAL CAUCUS MEMBERSHIP


Since its inception, interest among Federal 


Caucus agencies in the plan has been high. 


Agencies have contributed ideas for making 


aquatic habitat conservation more effective, 


and some have committed on-the-ground 


resources. The following agencies have  


participated, and others may join the  


caucus as it develops. 


American Heritage Rivers Initiative


Bureau of Land Management


Bureau of Reclamation


Coastal America


Department of Defense


Department of Housing and  
Urban Development


Environmental Protection Agency


Farm Service Agency


Federal Emergency Management Agency


Federal Highway Administration


National Oceanic and Atmospheric 
Administration


National Park Service


National Science Foundation


Natural Resources Conservation Service


Office of Surface Mining


U.S. Army Corps of Engineers


U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (chair)


U.S. Geological Survey


U.S. Forest Service


Coordination among agencies to achieve 


common goals is a challenging task.  


To facilitate interactions among federal  


agencies and with other partners,  


the Federal Caucus was created to: 


3 Provide a mechanism through which  


federal partners can jointly identify  


strategies and resources to support  


the plan.


3 Ensure that the plan provides  


benefits to all agencies involved. 


U
S


F
W


S







N AT I O N A L  F I S H  H A B I TAT  A C T I O N  P L A N     [ 23 ]


www.fishhabitat.org


STRATEGIES & RESOURCES 


Federal Caucus participants will continue 


to jointly identify opportunities to contrib-


ute to the goals of the plan. Table 1 identi-


fies strategies and resources that agencies 


may commit. These do not necessarily 


represent new strategies or commitment 


of resources. Agency actions may already 


be contributing to aquatic habitat conser-


vation; however, the Federal Caucus will 


seek ways to share common strategies and 


resources for maximum efficiency  


and effectiveness.


Contributions have been divided into sev-


eral categories, listed below with examples. 


Funding (Actual / Encourage 


Leveraging): An agency’s ability to provide 


financial support to projects that contrib-


ute to meeting the goals of the plan. It 


also includes an agency’s ability to provide 


   Table 1: Strategies and Resources Contributed by Federal Agencies to the National Fish Habitat Action Plan 
 
    Encourage
    local  Committee    
 Funding   participation/  Monitoring participation Incorporate  Conduct
 (Actual/ Data-sharing/  Identify of pilot  (in addition into internal  projects on
 Encourage data base  partners projects/ to Federal strategic Technical federal


Agency leveraging) development Education (non-federal) In-situ help Caucus) planning  expertise lands


American Heritage Rivers Initiative 3  3 3    3


Bureau of Land Management 3 3   3 3 3 3 3 3


Coastal America 3   3 3          


Department of Defense 3 3     3 3   3 3


Department of Housing and Urban Development     3 3          


Environmental Protection Agency 3 3   3       3  


Farm Service Agency       3       3  


Federal Emergency Management Agency   3 3 3          


Federal Highway Administration 3   3 3       3  


National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3  


National Park Service   3 3 3 3     3 3


National Science Foundation   3   3 3 3   3  


Office of Surface Mining 3   3 3 3     3  


U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 3 3   3      3  


U.S. Bureau of Reclamation       3 3     3  


U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3  3


U.S. Forest Service   3 3  3 3 3 3 3 3


U.S. Geological Survey 3 3   3   3   3


USDA Natural Resources Conservation Service 3   3 3 3   3 3  


funds to partners that are matched  


or leveraged. Under leveraging, stakehold-


ers agree to match a percentage of funds 


received, either in direct financial resources 


or in-kind services. 


3 Example: The U.S. Fish and Wildlife 


Service was appropriated $1 million in 


FY06 to conduct and support activities 


under the National Fish Habitat Action 


Plan. The funding will help establish the 


National Fish Habitat Board and conduct 


on-the-ground activities through Fish 


Habitat Partnerships.


3 Example: The National Oceanic and 


Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) 


Restoration Center has existing programs 


that fund fish habitat projects, and these 


programs can be expected to fund  


projects under the identified by  


Fish Habitat Partnerships.


D
A


V
E


 C
R


O
S


S



Rectangle









[ 24 ]    N AT I O N A L  F I S H  H A B I TAT  A C T I O N  P L A N


www.fishhabitat.org


Data Sharing / Data Base Development: 


Agencies agree to share data they collect, 


where applicable and appropriate, relevant 


to assessing habitat conditions and out-


comes of projects. Such data may be linked 


or combined in an integrated data base. 


Agencies may also contribute information 


technology expertise to build or integrate 


data bases. 


3 Example: The U.S. Geological Survey is a 


leader in the effort to establish a unified 


national data base for aquatic habitat  


conservation.


3 The Environmental Protection Agency 


maintains a number of data bases related 


to water quality, a key component of 


aquatic habitat health. 


Education: Agencies will contribute to 


the development of materials for students, 


stakeholders and the general public to raise 


awareness of the values of aquatic habitat 


and the plan. Materials may include class-


room lesson plans, presentations, websites, 


and other instructional items.


3 Example: NOAA publishes numerous 


outreach and education documents  


about the importance of fish and  


aquatic habitats.


3 Example: Coastal America will encourage 


Coastal Ecosystem Learning Centers to 


share the plan message and themes.


Encourage local participation / Identify 


partners (non-federal): Federal agencies 


will help identify partners who can bring 


ideas and capabilities to implementing the 


plan and encourage them to become active 


in its implementation.


3 Example: The USDA Natural Resources 


Conservation Service has identified con-


tacts in the agricultural community who 


could become valuable partners in imple-


menting the plan.


3 Example: The Federal Highway 


Administration will help state depart-


ments of transportation protect aquatic 


habitat through technical information 


and assistance.


Monitoring of pilot projects / in-situ help: 


Federal agencies with field capabilities will 


consider participating in on-the-ground 


monitoring and evaluation of Fish Habitat 


Partnership projects.


3 Example: U.S. Forest Service has provided 


leadership and staff for the range-wide 


assessment of brook trout and is working 


on field projects in support of the Eastern 


Brook Trout Joint Venture.


U
S


F
W


S







N AT I O N A L  F I S H  H A B I TAT  A C T I O N  P L A N     [ 25 ]


www.fishhabitat.org


Committee participation: Federal agency 


staff agrees to serve on other plan teams in 


addition to the Federal Caucus.


3 Example: The U.S. Geological Survey 


chairs the Data Team, which has been 


critical in identifying opportunities  


to integrate data bases to assist with 


implementation of the plan.


Incorporate into strategic planning: 


Federal agencies will consider incorporat-


ing the goals and objectives of the plan,  


not necessarily by name, into their  


strategic plans.


3 Example: The National Fish Habitat 


Action Plan arose, in part, as one means 


through which the U.S. Fish and Wildlife 


Service can address aquatic habitat  


conservation and management in its  


strategic plan.


3 Example: The mission of the National 


Fish Habitat Action Plan is reflected in 


the Strategic Plan of the NOAA  


Fisheries Service. 


Technical expertise: Federal agencies con-


sider committing staff resources to develop-


ing processes to effectively implement the 


plan. Such activities include, but are not 


limited to, working with project partners 


to identify best management practices and 


techniques for aquatic habitat conservation, 


conducting research needed to reach  


plan goals, and analyzing data to evaluate 


project success.


3 Example: The Office of Surface Mining 


will contribute its knowledge to develop-


ing projects with partners to effectively 


address acid mine drainage.


3 Example: The U.S. Army Corps of 


Engineers will contribute its design and 


construction expertise to rebuilding 


aquatic habitats.


Conduct projects on federal lands: To 


the extent possible, federal agencies will 


support projects conducted under the Fish 


Habitat Partnerships that need to be carried 


out on federally administered lands.


3 Example: The Bureau of Land 


Management’s 264 million-acre land  


base includes a considerable amount  


of impaired fish habitat. The agency  


will work with plan partners to imple-


ment fish habitat restoration projects  


on its lands.







Exhibit 5: National Fish Habitat Action Plan Leadership, Support & Report Authorship


EXECUTIVE LEADERSHIP TEAM 


John Baughman, Executive Vice 
President, Association of Fish and 
Wildlife Agencies


John Cooper, President, 
Association of Fish and Wildlife 
Agencies/Secretary, South Dakota 
Game, Fish and Parks Department


Dale Hall, Director,  
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service


Bill Hogarth, Assistant 
Administrator, National 
Oceanographic and Atmospheric 
Administration Fisheries Service


CORE WORK GROUP


Doug Austen, Chair, Pennsylvania 
Fish and Boat Commission 


Douglas Beard,  
U.S. Geological Survey 


Don Bonneau, Iowa Department  
of Natural Resources


Tom Busiahn, U.S. Fish and  
Wildlife Service 


Christopher Estes, Alaska 
Department of Fish and Game  
(Core Group National Coordinator) 


Jim Martin, Pure Fishing


Stan Moberly, American  
Fisheries Society


Laury Parramore, U.S. Fish  
and Wildlife Service


Bill Reeves, Tennessee Wildlife 
Resources Agency


Jeff Rester, Gulf States Marine 
Fisheries Commission


Larry Riley, Arizona Game and  
Fish Department


Gordon Robertson, American 
Sportfishing Association


Mark P. Smith,  
The Nature Conservancy


Susan-Marie Stedman,  
NOAA Fisheries Service 


Mike Stone, Wyoming Game  
and Fish Department


Norm Stucky, Bass Pro Shops


William Taylor*, Michigan  
State University


Krystyna Wolniakowski**, National 
Fish and Wildlife Foundation


Gary Whelan, Michigan Department 
of Natural Resources 


Core Work Group Support  
Provided By:


Eric Schwaab, Association of Fish 
and Wildlife Agencies (Action Plan 
AFWA Coordinator)


Andy Loftus, Loftus Consulting


Dave Case and staff,  
DJ Case and Associates


Whitney Tilt, Sonoran Institute


*Alternate: Doug Hobbs,  
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 


**Alternates: Greg Watson,  
MariLou Livingood and Liz 
Madison, National Fish and Wildlife 
Foundation


ACTION PLAN  
CONTRIBUTING AUTHORS


Doug Austen, Pennsylvania  
Fish and Boat Commission 


Douglas Beard,  
U.S. Geological Survey


Hannibal Bolton, U.S. Fish and  
Wildlife Service 


Don Bonneau, Iowa Department  
of Natural Resources


Tom Busiahn, U.S. Fish and  
Wildlife Service 


Christopher Estes, Alaska 
Department of Fish and Game


Jason Goldberg, U.S. Fish and 
Wildlife Service


Brian Gratwicke, National Fish  
and Wildlife Foundation 


Doug Hobbs, U.S. Fish and  
Wildlife Service


Andy Loftus, Loftus Consulting


Jim Martin, Pure Fishing


Phil Million, U.S. Fish and  
Wildlife Service


Stan Moberly, American  
Fisheries Society


Laury Parramore, U.S. Fish and 
Wildlife Service 


Bill Reeves, Tennessee Wildlife 
Resources Agency


Jeff Rester, Gulf States Marine 
Fisheries Commission


Larry Riley, Arizona Game and  
Fish Department


Gordon Robertson, American  
Sportfishing Association


[ 26 ]    N AT I O N A L  F I S H  H A B I TAT  A C T I O N  P L A N


Eric Schwaab, Association of  
Fish and Wildlife Agencies 


Mark P. Smith, The Nature 
Conservancy


Susan-Marie Stedman,  
NOAA Fisheries Service 


Mike Stone, Wyoming Game  
and Fish Department


Norm Stucky, Bass Pro Shops


William Taylor, Michigan State 
University 


Krystyna Wolniakowski, National 
Fish and Wildlife Foundation 


Gary Whelan, Michigan Department 
of Natural Resources 


Whitney Tilt, Sonoran Institute


COMMUNICATIONS TEAM 


Laury Parramore, Chair,  
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service


Beth Beard, American  
Fisheries Society


Hannibal Bolton, U.S. Fish and  
Wildlife Service 


Rachel Brittin, Association of  
Fish and Wildlife Agencies


Dave Case, D.J. Case and Associates


Bob Clarke, U.S. Fish and  
Wildlife Service


Forbes Darby, NOAA  
Fisheries Service


Cindy Delaney, Delaney  
Meeting and Event Management


Kirk Gillis, Recreational Boating  
and Fishing Foundation


Doug Hobbs, U.S. Fish  
and Wildlife Service


Stephanie Hunt, NOAA  
Fisheries Service


Jason Goldberg, U.S. Fish and 
Wildlife Service


MariLou Livingood, National  
Fish and Wildlife Foundation


Phil Million, U.S. Fish and  
Wildlife Service


Laura Nelson, National Fish and 
Wildlife Foundation


Patrick O’Rourke, American  
Sportfishing Association


Robert Ramsay, American Fly 
Fishing Trade Association


Eric Schwaab, Association of Fish 
and Wildlife Agencies


Janet Tennyson, Private Contractor


Larry Whiteley, Bass Pro Shops


Mary Jane Williamson, American  
Sportfishing Association


Joshua Winchell, U.S. Fish and 
Wildlife Service


Tim Zink, Theodore Roosevelt  
Conservation Partnership


DATA TEAM


Douglas Beard, Chair,  
U.S. Geological Survey


Stan Allen, Pacific States  
Marine Fisheries Commission


Charles Bronte, U.S. Fish and 
Wildlife Service


Christopher Estes,  
Alaska Department of Fish  
and Game


Margarete Heber,  
Environmental Protection Agency


Jeff Kopaska, Iowa Department  
of Natural Resources


Andy Loftus, Loftus Consulting


Kevin Madley, Florida Fish and 
Wildlife Conservation Commission


Dirk Miller, Wyoming Game  
and Fish Department


Betsy Nightingale,  
The Nature Conservancy


Andrea Ostroff, Association of  
Fish and Wildlife Agencies 


Ryan Smith,  
The Nature Conservancy


Jeff Waldon, Conservation 
Management Institute,  
Virginia Tech


Gary Whelan, Michigan  
Department of Natural Resources


Pace Wilber, National Oceanic and 
Atmospheric Administration 


DEVELOPMENT TEAM 


Krystyna Wolniakowski, 
Chair, National Fish and Wildlife 
Foundation


MariLou Livingood, National Fish 
and Wildlife Foundation


Liz Madison, National Fish and 
Wildlife Foundation



Click here to view the National Fish Habitat PlanLeadership Structure



http://www.fishhabitat.org/about/leadership.htm





N AT I O N A L  F I S H  H A B I TAT  A C T I O N  P L A N     [ 27 ]


SCIENCE TEAM 


Gary Whelan, Chair, Michigan 
Department of Natural Resources


Douglas Beard,  
U.S. Geological Survey 


Hal Beecher, Washington 
Department of Game and Fish


Zachary Bowen,  
U.S. Geological Survey


Mark Brouder,  
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service


Christopher Estes, Alaska 
Department of Fish and Game


Perry Gayaldo, NOAA 


Brian Gratwicke, National Fish  
and Wildlife Foundation


Jonathan Higgins,  
The Nature Conservancy


James McKenna Jr.,  
U.S. Geological Survey 


Douglas Norton, U.S. Environmental 
Protection Agency


Andrea Ostroff, Association of Fish 
and Wildlife Agencies 


Craig Paukert, U.S. Geological 
Survey/Kansas Cooperative Fish & 
Wildlife Research Unit


Mark Peterson, University of 
Southern Mississippi


Paul Seelbach, Michigan 
Department of Natural Resources


WRITING TEAM


Norm Stucky, Chair, Bass Pro Shops


Doug Austen, Pennsylvania Fish and 
Boat Commission 


Tom Busiahn, U.S. Fish and  
Wildlife Service 


Christopher Estes, Alaska 
Department of Fish and Game 


Brian Gratwicke, National Fish and  
Wildlife Foundation 


Doug Hobbs, U.S. Fish and  
Wildlife Service


Andy Loftus, Loftus Consulting


Phil Million, U.S. Fish and  
Wildlife Service


Stan Moberly, American  
Fisheries Society


Laury Parramore, U.S. Fish  
and Wildlife Service 


Eric Schwaab, Association of  


Fish and Wildlife Agencies 


Mark P. Smith, The Nature 
Conservancy


Susan-Marie Stedman,  
NOAA Fisheries 


Mike Stone, Wyoming Game and 
Fish Department


Whitney Tilt, Sonoran Institute


FEDERAL CAUCUS 


(See page 22)


PARTNER COALITION


William Taylor, Chair, Sport Fishing 
and Boating Partnership Council/
Michigan State University 


Doug Hobbs, Sport Fishing and  
Boating Partnership Council/ 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service


AFWA FISHERIES AND 
WATER RESOURCES POLICY 
COMMITTEE


Doug Hansen, Chair, SD GFPD


Kelly Hepler, Vice Chair, AK DFG 


Dave Allen, OR-USFWS 


Mike Armstrong, AR GFC


Doug Austen, PA FBC 


Noreen Clough, AL, BASS 


Gordon C. Colvin, NYSDEC 


Mike Conlin, IL DNR 


Stan Cook, AL DWFF 


Chuck Coomer, GA WRD 


Dave Cross, DC, USFS 


Ron Dent, MO, DOC 


Walt Donaldson, UT, DWR 


Steve Eder, MO, DOC 


Christopher Estes, AK DFG 


Carol Forthman, VA, ASA 


Mike Gibson, AR GFC 


Ken Haddad, FL, FWCC 


Bruce Hawkinson, MN, ASSOC 


Chris Hunter, MT DFWP 


Gary Isbell, OH DOW 


William James, IN, DNR 


Robin Knox, CO, DOW 


Jarrad Kosa, DC, BLM 


Johanna Laderman, VA, FAF 


Anne Lange, MD, NOAA-F 


Wayne Laroche, VT DFW 


Cindy Loeffler, TX PWD 


Ronald R. Lukens, MS, GSMFC 


Catherine Martin, DE DFW 


Bruce Matthews, VA, RBFF 


Stan Moberly, WA, NMTI 


Virgil Moore, ID DFG 


Gary T. Myers, TN WRA 


Kirk Nelson, NE GPC 


Doug Nygren, KS PWD 


Mamie Parker, DC, USFWS 


Ron Payer, MN DNR 


Ray Petering, OH DOW 


Bill Provine, TX PWD 


Bill Reeves, TN WRA 


Larry Riley, AZ GFD 


Gordon Robertson, VA, ASA 


Rudy Rosen, CA, DU 


Larry B. Simpson, MS, GSMFC 


Michael Sloane, NM GFD 


Kelley Smith, MI DNR 


Mike Staggs, WI DNR 


Doug Stang, NYSDEC 


Susan-Marie Stedman, MD, NOAA,  
Fisheries Service 


Mike Stone, WY GFD 


Jim Tilmant, CO, NPS 


Ollie Torgerson, WI, MAFWA 


Rod Wentworth, VT DFW 


Gary Whelan, MI DNR


Eric Schwaab,  
Committee Staff Contact 


U
S


F
W


S



Click here to view the National Fish Habitat PlanLeadership Structure



http://www.fishhabitat.org/about/leadership.htm





www.fishhabitat.org


c/o Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies


444 North Capitol Street, Suite 725


Washington, D.C. 20001


202/624 7890      fishhabitat.org


April 24, 2006





		Front Cover

		Introductory Letter

		A Case for Action

		A Strong Partnership Based on Experience

		Mission, Goals & Objectives

		National Fish Habitat Board Diagram

		Science & Data Strategy

		Implementation Strategy

		Fish Habitat Partnerships

		Governance

		Exhibit 1: Sample of Partners Coalition Members

		Exhibit 2: National Fish Habitat Action Plan Milestones

		Exhibit 3: Science & Data Strategy

		Exhibit 4: Strategies & Resources of Federal Agencies

		Exhibit 5: Leadership, Support & Report Authorship

		Case Study: Blackfoot River Recovery

		Case Study: Restoring Bahia Grande

		Case Study: Southeast Aquatic Resources Partnership

		Case Study: Eastern Brook Trout Joint Venture







